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STRUCTURE AND STRESS: SOCIAL CHANGE AMONG THE
FORT SILL APACHE AND THEIR ANCESTCRS,

1870 - 1960
INTRCDUCTION
Basic Aims

The basic aims of this study are as follow:

(1) To discover the process by which the soecial structure of
the Fort Sill Apache has eveclved.

(2) To discover and account for the changes in the scecial
structures of their ancestors--the Chiricahua, Warm Spring
and Bedonkohe Apache--which may have produced the soecial
structure of the Fort Sill Apache.

(3) To discover the extent to which these changes and the social
structure of the Fort Sill Apache are the result of stress
in the contact between Americans and the Chiricahua, Warm
Spring, Bedonkohe, and Fort Sill Apache.

The first aim was suggested by the comments of the author's
informants concerning the present relations between kinsmen. They felt
that the traditional kinship behavior observed by their ancestors--the
Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkohe Apache--had been modified to the

point of no longer being functicnal. They asserted, with one accord,
‘ 1
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that they felt themselves to be an "independent" people, in the sense
that mutual aid can no longer be expected of collateral kinsmen and that
the nuclear family is now the focus of their soecial 1life. What they
wished to know was whether their interpretations of their social structure
were correct, and if so, hew its divergence from the aboriginal social
struetures of the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkche Apache can be
accounted for., These are precisely the questions the author hopes %o
answer in this study.

The second aim alsoc deserves some explanation., In 1836, prac-
tically all of the members of the Chiricshva, Warm Spring, and Bedcnkche
Apache tribes were removed from the White Mountain Reservation (the pres-
ent Fort Apache and San Carlos Apache Reservaticas), Arizona, and impris-
cned for tweanly-seven years in Florida, Alabama, and (klahoma. In 1912,
the Apache prisoners of war at Fort Sill, Oklahoma, were given the choice
of being relocated on the Mescalero Apache Reservation, New Mexico, or
settling upon allotments in Cklahoma. COne hundred and eighty-cne of them
eleeted to be removed to the Mescalero Reservation. This group refer to
themselves as "Chiricahua Apache,” in spite of what their true tribal
origins may be. The Fort 8ill Apache are the descendants of the eighty-
one former Apache prigoners of war who remained in Oklahoma.l

Cultural stress, referred to in the statement of the third aim,

is defined by John J. Honigmann as follows:

lSee Benedick Jozhe, "A Brief History of the Fort Sill Apache
Tribe," The Chronicles of Cklshoma, XXXIX, No. 4 (Winter, 1961-1962),
427 and 432; and Appendix I of this study.
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When two or more ways of life come into contact a profussion
of stress will very likely be encountered. Culture contact occurs
wherever people who have been socialized in one tradition interact
with representatives of a different way of life. . . .

Often what happens in culture contact is this: an invading
group fails to understand the values and expectations of its
hosts. Demands are made on the hosts for which the latter lack
established patterns of response., The foreigner's behavior appears
strange and nearly wholly incomprehensible. Tension piles up on
both sides of the relationship. . . . Pursuing imitation at the
expense of the standardized behavior patterns may engender social
and perscnal conflict.?

The author will concentrate on the following categories of the
social structures of the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, Bedonkoche, and Fort
8111 Apache: (1) kinship behavior, (2) marriage regulations, (3) the
maturation process, (4) the treatment of deceased relatives, (5) sub-
sistence and econcmic organization, and (6) pclitical organization. The
aboriginal social structures of the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedon-
koche are discussed in the second and third chapters. The changes in
these social structures during American contact, until 1913, are dis-

cussed in Chapters IV through VI. Chapter VIII contains a description

of the social structure of the Fort Sill Apache.

The Application of the Ethnchistorical

Methed in This Study

The author has used the ethnochistorical method throughout this

study. Among the current definitions of this method, the one felt to be

the most applicable was given by Charles A, Valentine in a discussion of

2John J. Honigmann, Culture and Personality (New York: Harper
and Brothers, Publishers, 1954), p. 413.
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its uses in studies of culture contact and acculturation:

The systematic exploitation of {sic, historical documents as a
resource], in conjunction with ethnographic investigation and

many other forms of field research found useful in dealing with a
particular problem, constitutes an ethnohistorical method. « +

the use of such an integrating method leads to a cultural-histerical
desceription which portrays the development of one or more ethnic
groups through time. Such a portrayal may be termed an ethnohistory.

As one contemporary writer on the uses of the ethnohistorical
method has pointed out, there are as yet no rules for the ethnchistorian
to use in analyzing historical documents . % However, Valentine offers
several suggestions which are pertinent to the scope of this study. He
says that "Most ethnchistorical treatments of acculturation deal with
rather long-term sequences extending well beyond the limits of living
memory." Frequently in such studies there is a certain lack of consis-
tency between the data taken from historical sources and those gleaned by
ethnographic methods. Under such conditions, the two types cf data are
not readily comparable or easily integrated.5

Valentine has suggested that--

OUn the contrary, short-term contact sequences within the compass

of living memory provide ideal conditions for adequate control of
data on the acculturation process as a whole without sacrificing

attention to the historical dimension of the problem. In dealing
with the problems sc defined, both ethnographic and historic

evidence bearing on all stages of the acculturation sequence ean
be meaningfully integrated. It is in such a context that

JCharles A. Valentine, "Uses of Ethnohistory in an Accultura-
tion Study," Ebthnohistory, VII, No. 1 (Winter, 1960), p. 2.

4Nancy Cestreich Lurie, "Ethnohistory: An Ethnological Point
of View," in "Symposium on the Concept of Ethnohistory," Ethnohistory,
VIII, no. 1 (Winbter, 1961), p. 83.

5Valantine, ope cilt., po 3.

>
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ethnohistory can make its greatest contribution to the analysis of
culture contact and acculturation.®

It is necessary, in this study, to deal with many events in the
contact between Americans and the Chiricshua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkohe
Apache which are found only in the historical scurces. These events were
not mentioned by the author's informants nor reported in any ethnographic
source dealing with the above three tribes. Where it is possible to do
so, the author will attempt to show the possible causc and effect of
these events by drawing upocn the ethnographic evidence which bears a re-
lationship to these events. These events will be recorded without com-
ment where this integration of the historicel and ethnographic evidence
is not possible.

The author has made no attempt to deal with American contact
with the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkohe before 1870 by the ethno-
historical method. A portion of the fourth chapter has been devoted to
a discussion of this contact, beginning with the earliest with each
tribe., However, this discussion is based on the evidence from the his-
torical sources along. The ethnchistorical method is used to discuss
those changes in the social structures of these tribes and their resis-
tance to change which occurred between 1370 and 1913. As there is little
documentary history of the Fort Sill Apache, the discussion of their
social structure in the seventh chapter is taken primarily from the

statements of the author's informants.

6Valentine, Ope citey, P 4
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The Use of Native Testimony

There are three sources of native testimony used in this study.
These are: (1) the statements of the author's informants, (2) the state-
ments of Chiricahua and Warm Spring informants contained in published
ethnographic sources, and (3) the statements of Chiricahua, Warm Spring,
and Bedonkohe informants contained in documentary, autogiographical, and
genealogical studies.

Where appropriate, the author has quoted hisg five informants,
changing nothing but the grammar they used.7 Any information they gave
which is felt to be either questionable or slandercus has been omitted.,
Where the informants included the names of individuals, these have been
shortened to the initial letter, except in cases where these persons have
been made well known in the documentary sources or their complete names
are needed to clarify the statements. This has been done to protect the
privacy of those Fort Sill Apache who may not wish theirvprivate lives,
or those of their relatives and ancestors, to be made public knowledge.
The names of the author's informents have been withheld, as their com-
ments on intertribal relations and their attitudes towards the Govern-
ment could, conceivably, subject them to ridicule.

Several of the documentary sources used in this study contain

ethnographic notes cbtained through native testimony. Rather than

7The author spent seven weeks during the summer of 1963 inter-
viewing four members of the Fort Sill Apache Tribe itho reside on their
allotments near Apache, Oklahoma. A fifth member of the tribe volun-
teered enough information to be congidered as a fifth informsnt. One
of the informants was born on the Hot Springs Reservation in 1875. The
other four were born during confinement in Alabama or at Fort Sill,
Oklahoma.
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requoting these informants, the author has given their statements in
straight deseriptive style. This rule has also been applied in using
the ethnographic and historical data contained in Geronimo's and Betzi-

g
nez's autobiographies.”

8Samuel M. Barrett (editor and recorder), Gercnimo's Story of
His Life (Oklahoma City: Harlow Publishing Corporation, 1932); and
Jason Betzinez with Wilbur Strutevant Nye, I Fought with Geronimo
(Harrisburg, Pennsylvania: The Stackpole Company, 1959). These are
both valuable historical and ethnographic sources but should be used
with caution, as both Geronimo and Betzinez were over seventy years old
when these books were written.




CHAPTER I

TRIBAL IDENTITY AND COMPOSITION: 1750-1860

The term "tribe," as used in this study, refers to an ethnie
group whose members shared a common identity and culture. As the reader
shall discover in a later chapter of this study, the Chiricahua appear to
have achieved a sense of tribal unity through the mutual exploitation of
band territories and the fact that the three northern bands of this tribe
recognized the authority of a common leader. The two bands of the Warm
Spring tribe were united with the Bedonkohe tribe in 1858 under the com-

1 Evidence will be given in later

mon leadership of Mangas Coloradas.
chapters that this tribal unity persisted, and that it was strengthened
through kinship ties resulting from intermarriage.

As will be shown in a later chapter, the limited distribution
of food resources in the territories of the Chiricahua and Warm Spring
forced these Apache to live in isolated local groups. Those local groups
living close enough to each other to form alliances for defense or aggres-

sion, and able to attend each other's soecial functions, formed loose con-

federations, or "bands." Consequently, territorial limits were recognized

1See Frank C. Lockwood, The Apache Indians (llew York: The
MacMillan Company, 1938), pp. 96=97. This is a valuable source on
Southwestern Apache history, but canbeused only for reference.

8
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only at the band level among these tribes. The term "band," as used in
this study, refers, then, to a political and territcrial subdivision of
the tribe. It will be shown later in this chapter that the Bedonkche were
apparently a separate and distinet ethnic group before the 1830's, but
affiliated politically with the Mimbreno band of the Warm Spring during

this decade.

Eroblems of Group Identification

Jozhe says that "The Fort 811l Apache Tribe are the descendents
of three Apache Tribes: the Warm Spring Apache Tribe, the Chiricahua
Apache Tribe and the Nednai Apache Tribe."2 These three groups have
usuglly been identified in the ethnological literature, since the appear-
ance of Morris Edward Opler's ethnography of Chirieahua aboriginal cul-
ture, as the "Eastern Chiricahua band," the "Central Chiricahua band,"
and the "Southern Chiricahua band," respectively.3 E. W. Gifford stands
alone in identifying the same three groups as bands of the Warm Spring
tribe.4 It is the author's opinion that neither Opler nor Gifford weighed
the group identifications given them by their informants against the evi-
dence contained in historical documents. Opler devoted only two pages of

his ethnography of Chiricahua culture to the history of the "bands" he

2Joghe, op. ite, pe 427

-
“Morris Edward Opler, An Apache Life-Way, the Economic, Social,
d Religious Institutions of the Chiricahua Indians (Chicage: The Uni-

versity of Chicago Press, 1941), pp. 1-2. This classification is origi-
nally Cpler's.

4E. We Gifford, "Culture Element Distributions: XII, Apache-
Pueblo," Anthropological Records, IV, No. 1 (Berkley: The University of
California Press, 1940), p. 4. It is shown below that Gifford alsc des-

ignated a "Huachuca Mountain Apache," who appear to have been a Chiricahua
band .
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designated, but did not mention any events before 1870.5 Gifford did not
mention any historical events before 1860. They are included only in the
explanatory notes appended to his culture element distribution list., It
is obvious that he included them for no other purpcse than to explain
the origin of the Warm Spring culture elements he notes. As the reader
shall discover in the following sections of this chapter, there is good
documentary material on the history of the Chiricahua and Warm Spring
for as far back as 1634. The author found no evidence in any of these
sources that they were regarded as bands of the same tribe. As will be
shown below, there is good evidence that the Nednai were a band of the
Chiricahua, though they did not exist before 1763.

There is evidence in an unpublished genealogical study of the
Fort Sill Apache that two of their original eighty-one members were
Bedonkohe Apache. It is shown in the same source that the Bedonkohe
were a separate and distinet tribe before the 1830's, but became affili-
ated with the Warm Spring during this decade and with the Chiricshua in
1861.6 Harry V. Basehart is the only ethnologist who mentions the Bedon-

kohe, though he admits some confusion as to their proper identity.7

5See Opler, op. cit., pp. 2 and 4.

“United States Army Artillery and Missile Center Museum, The
Fort Sill Apaches: Their Vital Statisties, Tribal Origins, Antecedents,
Fort 5111, Oklahoma, 1958-1962, unpublished., This study was conducted
by the staff of the museum as a project to mark the graves of those
Apache priscners of war who were buried on the Fort Sill Military Reser-
vation, Cklahoma, from 1894 to 1913, inclusive. This has been one of the
most valuable sources used in this study. The authors are hereafter
referred to as USAAMCM,

7Harry s Basehart, Chiricahus Apache Subsistence and Socio-
Political Organization, written with the assistance of Richard M.
Henderson. A report of the Mescalero-Chiricahua Land Claims Project,
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It is the author's purpose, here, to review the evidence from
the Spanish, Mexican, and American documents, as well as from all ethno=-
graphic sources, in an attempt to correctly identify and locate these
groups and their component bands from 1750 to 1360, Were this analysis
of the documentary sources extended back further than the year 1750, a
serious problem would be encountered., This is because the various names
given the Southwestern Apache in the Spanish documents befcre 1750 are
difficult, if not impossible, to correlate with the names for the same
Indians appearing in later sources. Those found in the Spanish documents
after this date are easily correlated with those appearing in the Mexican
and American documents after 1330, However, where it can be demonstrated
that the groups named in the earlier documents were the Chiricahua, Warm
Spring, or Bedonkohe, the evidence supporting such assumptions is included
in this chapter.

The author has made no attempt to identify the Chiricahua, Warm
Spring, and Bedonkche, or the component bands of the first two tribes,
from the evidence of their group: leaders before 1860.% This is because
many of the American documents of the 1850's contain a host of names of
group leaders who could not have all been band leaders, since the number
of leaders is not proportionate to the number of bands designated, How-
ever, thlis problem applies only to the Warm Spring and Bedonkche, As

the author believes that the majority of these leaders were what Opler

Contract Research No. 290-154 (Albuquerque: The University of New
Mexicé, March, 1959), Section II, p. 85,

2
“As the reader shall discover below, the Bedonkohe tribe did
not consist of bands before the 1830's,
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calls "lcecal group leaders," only those who appear to have possessed
authority over specified groups before 1260 will be noted in this chapter.9

The evidence of tribal identities and composition given in the
sections below is presented in the following order in each section: (l)
the evidence from native testimony, (2) the evidence from ethnographic
sources, and (3) the evidence from documentary sources. A commentary
and critique of Opler's and Gifford's identifications of the Chiricahua

and Warm Spring tribes is given in the final section.

The Chiricahua Apache Tribe

The Evidence from Jative Testimony. According tc one of the

author's informants, there were four bands of the Chiricaaua tribe: (1)
the /66k%andn/, (2) the /Pad YHda{/, (3) the /3137v4nd/, and (4) the
/vai 8héné/. Translations of these band names are given in Appendix II.

The /36ﬁ?énéh/ were said to have been located in the Dragoon
Mountains of scutheastern Arizcna., As will be shown below, it is prob-
able that their territory included the Chiricahua and Dos Cabezas Moun-
tains to the east as well.

There was scme disagreement among the informants concerning the
prover identity of the /Pd< Y"ddf/, or Nednai. Two informants stated
positively that they were a Chiricahua band, while two others identified
them as a separate tribe. It seems that the latter ldentifiecation is
due to the composition of the /Pd€ 1%da{/. Betzinez says that "They were
ocutlaws recruited from other bands, and included in their membership a

few Navajoes as well as Mexicans and whites who had been captured while

I3¢e Opler, ¢p. eit., pp. 463-464.
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children and who had grown up as savages."1o One informant reported that
this band was located partly in southeastern Arizona, northeastern Sonora,
and northwestern Chihuahua. This is the same territorial distribution
Opler gave for his "Southern Chiricahua band."11

While the /k4{-hhéné/ were not located by any of the informants,
one of them stated that the /337 ydnd/ were located in the northern part
of Chiricahua territory. This was apparently in either the Northern
Peloncillo or Pinalefio Mountains of southeastern Arizona. These locations
must be taken as being tentative, as there is no mention of this band in
the ethnographic sources on the Chiricahua,

The Evidence from Ethnographic Sources., Basehart'!s informants

gave the following locations as having been regular /géﬁ:?éhéh/ centers:
Apache Pass, the western foothills of the Chiricahua Mountains, the Dos
Cabezas Mountains, and the Dragoon Mountains. The Whitewater Baldy in
the Mogollon Mountains of New Mexico was their most important ceremonial
center., En route to it, this band camped in the vicinities of the pres-
ent Safford, Arizona, and Maple Peak, in Greenlee County, Arizona. They
also frequented the Chiricahua, Southern Paloncillo, Hatchet, and Florida
Mountains, and visited the /Mdd-1Pdd{/ band in the vicinity of Batepito,
Sonora, 12

The /ndé'lndéi/ centers were in the Sierra de la Madera; east

of Bavispe; at Batepito; along the eastern bank of the Yaqui River, from

108¢tzines with Nye, op. eit., pe 15,

Mopler, op. git., pe 3.

128asehart, ops ¢it., Section II, p. 84 and Maps 1 and 5,

—
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Teras to below OUputa; the Alamo Huecos and Animas Mountains of the lew
Mexico panhandle; and the vicinity of the present Duncan, Arizona, Fre-
quent visits were made to the Chiricahua Mountains and Apache Pass, where
they camped with the other Chiricahua bands. Warm Spring centers visited
by the /ndé'indé{/ included the Tres Hermanas and Florida Mountains and
the vicinity of the present Dusty, New Mexico.13

The /ké{'éhénéy are evidently Gifford's "Hauchuca Mountains
Apache,” or "Shaiahene'" band., Basehart shares this opinion, though one
of his informants who was of this band, was born near Apache Pass; had
helped gather agave in the vieinity of the Whitewater Baldy of the Mo-
gollon Mountains; and had camped with his band near the base of the
Sierra de la Madera in /2a&-Yndd{/ territory.l4

The Evidence from Documentary Sources. Jack Douglas Forbes has

positively identified the "Jocome" of the Spanish documents before 1750
1)
as the /55ﬁ7£hén/ band of the Chiricahua:

The identity of the Jocome with the Chiricahua Apache is definitely
established . . . by the fact that Jocome appears to be a Spanish
derivation from the Apache name of one of the Chiricahua bands, the
precise band that occupied the same territory assigned to the Jocome.
This group of Apache called themselves Cho-ko-nen or Cho-kon-e,

The Spanish commonly substituted the letters X, H and J for the
gutteral Indian CH and thus Chokone would have been rendered Hocone,
Xocone, or Jocone. K This corresponds closely with the Hispanic
Jacone and Jocome.

13Basehart, op., cit., Section II, p. 86 and Maps 1 and 5.
14Basehart, op. cit., p« 86, and Maps 1 and 5; and Gifford,
_O_Eu .C_-:'L__t.., p. 4.

1SJaak Douglas Forbes, "The Janos, Jocomes, Mansos and Sumas

Indians," New Mexico Historical Review, XXXII, No. 4 (October, 1957),
D 324.
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Apparently, the Chiricahua had a much more limited distribution
before 1763 than they did at the time of Mexican and American contact
during the 1850's. Basehart says that "The major differences are that
prior to 1763, the Pimas occupied the San Pedro valley, while before 1600,
[sic, 1700] Opata inhabited the region scuth of the Chiricshua Mbuntains."16

Edward H. Spicer notes that, as late as 1697, the OUpata occupied
the region along the Eastern Bavispe River, and depicts Upata territory
as extending eighteen miles north of Fronteras and just east of Bavispe
and Bacerac, Sonora, about 1750. This would imply that the /Paé-iM%adf/
were not in northeastern Sonora before the late eighteenth century, un-
less they occupied the region sbout San Bernadino and the Sierras Cabal-
leros and de San Luis.

Spicer says that prior to 1760 the San Pedro valley was occupied
by the Sobaipuris, an Upper "iua group. Apache raids on their settle-
ments finally forced the Sobaipuris to abandon it and retreat westward
in the early 1760's.17  While giving no references, Basehart says that
the rout of the Pima from the San Pedrc valley took place in 1763. After-
wards, ". . . the southern portion of the valley as far south as the
Huachuca Mountains became Chiricahua country."18 It is quite evident

that, if Basehart is correct, the /kéi'hhéné/ band were not in the Hua-

chuca Mountains before 1763.

168asehart, ope cit., Section I, pp. 22 and 24.

17Edward H. Spicer, Cycles of Conquest: The Impact of Spain,
Mexico, and the United States on the Indians of the Southwest, 1533-1960
(Tueson: The University of Arizona Press, 1962), P+ 235 and Map 7, p.
90 and pp. 233-239,

18Basehart, op. eit., Seetion I, pp. 25=36.

——e
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The /ndé'indéi/ were apparently well entrenched in northeastern
Sonora by the nineteenth century. Alexandre de Humbolt's "Map of the
Kingdom of New Spain," drawn in 1811, shows the "Apaches Chiricaguis" in
Sonora between Terrenate and San Bernadino, north of Fronteras, and ex-
tending northward into the Chiricahua Mountains.1

James H. Tevis, who was involved in the first American contact
with the Chiricahua, did not name any of their bands., He recognized
three of them, however, all located north of the international boundary
between the United States and the Republic of Mexico in southeastern Ari-
gona. The first, under the leadership of Cochise, consisted of seven
hundred warriors; the second, under Uld Jack, consisted of over five
hundred warriors; and the third, under Esconolea, numbered over three
hundred persons.

Tevis, was apparently unaware of the existence of the /ndézindéi/
band, He says that Chiricahua raiding parties left Apache Pass every
winter for the Sierra Madres of New Mexico and returned in the spring,
but he makes no mention of a regular occupation of these mountains.zo

While Cochise's and Esconolea's bands remained primarily at
Apache Pass, Tevis speaks of annual encampments in the Dragoon Mountains,

at Steins Peak in the Northern Peloneillo Mountains, and at Laguns de

17See Carl I. Wheat, Mapping the TransMississippi West:
1540-1361, Vol. I: Ihe Spanish Entrada to the Louisiana Purchase:
1540=1504 (San Francisco: The Institute of Historical Cartigraphy,
1957), facing p. 134.

2'JCap’c.ain James H. Tevis, Arizona in the '50's (Albuquerque:
The University i New Mexico Press, 1954), pp. 95-96, 98, and 100, This
is the first publication of the original manuscript completed in Sep=
tember, 1386,

e ————————
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Gizman. All of these areas except the last, which is in northern
Chihuahua, are well within the territory Opler assigned to his "Central
Chiricahua band,n”!

It is significant that Tevis'! memoirs do not contain one shred
of evidence that the Apache of southwestern New Mexico were a band of
Chiricahua. Opler has designated these Apache as the "Eastern Chirica-
hua band,"22 Tevis, on the other hand, speaks of the "Copper Mine Indians,"
under the leadership of Mangas Coloradas, and the "Mimbres Indians,” under
Elias, both inhabiting southwestern Hew Mexico. He mentions two councils
attended by these chiefs, Cochise, and Esconclea at Apache Pass in the
late 1350's. The second council was attended by the Coyoterc Apache under
Francisco and the Mescalero Apache under Chino as well. Both councils
were apparently the result of close pclitical ties between the Chiricshua,
Warm Spring, Coyoterc, and Mescalero, and were convened for the purpose
of deciding a common policy toward the Americans and planning a joint
raid into Navsho territory.23

The territorial distribution of the Chiricahua bands from 1700

to 1860 is depicted on Map 1, being based on the ethnographic and his-

torical evidence presented above.

“1bid., pp. 79, 106, and 125; and Opler, op. eib., pp. 2-3.

22Cpler, « eit., pp. 1=3.

23Tevis, op. ¢ib., pp.16, 138-142, and 165-166. Spicer, op.
cit., p. 256, identifies the Coyotero as the White Mountain and Cibecue
Apache. The "Copper Mine" and "Mimbres" Apache are undoubtedly the two
bands of the Warm Spring tribe.
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The Warm Spring Apache Tribe

The Evidence from Native Testimony. All of the author's

informants stated emphatically that the Warm Spring were a separate and
distinct tribe who referred to themselves as /gihén'ndéy , meaning
"red paint people." This name originated with the fact that the Warm
Spring used as a body paint a red clay obtained from a small knoll lo-
cated near the headwaters of the Alamosa River, a western tributary of
the Rio Grande. Betzinez used the name "Chihenne® as if it applied only
to the Warm Springs band.24 The authcor is inclined to accept the state-
ments of his informants, who all declared that there were no native names

for the bands of the Warm Spring tribe.

The Evidence from Ethnographic Scurces. O(ne of Basehart's

informants placed the Warm Spring east from the Pinos Altos to the Flor-
ida Mountains, ". . . thence to Elephant Butte end the Rio Grande as far
as Mesilla." To the north, their territory included the Mimbres, San
Mateo, and Magdalena Mountains and the Black Range. The Florida Moun-
tains and the regicn about the headwaters of the Alamosa River were gen-
erally regarded as having been their major centers. Migrations were made
from the latter center to the Whitewater Baldy where frequent contact and
intermarriage with the Chiricahua (and Bedonkohe) occurred. Other mi-
grations were made to the vicinities of Willcox, Safford, and Apache Pass,

Arizona., None of Basehart's informants gave any specific information on

24Betzinez with Nye, op. eit., pp. 2 and 9.
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Warm Spring utilization of the New Mexico panhandle; neither did the
authcr's.25

Betzinez does not recognize the existence of the Warm Spring
Apache tribe, but locates two bands who occupied southwestern lew Mexico,
the Warm Springs and Mimbrefio. He places the former in the Black Range,
and says that their principal chief before 1850 was Baishan, known to
the Mexicans and Americans as Cuchillo Negro. After his death at Ramos,
Chihuahua, he was succeeded by Tudeevia, known to the Mexicans and Amer-
icans as Delgadito., The Mimbreno band lived in the vicinities of Santa
Rita and Pincs Altog, New Mexico, and were under the leadership of Man-
gas Coloradas, whom Betzinez claims was never a leader of the Warm Springs
band.26 The latter statement is not entirely tr;e, as will be seen in
the next chapter.

Several informants regarded the headwaters of the Alamosa River
as the most important center of the Warm Springs band. Here, the valleys
between the Black Range and the San Mateo Mountains form four plains ex-
tending in the four cardinal directions. For this reason, the Warm Spring

called this area /ti:gd:tél/ , meaning "four broad plains.®

The Bvidence from Documentary Sources. The first mention of the

Apache of southwestern New Mexico by a Spanish chronicler was in 1628 by
Fray Alonso de Benavides. He called them the "Apache de Xila" and located

them sone hwonty-four miles west of the pueblo of San Antonic de Senecu,

25586 Basehart, op. eit., Section II, p. 84 and Maps 1 and 5.

26Betzinez with Nye, op. eit., pp. 2, 4, 8-9, and 43. Betzinesz
did not name Pinos Altos as a Mimbredo center, but this appears to be
one of the locations to which he referred.
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which was eleven miles south of the present Sccorro, New Mexico. From
this point--somewhere in the Magdalena Mountains--their territory extended
north for more than cne hundred and twenty miles to the frontier of the
Rio Grande Pueblos, and beyond to the territory of the Navaho. The entire
region was heavily populated with their encampmfsnts.27 The term "Apaches
de Gila" was used by the Spanish until the cessation of their colonial
rule in Mexico in 1813.

Using a scale of the statute miles on a current map of the State
of New Mexico, it appears that Benavides probably meant that the terri-
tory of the "Apaches de Xila," as it existed in 1623, extended north to
the Rio San Jose. Jecseph Antonio Rengel reperted, in 1785, that the
boundary between the territories of the Navaho and the "Gila Apaches®
was the "Rio de la Laguna," and that the heart of the latter's territory
was the "Sierra Azul." Alfred Barnaby Thomas has identified the "Ric de
la Laguna" as the present Ric San Jose and the "Sierra Azul" as ". . .
probably the present Datil Mountains."z3

In the next section of this chapter, it shall be seen that
Benavides and Rengel were probably referring to the territory of the
Bedonkohe Apache, not of the Warm Spring, except to a small degree. Cp-

ler's informants were the only ones who reported that the Warm Spring

Sry
“‘Frederick W. Hodge, George P, Hammond, and Agapito Rey (ed.
and trans.), Fray Alonso de Benavides! Memorial of 1634 (Albuquerque:

The University of New Mexico Press, 1945), pp. 82 and 85.

e

23\ 1ered Barnaby Thomas (translator, editor, and annctator),
Forgotten Frontiers: A Study of the Spanish Indisn Policy of Don Juan
Bautista de Anza, Governor of lNew Mexico, 1777-1787, from the Criginal
Documents in the Archivee of Spain, Mexico, and New Mexico (Norman: The
University of Cklahoma Press, 1932), pp. 259, 260, and 383,
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occupied the Datil Mountains.29 As stated above, the Magdalena Mountains
were in the extreme northeastern part of their territory. There is no
evidence in any of the ethnographic or documentary scurces surveyed that
the Warm Spring occupied any territory further north than these mountains,

Antonio Cordero, in his 1796 discourse on the Southwestern
Apache, named two groups that occupied what is now southwestern llew Mex-
ico: the "Gileho" and the "Mimbreflo." The former were located south of
the headwaters of the Gila River, between the "Chiricshuis" to their west
and the "Mimbreho" to their east, although a few of their encampments were
located near the present Janos, Chihuahua. Cordero distinguished between
two groups of the "Mimbrefio®: (1) the "upper," who had formerly lived
closest to llueva Vizecaya (the present Mexican State of Chihuahua), but
lived then in the presidios of Janos and Carrizal; and (2) the "lower,"
who lived closest to the Province of Nueva Mexico, presumably in the
Black Range.BO

These same groups were designated in the Mexican documents of
the 1830's as the "Mimbrefio" and "Warm Springs" Apache, apparently refer-

ring to Corderc's "Gileho" and "Mimbrelic" respectively. They were often

29 :
Opler, op. cite., P+ 2.

3ODaniel S. Matson and Albert H. Shroeder (ed.), "Cordero's
Description of the Apache--1796," New Mexico Historical Review, XXXII,
No. 4 (Cctober, 1957), pp. 351-353. This is a reproduction of a trans-
lation of Cordero's original manuscript, which bears the title "Year
1796--Notes about the Apache Hation composed in the Year 1796 by Lieu-
tenant Colonel Don Antonio Cordero at E1 Paso del Norte by Order of the
Commandant, General Field Marshal Don Pedro de Nava." It is found in a
volume of manuscripts entitled Historical Documents Concerning Durango,
which belongs to the collection of Licenciado Don Fernando Ramirez.
The text has been carefully annotated by these editors.
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allied in raids into northern Mexico, but were never considered one
people. Until 1837, the chief of the "Mimbrefio" was Juan Jose Campa.31

American observers of the Apache of southwestern New Mexico in
the 1850's referred to those inhabiting the region between the Rio Grande
and the San Francisco River as "Copper Mine Apaches" or "Gila Apaches."32
However, they were careful to distinguish between group leaders.

Michael Steck was appointed Indian Agent for the Apache inhabit-
ing the southern part of the Territory of New Mexico in 1855. 1In his
annual reports, he designated three bands who occupied the region between
the Rio Grande and the San Francisco River. These were: (1) the "Mogol-
lon," located in the Almagre and Mogollon Mountains; (2) "those of Mangas
Coloradas,” located in the Pinos Altos and Burros Mountains, and as far
south as the Sierras de San Luis and Caballeros; and (3) the "Mimbres,"
located between the Mimbres River and the Rio Grande as far north as the
San Mateo Mountains. He argued tﬂat these three bands constituted a single
tribe by virtue of a common territory, language, and culture, and the bonds

> |

of intermarriage.Bj It will be shown in the next section of this chapter

Ngee Ralph A. Smith, "Apache Plunder Trails Southward, 1331-
1340," New Mexico Historical Review, XXXVII, No. 1 (Jamuary, 1962), pp.
21-25. This article is based upon the Mexican documents of the pericd.
It contains many facts of Southwestern Apache history that cannot be
found elsewhere.

2R3ee John Russell Bartlett, Personal Narrative of Explorations
and Incidents in Texas, New Mexico, California, Sonora and Chihuahua
Connected with the United States and Mexican Roundary Commissicn, During
bhe Tears 1550, '51, '52, and '53, I (New York: D. Appleton and Co.,
1854), p. 323; and John Pope, Report of Exploration of a Route for the
Pacific Reilroad near the Thirty-second Parallel of Latitude, from the
Red River to the Rio Grande, Thirty-third Congress, First Session, House
Executive Documents, No. 129, XVIII, part II (Washington: A.0.P.
licholson, printer, 1955), p.19.

333ee the Report(e) of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
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that the "Mogollon" were probably the Bedonkohe Apache tribe.

The Bedonkohe Apache Tribe

The Evidence from Native Testimony. All of the author's

informants reported that the Bedonkohe were separate and distinct from
the Chiricahua and Warm Spring. Two of the informants reported that onec
other, who died during the period the author spent in the field, had been
of the opinion that the Bedonkoche were a small tribe who had nmigrated
from Mexico to Arizona, where they established themselves northeast of
the Chiricahua. However, the facts that the Bedonkohe lived in hide-
covered tipis and practiced flood-water farming suggest that their cul-
ture was much closer to that of the Warm Spring than it was to that of
the Chiricahua.34 It will be shown in the next chapter that the sceial
structure of the Bedonkohe showed a tendency toward patrilineal fornms,
while that of the Chiricahua showed one toward matrilineal forms. If the
Bedonkohe were originally located in Mexico, it seems that their cul-
t%;al patterns should have been more nearly like those of the Chiricahua.

The Evidence from Ethnographic Sources. Basehart'!s informants

reported that the Bedonkohe centers were in the vicinities of the White-
water Baldy; Maple Peak; Duncan and Safford, Arizona; the Huachuca Moun-

tains; and the Rio Bavispe in Soncra. They were said to spend part of

Accompanying the Annual Report of the Secretary of the Interior, for the
Year(s) 1855, 1357, 1858, and 1859 (Washington: A,O.P. Nicholsen,
printer, 1856; William A. Harris, printer, 1858; and George W. Bowman,
printer, 1860), 'pp. 187; 289-91; 197-198; and 344-345, respectively.

436e Barret (ed.), op. eit., pp. 20 and 31; and Opler, op.
git., p. 386.

—n




25
every year at Apache Pass and to trade often at Casas Grandes, Chihuahua.
It is obvious, given this testimony, that the Bedonkohe lived with the
Chiricahua much of the time. However, Basechart states that the term
"Bedonkohe" was not applied systematically by any of his informants Lo a
major Chiricshua sub-division.>?

Betzinez says that the Bedcnkohe were concentrated around the
present Clifton, Arizona.36 Clifton, Duncan, and Maple Peak all lie
within the present Greenlee County, Arizona, east of the Blue River. With
the subtraction of those locations reported as Chiricahua centers from
those reported for the Bedonkohe, it appears that the territory of the
latter lay north of the Gila River between the Mogollen Mountains and the
Blue River.

The Evidence from Documentary Sources. As the Bedonkche are not

mentioned in any documentary source, it is necessary to search the docu-
ments for a group who cccupied the same territory. Baschart indicates
that the "Mogollon Apaches" are such a grcup.37 These Apache were first
mentioned by the Mexican chroniclers of the 1830's as those who occupied
the Mogellen Mountains.

llot much wae known about the "Mogollon Apaches™ until 1356, when

Vernon St. Vrain made a report on his exploraticns of the Gila River, Rio

35Basehart, op. 2it., Section II, p. 25 and Maps 1 and 5.
30petzines with lye, op. cit., pp. 14~15.
37Baschart, op. cit., Section I, p. 46.

253
°See Smith, op. cit., p. 21.
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Prieto (the present S8an Francisco River), and Mogollon Mountains areas.
He stated that the territory claimed by these ‘pache extended north of the
ila River to the pueblo of Acome, and west of the Mogellen Mountains to
the "Sierra del FPlerrc" and the "Culebra River," Their fields of maize
were located aleng the latier and the SBan Francisco River,?? The author
assumes that the "Sierra del Fierro" were the San Francisco Mountalins,
while the "Culebra River" was the Blue River, Had the territory of the
"Mogollon" extended any further west than the Blue River, 1t would have
infringed on that of the San Carlos ‘pache,*C

St. Vrain probably erred in reporting the northern extent of
"Mogollon” territcry, as neither the Mexican chroniclers nor Steck placed
these ipache further north than the Mogellen Mounbains.41 In spite of
this discrepancy, it is cbvicus that the territery of the "Mogellon
\paches" as reported by 5t. Vrain was the saue suppcsedly occupied by the
Bedonkoche, The author sssumes, thersfore, that these ipache were the
same people.

If the "Mcgollen® end Bedonkche were the same pecple, the numer-
cuz leaders of the former menticpned in the documents of the 1350's must
have been either band or loccal group 1eaders.42 The Bedonkche do not

scem bo have been divided intc bands before the 13840's,

39892 Baschart, ¢p. eit., Sectlen I, p. 40, and Cecotion II,
p' 109. nCO 3 .

360 Spicer, ¢p. glb., Map 15, p. 237, and p. 244. The San
Carlos Apache were formerly nown as the "Pinalerio® and "Arivaipa.”

41300 "’.mith, QD &n’ p. 21} and J
of Indian [ffalrs for 1050, ps 1

WPge Basehart, op. git., Section I, pp. 39-41.
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The territories of the two Warm Spring bands and of the Bedonkoche,

or "Mogollon,"Apache from 1300 to 1857 are depicted on Map 2.

Commentary and Critique

In the above pages of this chapter, the author has challenged
Opler's and Gifford's identifications of the Chiricahua and Warm Spring
Apache tribes, and has presented documentary evidence that they were two
separate tribes rather than one. This has been done, however, without
the reader having the benefit of observing Upler's reasons for having
designated the Warm Spring as the "Eastern Chiricahua band," or Gifford's
for having called the /géﬂ?énén/ and /Pdd-Y1d4{/ bands of the "far
Spring Apache tribe." Both positions are examined below and weighed
against the evidence presented in the above sections of this chapter.

. . .> 2 &l,’?/ /

Opler's basic reasons for having called the /cok‘anén/ ,
/Paé-1%a41{/, and /gihén'ndé/ "bands" of the "Chiricahua Apache tribe
were as follow: (1) there was mutual use of each other's territorics,
(2) they spoke threc dialects of the same language, (3) there were great
similarities in their religious orientation, mythology, and material cul-
ture, and (4) social relations between them were intimate and never hos-
tile.43

As the reader shall discover in later chapters, Opler's arguments
can be accounted for by the facts that the Chiricahua and Warm Spring used
each other's territories in their annual subsistence cycles, and were
bound together in a political alliance preserved through intermarriage.

Frequent contact between the three groups Opler designated as the Chiricahua

)

43gee Opler, op. clt., p. 46
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bands prevented linguistic drift and the resulting formation of separate
languages, While OUpler's third argument is not germane to the scope of
this study, it may be accounted for by the fact that eclose soeial con-
tact between these groups lessened the possibility of their developing
dissimilar cultural patterns except in regard to their contact with other
cultures.

It is significant that Opler was unable to find any evidence of
"+ o « political synthesis and scarcely any formal recognition of the
tribe as such." Moreover, he found no evidence of organized leadership
at the tribal level, nor any instances when the three "bands" were
united in a concerted effort.4© The latter statement will be proven in-
correct several times in the following chapters, but the other statements
deserve comment here,

It has been shown above that Upler's "Scuthern Chiricahua band"
was correctly identified by him. Howaver, his "Central Chiricahua band®
consisted of three bands instead of one, Each band was led by a sub-
chief who was subservient to the tribal leader. The authority of this
tribal leader did noi extend beyond these three vands., C(pler's "Eastern
Chiricahua band" consisted of two bands instead of one, both of which
were under separate leadership before 1358. The evidence given in the
above sections of this chapter shows that no cbservers of the Chiricahua
and "Gila Apaches"-~the Warm Spring and Bedonkoche-~from 1690 to 1360 con-
sidered them to be the same tribe. It will be shown in the following
chapters of this study that cbservers of these Apache continued to iden-

tify them as two separate and distinet tribes before 1436,

460])18!‘, Qe Qi_t“, e 4»630
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Opler suggests that the presence of agriculture among the Warm
Spring, while it was almost completely lacking among the "Central" and
"Southern" Chiricahua bands, can be sscounted for by the fact that the
former had more sustained contact with the Spaniards and Mexicans.*! This
argument is not supported by the documentary evidence, OSpanish military
expeditions in 1745 and 1775 found cultivated, irrigated fields of maize
along the San Francisco River north of the present Clifton, Arizona, and
along the Mimbres River.48 These were apparently the first Spanish con-
tacts with the Apache of these areas, the Bedonkohe and Warm Spring.

Thus, it may be assumed that these Apache were farming before Spanish
contact.

Gifford gave no reason for having designated the /%6ﬁ7énén/ and
/Pad-4134{/ as bands of the "Jarm Spring Apache tribe" except that his
Warm Spring informant reported this.4? The fact that the Chiricahua and
Warm Spring have lived together since 1872 may have led this informant to
be confused as to the proper identity of these bands. This may also ex-
plain why Opler's informants identified the Warm Spring as a Chiricahua
band.

The author hopes that he has sufficiently proven the existence
of the Warm Spring and Bedonkche Apache tribes, for his assumption that
they were separate and distinet from the Chiricahua is of vital importance

throughout the remainder of this study.

4'7(;.*pler, op. cit., p. 372.

8 . -
45gee Bagsehart, op. cit., Section I, p. 25; and Thomas, op. cit.,
p. 43, Basechart's reference is incorrect.

490ifford, ope_cite, pe 4. This informant was supposedly a mem-
ber of the Mimbreflo band of the Warm Spring Apache (USAAMCM, Op. cit.,
pe 156).



CHAPTER II
ABCORIGINAL SCCTAL ORGANIZATION

As the social organization of the Chiricahua Apache has been
fully described in several ethnographic sources, and the social organi-
zations of the Warm Spring and Bedonkohe Apache were nearly identical to
it, the author will use that of the Chiricahua as a basis for the follow-
ing discussion and summarize the details. However, contrasts in the
sceial organizations of these three tribes are ncted under the appro-

priate headings.

Structural Units

The largest structural unit of Chiricahua, Warm Spring, or
Bedonkohe society was the tribe. The nature and composition of this unit
was discussed in the last chapter. The next largest unit was the band,
followed by the local group and the extended family. The structure of
these social units is discussed below under a separate heading for each.

The Band. As the Chiricahua, Waerm Spring, and Bedonkohe Apache
got much of their subsistence before 1884 from wild plant foods and game,
it was impossible for all of the members of any of these tribes to live
together in the same location. The variable distribution of these plant
and animal resources required that the tribe spread out over a large
area and organize in social groups of graded sizes. These groups, or

N
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structural units of the tribe, were held together by loose bonds and
often merged into groups of a larger size.1

As stated in the last chapter, the Bedonkche were not organized
into bands before the 1840's and merged with the Warm Spring and Chiri-
cahua tribes after 1858, Therefore, the diagnocstics on the structure of
the band presented here apply only to the Chiricahua and Warm Spring
bands.

The Chiriecshua or Warm Spring band consisted of the members of
the tribe who lived in an area small enough to permit conecerted action
for mutual defense or offense against an enemy. Its primary function
was, therefore, military in nature. The band territory was not well
defined and was not inviclate. The members of one band visited freely
within the territory of another band without causing friction between
them.2 It will be shown in the next chapter that the Chiricahua and
Warm Spring bands often gathered wild plant foods in each other's terri-
tories.

OUpler claims that there was rarely an opportunity when tribal
unity could be affirmed by a gathering of all of the members of a tribe.
A Chirieahua's or Warm Spring's meaningful social contacts were by nec-

3

essity limited to members of his own band. As the reader shall discover
in later chapters of this study, neither statement is entirely true. It

may be stated here that the two Warm Spring bands and the Bedonkohe were

1See Morris E. Opler, "An Outline of Chiricashua Apache Social
Organization," Social Anthropology of North American Tribes, ed. Fred
Eggan (2nd edition; Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1955),
pp. 176-177.

“Ibid., p. 177.

W

Ibi‘lo, D 177.
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united in 1958, farmed together in the same locations, and were under
the leadership of Mangas Coloradas. The Warm Spring bands ceased tc
function as separate social units after this date, and the Bedonkche
ceased to exist as a separate and distinct tribe. The frequent inter-
marriage between members of different bands and tribes certainly extended
the meaningful contacts of a single Chiricahua or Warm Spring Apache be-
yond the structural limits of his own band. This fact is discussed in
greater detall later in this chapter.

The Local Group. Within the territory of each band, there were

favorite landmarks--natural strongholds and svots where the winter's

food supply could be safely stored. These were used as bases from which
the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkche ccnducted their subsistence
activities. The groups of families who camped at these™landmarks consti-
tuted the third smallest social groups of these tribes; they are desig-
nated by Opler as "local groups.”

Each local group took its name from the landmark that served as
its base.4 Basehart collected information on fifty-four separate Chiri-
cahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkche local groups, some of which cconsisted
of the members of more than one tribe. He provides their native nanmes,
the translations of these names, their location and tribal or band affili-
ation, and historical notes relating to each.”

Ceremonial events, social dances, and the girls' puberty rite

were all held at the lceal group level, though other members of the band

4Opler, "Chiricahua Apache Social Organization," pp. 179-130.

“Basehart, op. cit., Section II, pp. 70-82.
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or tribe might be present at these events. The local group was alsc the
primary social unit for rsiding and warfare. As will be seen later, it
was alsc the unit responsible for the training of young men for partici-
pation in these activities.

The local group was a highly unstable unit, for, while the
families that constituted it were usually related through marriasge, there
was no reason for them to camp together. They were there simply because
they considered the location a favorable one or wished to ally themselves
under a local group leader who was especially successful at raiding.

They could leave one lcecal group at any time and ally themselves with
another, Food shortages, epidemics, the death of a local group leader,
or factionalism often caused the dissolution of local groups.6

The Extended Family. The individual families which constituted

the local group are what Opler calls "extended families." Among the
Chiricahua, they were undoubtedly constituted on the basis of matrilocal
residence. Its members consisted, then, of the parents, their ummarried
sons, their daughters, and the husbands and children of their married
daughters. As the reader shall discover below, the Bedonkche and VWarn
Spring extended families were constituted primarily on the basis of
patrilocal residence.

The members of the extended family stcod in a definite relation-
ship to each other which was clearly defined and obligatory. The extended
family was responsible for the early training of the child, and tested

his manhood, or her womanhood, in later years. It governed whom he or

6Cpler, "Chiricahua Apache Social OUrganization," pp. 131-132,
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she might or might not marry. The disgrace of one member cof the family
fell upon all of the other members. If one member of the family was
killed, it was the cbligation of the other members to avenge his or her
death. Deceased members of the family were buried by the other family

members.7

Kinship Terminclogy

Relationship among the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkche
has always been bilateral--that is, it is reckoned on both the father's
and the mother's side. The kinship terms used in the native dialects of
the Chiricahua and Warm Spring, and their applicatiocns, are shown on the

following charts and in the following tables.

TABLE 1"

CHIRICAHUA KINSHIP TERMS
FOR COLLATERAL RELATIVES

Ay / / 8% /
Ay o + « o« Blnale He o s s s Simd?
VY Yy VY 7 VL s\
Be '« &« & + 8lgine I. . « + « 8lyoye, sidai
vy 7 4 v
Cs s » +» « Bigoye Tl 3 31$Q-
NN
D. . . L] ° SlCO K.o L] . . . éil:is
vy &\ - LAY
El . . L] . S:\Lt\a‘. J—‘. Ll . L] L Sllah
7 " v /£ v\v
Fo o « « » Blde dé? Me « ¢ « » 51727 siza-
vy / S v\
(1. o o s e Slbe' éé? l\]‘o ¥ & & » S-L.’) éé?

#The letters (A,B,C, ete.) refer to the relatives
on Chart I. These terms and this system of representing
their applications were taken from COpler, An Apache Life-
Way, Appendix, p. 479.

7Opler, "Chiricahua Apache Social Crganization," p. 183.
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TABLE II 2

WARM SPRING KINSHIP TERMS
FOR COLLATERAL RELATIVES

Av o o o o S1de14 Ge o s o » Simd-?

Bs » « » « 3186 He o o « « Blkis

Be ¢ o ¢ v BLL04E B v v Wi

De o o « o 5384 h4¥tin To v v v . Bty b
EBv o %  Sd-2 K son v R

Po o v o o Bltde Le o o « o Stysdé-

8These terms were supplied by the author's cldest
informant.

bThis term was used by the mother's sister when

referring to a male or female ego and was not self-
reciprocal.

It is obvious, following an examination of these kinship terms,
that the kinship systems of the Chiricahua and Warm Spring were not
identical. Unfortunately, the suthor was unable to collect the Bedon-
kohe kinship terms. However, it will be recalled that these Apache
merged with the Chiricahua and Warm Spring after 1853, It is assumed
that their kinship system was similar to that of either the Varm Spring
or Chiricahua after this time. An analysis of Chiricahua and Warm Spring
kinship terminologies follows.

Characteristics o Chiricahua Kinship Terminology. The Chirica-

hua kinship system was based on a generation principle, with bifurcation
of the terms for the relatives of the first two ascending generations.
Following Robert N. Bellah, the characteristic features of Chiricahua
kinship terminology may be listed as follow:

1) The terms within the nuclear family, except those for siblings,
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were not extended to other relatives.

2) All terms for collateral relatives outside of the nuclear
family were self-reciprocal.

3) All relatives of ego's generation were termed either sibling
of the same sex or sibling of the opposite sex.

4) All other collateral relatives were dietinguished by gener-
ation and the sex of the connecting relative in a direct line of descent,
without regard for their own sex.3

Cpler says that the terms listed under "I" were used inter-
changeably for a mother's sibling. Either of the terms listed under "M"

was used for a son, though the latter one was the more common.”

Characteristics of Warm Spring Kinship Terminoclogy. The Warm

Spring kinship system was also based on the generation principle, but the
terms for relatives of the first two ascending generations were bifurcate
merging, except those for the father's father's sister and the mother's
mother's brother. The author's informants reported that the relationship
between ego and his father's father's sister was the same as that with
his father's sister. Thus, these two relatives were referred to by the
same term. The /h&$tln/ appended to the term for the mother's mother's
brother is a sign of respect, rather than relationship, and means "he who
is old." The characteristic features of Warm Spring kinship terminology

can be stated as follow:

&Robert N. Bellah, Apache Kinship Systems, The Harvard Phi Beta
Kappa Prize Essay for 1950 (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1952),
ppe 70 and 72.

9Opler, "Chiricahua Apache Social Organization," p. 1383,
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1) The terms within the nuclear family, except those for
siblings, were not extended to other relatives.

2) All terms for collateral relatives outside of the nuclear
family, except that of the mother's sister for nieces and nephews, were
self-reciprocal.

3) All relatives of ego's generation were termed either sibling
of the same sex or sibling of the opposite sex.

4) The same terms were used in referring to the father's
brother and the mother's brother, and for the father's sister and the
mother's sister, This is called bifurcate merging terminology.

5) The father's mother's siblings and the mother's father's
siblings were referred to by the same term, without regard to their sex.
The father's father's brother and the mother's mother's sister were alsc
referred to by the same term. The terms for the father's father's sister
and the mother's mother's brother were discussed above.

6) Grandchildren and the children of grandparents siblings
were referred to either as /81dd1&-/ or /8144 /.

Extension of Kinship Terms. Both the Chiricahua and Warm Spring

extended the terms for siblings to all collateral relatives of their own
generation. There was no terminological differentiation of parallel or
eross-cousins, nor of older or younger siblings. Opler says that the
Chiricahua extended the terms for relatives of any generation as far as
collateral relationship would allow them to go.1o The author's infor-

mants reported that the Warm Spring extended the use of collateral kinship

1O£pler, "Chiricahua Apache Social Organization," pp. 188-139,
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kinship terms only to the fourth generation of relationship. Thus, a
Warm Spring could marry no one more than four generations related to

himself or herself.

Consanguineal Kinship Behavior

Parent-Child Relations. The parents were primarily responsible

for the care of their children, though other members of the extended family
might help. The discipline of the child rested firmly in the hands of
the parents, who were the sole agents of physical discipline. Opler says
that Chiricahva parents rarely resorted to corporal punishment except when
it was deemed absolutely necessary. The mother usually relied upon the
folk beliefs of the tribe concerning evil omens or mythological creatures
to keep the child in line. Geronimo indicated that the same method of
discipline was employed by the Bedonkohe , 11

The author's informants reported that the Warm Spring used both
ridicule and corporai punishment to diseipline children. Any adult in
the local group might ridicule a child, whether a relative or not, though
only the parents had the right to use physical punishment. When a child
was living with his maternal grandparents--iarm Spring children visited
their paternal grandparents, but did not live with them--his grandparents
would send for the father if the child misbehaved.

Chiricahwa boys were gradually drawn away from the nuclear
families throuvgh their training for warfare and raiding by the local group
leader, and when they married, they shifted their residence to their

wive's camps. After his marriage, the Chiricahua man often visited his

11Opler "Chiricahua Apache Sccial Organization," pp. 191-192;
and Barrett (ed.s, op. ¢ib., ppe 19 and 25.
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parents and could be called on by them for aid. In the event cof divorce
or the death of his wife, the man could always return to his parents!'
camp.12

The author's informants indicated that Warm Spring boys were
usually trained for warfare and raiding by their mothers! brothers, while
their fathers, father's brothers, or either grandfather were responsible
for their training in hunting. When a Warm Spring man married, he took
residence in his wife's camp until the first child was born, then returned
with his family to that of his parents. Therefore, VWarm Spring men spent
most of their lives in close contact with their parents, while the women
left their extended families and loeal groups to take residence with those
of their husbands. Geronimo indicated that the same customs were observed

by the Bedonkohe.13

Grandparent-Grandchild Relations. Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and

Bedonkche grandparents took as much active interest in their grandehildren
as possible. As Chiricahua children lived in matrilocal extended fami-
lies, their contacts were stronger with their maternal grandparents than
with their paternal cnes, though the grandparent-grandchild relations
were no different in the case of the latter. '

The author's informants reported that, though residence was
usually patrilocal among the Warm Spring, children lived with their

maternal grandparents after they were approximately two years of age,

f)
1“Bellah, op. c¢it., pe 72. Bellah drew his information on
Chiricahua social organization from several sources by Opler.

1BBBIPebt(Od.), 9_2_. g_i_t:-’ Dpo 37 and 3’5)-

14’B6211ah, _Q_E- 9_:1._9., Do 730
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but did a lot of visiting between their mother's extended family and
their father's, Thus, their contacts with their paternal grandparents
and their maternal grandparents were about equal. Geronimo did nob indi-
cate which grandparents the Bedonkohe child lived with, though it is
assumed that these were the paternal ones. As the reader shall discover
below, Ghe Bedonkche appear to have had much closer relations with their
paternal relatives than their maternal ones.

The behavior of the grandparents toward their grandchildren was
one of indulgence and great affection. Although the relations between
these relatives were friendly and relaxed, there is nc evidence of a
joking relationship between them. When the grandchildren were grown,
they were expected to provide for their grandparents. They could inherit

ceremonial power and knowledge from their grandparents as well as their

4
parents, but nothing else was inherited from either by the Chiricahua.1)

It will be shown in the next chapter that Warm Spring children inherited
agricultural land from their parents or grandparents.

Sibling and Cousin Relations. DBehavior between siblings and

cousins of the opposite sex was reserved and respectful. These reclatives
were forbidden from each other's company after they reached adclescence.
Joking of a sexual nature was alsc forbidden. One of the author's in-
formants stated that joking of a sexual nature was also forbidden among
Warm Spring siblings and cousins of the same sex. Incest between sib-
lings and cousins of the opposite sex was equated with witcheraft and
still is among the Fort 3ill Apache. Formerly, such persons were burned

or beaten to death.

15Be11ah, op. cit., p. 73.
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Avoidance on request was practiced by cousins of the opposite
sex, but never by actual siblings. Cousins who avoided each other were
cbligated to give each other whatever was asked for.

The relation between siblings and cousins of the sgame sex was
strongly solidary and familiar. These relatives were each other's con-
fidants, companicns, and defenders. If a person were murdered or offended
by insult, his sibling of the same sex would likely demand retaliation.
Sisters shared many everyday tasks, while brothers were frequently com-
panions on the raid and warpath.1

One of the author's informants reported that older children
among the Warm Spring were obligated to care for their younger siblings
when the parents were away from home.

It's mostly the girls who care for their younger brothers and sisters,
but, if they dcn't have an older sister, an older brother has to do
that, I know that I did that at Fort Sill. I was the cldest and
often I had to care for my younger brothers and sisters--do the cook-
ing, the washing, change their diapers, and fix their bottles. All
of the time these older kids are taking care of the younger ones,

they're picking up as they're going along from still older ones.

This informant stated positively that this practice of leaving
the care of the young children to their older siblings was designed to
make siblings dependent upon each other.

Parent's Sibling~Sibling's Child Relations. Among the Chiri-

cahva, no joking patterns or specialized obligations were observed by
ego and his parents' siblings, though economic assistance in the time

of need or in the giving of ceremonies was expected.17 The author's

16Bellah, ops cibey Ppe 73-74.

T pid., p. 75

y ———%
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informants reported that economic assistance was expected of these
relatives among the Warm Spring, and the girl's aunts and uncles were
usually the cnes who sponsored her puberty rite. However, ego was for-
bidden from joking in a risque manner with his parents' siblings. There
were also specialized obligations between the mother's brother, the
mother's mother's brother, and a male ego.

Although Warm 3pring boys might be trained for warfare and raid-
ing by either the father's brother cr the mother's brother, it was usually
the latter who fulfilled this responsibility. The mother's mother's
brother trained his great nephew if the mother's brother were deceased.
This custom was in keeping with the parents' delegation of the responsibi-
lity for the care and training of children to clder siblings and grand-
parents. In effect, Warm Spring males were driven towards independence
from their extended families, who depended upon them when they reached
adulthood. After the boy had been on four raids as an apprentice aad was
accepbed as a full-fledged warrior, he frequently went on raids or the
wvarpath with his mother's brother. The two were expected te defend each
other in times of danger and were close companions at all times., Geronimo
indicated that Bedonkche boys were trained for warfare and raiding by
their fathers.,1®

The author's informants reported that, among the Chiricahua and
Warm Spring, the parents' siblings were expected to become the foster
parents of their nieces and nephews who were either orphaned or sbandcned.

Geronimo reported that the eldest son assumed the care of his mother and

>
1“Barrett(ed.), op. ¢it., p. 19,
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giblings after the father's death.19

Apparently, Bedonkohe children had
much closer contact with their parents throughout life than did the Warnm
Spring, as all of Geronimol!s statements indicate.

The author's informants stated that the child's cradle and the
married man's first dwelling among the Warm Spring were constructed by

the father's sgister.

The Treatment of Deceased Relatives. As stated above, it was

the members of the extended family who were responsible for the burial
of their deceased members., Among the Chiricshua, VWarm Spring, and
Bedonkche, the personal property of the deceased was burned or otherwise
destroyed, and all of his stock were killed. Warriors were buried with
their weapons and favorite hcrses.‘o
Cne of the author's informants reported that--
Among the Chiricahua and Warm Spring . . . when people close died,
like a father, brother, or uncle, they shot off a lot of ammunition.
They didn't shoot at anything, just fired here and there in the air.
They did that because they thought he [the relative] would have
preferred to die in battle. They never did this with a bow and
arrows; just with guns.
Amcng all three tribes mentioned above, it was tabco to speak
the name of a deceased relative. Since the aboriginal system of naming
caused an individual to have a name that also signified a plant, animal,
or historic event in which he had participated, any part of his name which
was used in everyday speech was replaced by a synonym until the memory of

the deceased relative was long f’orgotten.21

198arrett (ede), opos gite, pe 37.

20
Opler, An Apache Life-Way, pp. 47°2-475; and Barrett (ed.),
. &., p. 36.

Q

¥ . LA . % 3
21This information was given by the author's informants.



47

The author's informants reported that most of the mourning was
done by the women. The mourning period lasted from six months to two
years, during which the mourners wore old clothing. At the end of the
meurning period, the old clothing was burned. Female mourners who were
closely related to the deceased cut their hair extremely short as a sign
of their grief. It is understandable that the close relations between
collateral relatives caused considerable sadness when one of them died

or was killed.

As stated above, a Chiricshua was forbidden from marriage with
any collateral relative, nc matter how far removed. Warm Spring were
forbidden from marriage with any collatersl relative within four genera—
tions of relationship. The girl's parents had the decisive voice as to
whom she should marry. As the boy's parents supplied the wedding gifts
—--alwsys horses--they had considerable influence in his choice. A go-
between handled the arrangements between the two families. This was
rarely a relative of the prospective grcom, since his collateral rela-
tives contributed to the bride price. Although Opler's informants stated
that there was no bride price among the Chiricshua, since the prospective
groom simply offered gifts which, if accepted, signified his acceptance
by the girl's parents, Tevis makes it very clear that the girl's father
stated the number of horses he would accept for her.22 The author's

informants reported the same practice among the Warm Spring.

2236 Opler, An Apache Life-Way; p. 162; and Tevis, op. cit.,

p. 123, Geronimo (Barrett (ed.), op. cit., p. 38) stated positively
that a bride price was observed by the Bedonkoche.,
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As stated above, Chiricahua men tock residence with their wives!
extended families after marriage, while the Warm Spring man lived in the
vieinity of his wife's extended family only until the first child was
born, then returned with his family to his extended family's camp. The

Bedonkohe, as stated earlier, apparently took residence after marriage

with the husbhand's extended family.

Affinial Kinship Behavicr

Immediately after marriage, a Chiricahua, Warm Spring, or

9. &

Bedonkche man was cbligated to aid his affinsl relatives, especially his
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parents-in-law, in all wiys possible. s reflected by the affinal

kinship terminclogy. Chiricahua and Warm Spring men and women referred

to their affines as "one for whom I carry burdens," and were referred to

"“’j T1 o~ -
by btheir affines as "cne who carries burdens for me."™- The Warm Spring
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extended these terms to their spcuses and the spouses of their collateral
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relatives. The burden referred to was geme among the Chiricshua, and

game and agriculbural products among the Warm Soring. Each married man
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among the Chiricshua and Yarm Spring had to provide for at least four
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couples: (1) himself and his wife, (
paternal grandparents, and (4) his maternal grandparbnuo.
Chiricahua and Warm Spring men were obligated to aveld their
wives' parents and both grandmothers. All of their wives'! collateral
relatives might be avoided on request. Chiricahua and Warm Spring women

were expected to show formal respect for their mother-in-law's siblings

2
2330 Bellsh, op. cit., p. 76.
2/+m1v

se gtatements were made by the author's informants.
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and parents' siblings, as well as their father-in-law's siblings and
parents' siblings. They did not avoid or show formal respect for their
parents-in-law or the parents of their parents—in—law.zS

Men among both tribes might marry as many women as they could
afford, and their plural wives were often sisters. Gifford says that
the post-mortem sororate was obligatory among both tribes if the widower!'s
parents-in-law so ordained it. Among the Warm Spring, a widower might
forfeit a horse for a breach of the post-mortem sororate. Chiricahua
widowers might marry within a few months of their wives! death with the
permission of their parents-in-law, though widows and widowers were ex-
pected to walt one tc two years before remarriage among the Chiricahua
and Warm Spring. If the deceased wife had no close relatives of marriage-
able age, the widower did as he pleased.

The post-mortem levirate was also required, and Chiricahua and
Warm Spring women who evaded 1t were punished as sdulteresses by having
their nasal septums amputated. Among the Warm Spring, the offender was
sometimes killed instead, while Chiricahua offenders and their new hus-
bands might have to pay horses and other property to the woman's former
parents—-in-law for a breach of the levirate. Warm Spring men occasion-
ally married their brother-in-law's daughter or their mother's brother's
widow, while this was the rule among the /kéf'éhénéy band of the

Chiricahua .20

258ee Bellah, op. cit., pp. 76~77.

20gifford, op. eit., pp. 67 and 164.
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Adultery and Divorce

Adulterous wives among the Warm Spring were punished by either
killing them or cutting off their nasal septums--and occasionally the
ears too. The injured husband among the Chiricahua was required tc get
his father-in-laws's approval through a go-between before he punished his
wife. However, his parents-in-law might ask him to take payment for the
offense instead. The wife's lover was always killed among the Chirica-
hua, while the injured husband among the Warm Spring might seize or
destroy his wife's lover's property :i.r.tst‘,eatd.’?"7

Although Gifford's informants reported that sterility was a
cause for diveree among both the Chiricahua and Warm Spring, cne of the
author's informants stated that this was not always the case among the
latter. A man whose wife was unable to bear him children might take
Mexican children captive on a raid and he and his wife would then raise
these children as their own, Adultery was always a cause for divorce, as
was idleness on the part of the husband or wife. Among both tribes, di-
vorce was accomplished by physical separation. The children were left
in the custody of the mother, who let the father keep them after she re-

married.28

Maturation
The essential featurss of the girl's puberty rite among the
Chiriecahua and Varm Spring, as reported by the author's informants, were

as follow. To be eligible for partieipation in this ceremony, a girl must

*Totrrord, op. elb., pp. 68 and 165.

y
Q“Ibid.
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have passed her first menses and be still chaste. If she were not a
virgin, nc ceremony of this type could be performed. Those women who
participated in the girl's puberty rite were those who had the highest
status in the tribe and, therefore, brought a higher bride price.

The ceremony lasted for four days, in which the girl, or girls,
of the extended family for whom the rite was held lived in a conical
brush dwelling set apart from the rest of the camp. Their female cousins
who had already participated in the puberty rite might live there with
them and assist them in the observance of their duties. During the day,
the girl was required to run four times around a post set upright in the
ground one hundred paces in front of the door of the dwelling. The
dwelling faced cn the east, and the course was between the door of the
dwelling and the post. A basket of fruit was placed on top of the post
on the fourth day, and was distributed tc the young children of the
extended family on the conclusion of the rite.

Un each of the four nights of the ceremcny, the girl and her
companions participated in the ritual Fire Dance, or "dance of the
Mountain Spirits."29 They danced with short, quick steps, in time to
the beat of the shaman's drum, between the four masked dancers and the
clown. Their participation in this, the most sacred of Apache rituals,
served to insure them of stable marriages, healthy children, successful
childbirth, and their acceptance by the entire local group as having

attained the full status of womanhcod.

le)
el

For a full description of this dance, see Morris Edward
Upler, "Mountain Spirits of the Chiriecahua Apache," The Masterkey, XX,
No. 4 (July, 1946), pp. 125-131.
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The training of boys in warfare and raiding began before the
age of puberty--about the age of nine or ten--and included early morning
sweat baths, baths in cold water, and tests of physical endurance.

After the boy had reached the age of fifteen or sixteen, he went on four
raids as an apprentice. He was not allowed to participate in the fight-
ing or seizure of stock and other property, but was required to gather
firewood for the warriors, tend their horses, clean their rifles, or
any other menial tasks they asked of him, After having gone on four
raids, the boy was accepted as a full fledged warrior. One of the
author's informants reported that the Warm Spring referred to these boys
as /nésinki+/, meaning "You have become a man"--

But that isn't enough. You've got to say why. So they tell him,

it nbsingf- dikéyé' bé&é’." That means, "You have become a man,

You have completed all of your training." He is eligible to go to

war then, to get married and raise a family, and to take all of the
responsibilities & man has.



CHAPTER IIT

ECONCMIC AND POLITICAL CORGANIZATION

BEFCORE 1860

Seasonal Group Movements

Certain food resources, medicinal plants, and wild tcbacco were
either scarce or totally lacking in the former territories of the Chiri-
cahua, Warm Spring, and Bzdonkohe. These deficiencies were met through
the mutual use of certain tribal and band territories, as is shown by the
evidence of seasonal group movements,

The winter camps of the Chiricahua were concentrated in the
Huachuca and Chiricahua Mountains and the Sierra Madres. Small groups or
allied families would migrate to the agave grounds in the spring. After
the harvest, some groups migrated to the Chiricahua, Animas, or Florida
Mountains; others spent bthe summer in the Almagre and Mogollon Mountains
in Bedonkohe territory. ALl of the groups began to return tc the winter
bases in early fall, harvesting acorns and other indigenous staples en
route.

Basehart says that some Warm Spring groups--

« + « appear to have rcamed in the spring from northern bases to the
Chiricahua Mountain area to gather mescal [Agave parryii, et. alel
and Yucca elata, [italics mine] while others moved into the Mogollon
or Burrcs Mountains. Journeys into Mexico might also be made at

about this time. For the most part, summer and fall camps shifted
throughout the Gila wilderness, with hunting and gathering the major

53
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occupation, Some groups, it was said, regularly returned to the
Chiricahua Mountain area at this time in order to collect datil {the
fruit of Yucca baccata ].

Woodworth Clum remarks that the Mimbreno band of the Warm Spring
made annual summer migrations from Janos, Chihuahua, to Santa Rita, New
Mexico.® Tt is presumed that these migrations were not for the purpose
of trade with the Mexicans alcne. As seen in the first chapter, the
Bedonkche frequently camped with the Chiricahua at Apache Pass, in the
Huachuca Mountains, and along the Ric Bavispe. They were, therefore,
able to draw on food resources outside of their own territory.

In the following discussions of the subsistence patterns of
these tribes, no attention will be given to gathering, fishing, or raid-
ing metheds. Hunting and farming methods, however, shall be discussed
in detail, as they provide a necessary background by which to analyaze

changes in male roles.

Gathering

The gathering of wild plant foods held first place amcng the
subsistence activities of the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and EBedonkche, and
was primarily a female pursuit. However, whole families were involved in

the harvesting of accrns, pifion nuts, and agave. The men also accompanied

1Basehart, op. eit., Section II, pp. 101-103. Both agave and
peyote (Lophophora williamsii) are known as "mescal". To prevent any
pogsible confusion, the author has avolded the use of the latter word
except in quotes.

2oodworth Clum, Apache Agent: The Story of John P. Clum
(Cambridge: The Riverside Press for Houghton Mifflin Company, Boston,
1936), p. 19. This bicgraphy is based on the elder Clum's diaries.
Tevis, op. cit., p. 33, reported that this band were hunting along the
San Francisco River in the fall of 1856,
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the women on long gathering expeditions when they were needed to provide
protection and help with some of the heavier work.”

Agave was the most important indigenous staple, and was gathered
in the spring. Basehart claims that some groups made extended journeys
to secure this plant, but it is difficult to see why. It was found in
the territories of all three tribes and of the bands of the Chiricahua
and Warm Spring. Even local groups would not have had to travel far Lo
find it. Yet, Basehart found that some Warm Spring groups gathered agave
in the foothills of the Chiricahua Mountains. They may have been visit-
ing affinal relatives acquired through intermarriage at the time, or this
may have been an especially productive food area mutually exploited by
the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkche., No matter where agave was
gathered, the ccllecting party would spend several weeks at the site of
the harvest. O(ne of Basehart's informants reported that every family
attempted to gather forty to sixty crcwns each year.

Acorns contributed about as much as agave to the subsistence cof
these tribes. The collecting parties would spend a period of a menth or
more every fall in temporary camps near the oak groves. It is nct likely
that they were able to acquire encugh acorns at any one site to satisfy
their needs, as Basehart's informants indicated that each family would
collect about five hundred pounds when possible., FPresumably, they ex-
hausted one grove then moved on to ancther until their needs werc satis-
fied., Walnuts were crdinarily collected during the course of acorn

gathering expeditions.

3Basehart, ops git., Section II, p. 23.
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Mesquite beans and pifion nuts, the next most important wild plant
staples, were gathered in late summer. These rescurces were apparently
lacking in the territories of the three northern bands of the Chiricahua
and the Mimbreiic band of the Warm Spring. It is probable that the former
bands cbtained their supply of mesquite beans on the southern slopes cf
the Animas and Almagre Mountains. The Mimbrefio, who spent every summer
trading at Janos, Chihuahua, probably joined the northern bands of the
Chiricahus in the Animas Mountains or the /Mdé-1%dd{/ band northwest of
Casas Grandes, Chihuahua, in the mesquite harvest.

Pinon nuts were obtained only in the Magdalena, San Mateo, and
Almagre Mountains and the northern reaches of the Black Range.4 The
first two areas and the last lay in the territory of the Warm Springs
band of the Warm Spring tribe. It will be recalled that the /Md<1nad{
band of the Chiricashua made trips to /ti g t€l/ to visit the Varm
Springs band. They may have done so during the summer of each year, thus
ensuring their participation in the pifion harvest with their hosts. The
Bedonkohe, the three northern bands of the Chiricahua, and the Mimbreho
band of the Warm Spring probably acquired their supplies of pifien nuts
in the Almagre Mcuntains, as is shown by the evidence presented in the
last section.

Datil and tuna (the fruits of the vrickly pear cactus), though
less important staples than the plants named above, were felt to have as
good storage properties. Both were cbtained in the fall, apparently dur-

ing the course of acorn gathering expeditions. However, it is likely

43ee Basehart, op. git., Section II, pp. 96-07 and Map 4; and
(pler, An Apache Life-Way, pp. 356 and 360-363.
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that the northern Chiricahua bands gathered datil and tunas in the
#lorida, Animas, and Almagre Mountains before returning to their winter
bases.

Those wild plant foods with the best storage propertics were
uncuesti onably the most important, since the Chiricahua, Warm Spring,
and Bedonkohe had to depend upon their stores of dried meat and plant
products from late fall until mid-spring. The collection of cactus fruits

invelved the cooperation of whole families, but probably Lo a lesser ex-

tent than in the harvests of agave, acorns, and pinon nuts. Medicinal

-
plants were collected in the course of regular foraging expeditions.’

Wild tobacco was cbtained just south of Laguna de GUzman in
northern Chihuahua. Bartlett and Tevis note that the Mimbrefioc band of
the Warm Spring and at least one Chiricahua band made annual migrations
to this region. Tevis notes that, on one ocecasion, the same Chiricshua
band spent several weeks in a spring camp near Steins Peak in the North-

ern Peloneillo Mountains while the women gathered wild tobacco.6

funti
It would be hard to overestimate the importance of hunting in
the role behavior of Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkohe men. It was
an exclusively male pursuit, and usually an individual one. The latter
fact has strong implications, for married men were obliged to provide
for their parents-in-law as well as their own families. All men, whether

married or single, had to provide for the widows and aged in their camps.

’See Opler, An Apache Life-Vay, pp. 355-363.

®Bartlett, op. git., Vol. I, p. 323; and Tevis, op. oite, p. 106.
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The training of boys in hunting and warfare was designed to prepare them

~

. ' .
to meet these demands on attaining full manhood. As one of the authcr's

informants put it:
The worst thing an Apache man could do was to be lazy. That training
they had to go through was supposed to be good any time. It prepared
them for war time and peace both. A man had to be busy every day
from suarise to sunset. When they're at peace, no man should be
caught sleeping after the sun has risen or taking a nap. He worked
in the fields or hunted. . .

The reference to work in the fields applied only tec the Warm

Spring and Bedonkohe, as will be seen in the next section of this chapter.
Apparently, the custom of hunting individually or in small groups of two
to ten men was supposed to make the hunters independent of their fami-
lies! support in the engagement of their responsibilities. One informant
stated, when asked whether a2 man's wife made any preparations for his
return from the hunt:

She didn't have to prepsre anything for him. Sometimes they went

cut and didn't tell their wives how long they wohld be gone.
Ususlly they went cut just a day, but maybe it would be longer.

e

However, it appears that the Warm Spring held a modification of

the Fire Dance before every deer hunt. Instead of the usual four-night

o

ceremcny, this rite lasted only cne and, instead of the usual four

"horned" dancers, there were only two. It was held at some distance from
the camps in a brush corral with the entrance to the east. 01d women
were allowed to witness it, and prayed for their sons! success on the

hunt. Before the dance, each hunter marked a eross of tule pollen on

each "horned" dancer's chest, back, and shoulders. The shaman sang four

T3ee Upler, An Apache Life-Way, ppe 74, 163-164, and 323, The
author's informants reported the same diagnostics,
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songs, while the "horned" dancers and all the hunters who owned deer masks
danced to the accompaniment of his drum.”

This is the only source bearing any mention of such a hunting
ceremony, though its occurrence is entirely possible. As (pler says--

The Chiricahua Apache speak of 'animal homes' in the intericr of
mountains where the supernaturals keep the animals. Vhen gane ig
scarce it is said that tco few animals are being released from the
mountain homes to roam on the earth's surface, The Mountain Spirits,
and particularly the clowns, are often described as the caretakers of
deer, antelope, and mountain sheep.?

Though deer and antelope were hunted sporadically throughout
the year, there were two principal hunting seascns. The first was in th
fall, when deer, elk, and mountain sheep were sought. The other principle

. . . . 0
hunting season was the spring, when antelone were hunted on the plalns.1”
Bison were apparently hunted in the fall. Betzinez gives an account of
a bison hunting expediticn in the fall of 1870 to a point east of the
Pecos River in New Mexico. As this expedition was composed of Bedonkohe

and Warm Spring, it may be assumed that the former hunted bison befcre

1360 in this region, rather than in their own territory.11
Individual and small-group hunting of deer and antelope were

accomplished primarily by the use of decoys. Chiricahua and Varm Spring

hunters used game calls and masks, the latter consisting of the skins of

these animals with the antlers or prongs left on. The Bedonkohe, cn the

2

Gifford, op. ¢it., p. 87.

“Opler, "Mountain Syirits of the Chiricahua Apache," p. 129n.
10Basehart, op. cit., Section II, p. 98.

—

11See Betzinez with Nye, op. cit., pp. 33-35, and Barrett (ed.),
e clb., p. 31,
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other hand, did not use masks, but crawled up to their quarry with weeds

or bushes held before them. Decoys were not used when hunting elk, moun-

o~

" 2 & 12
tain sheep, or mountain lions.

Deer and antelope were also taken by the use of drives. The
herd was started past mounted hunters at different stations along the
course, who tock up the pursuit in relays until the herd was worn by ex-~
haustion. The Warm Spring occasionally used dogs in antelope drives, but
never when hunting deer.13

Wild turkeys were hunted only oy the Warm Spring and Bedonkche.
Cne of the authcr's informants revorted that the Warm Spring hunted them
at night, aprarently in small groups. Geronimo reported that the Bedon-
kche drove turkeys from the banks of streams onte the plains, where they
were run down by mounted hunters. The same method was used to take rab-
bits. Opler's informants reported that few Chiricahua ate fowls of any
variety, but never turkeys.14 This fact shall be of great importance in
a later chapter in regards to the failure of the Chiricahua to adopt
poultry raising as an economic activity.

Rodents, such as cottontail rabbits and wood rats, were taken
either by individual hunters, small groups, or in communal drives. Jack

rabbits and prairie dogs were rarely eaten, but were secured in the same

20pler, An Apache Life-Vay, pp. 319, 324, 325, and 327, and
Barrett (ed.), op. eit., p. 31.

30 ’ 3 ~ar ~ e
Bopler An Apache Life-Way, pp. 319-320 and 324-325, and
- ’ y Pi ’
] s 4 4
Gifford, op. eit., pp. 7-3.

/” - - . e -~ .
14360 Barrett (ed.), ops cit., pp. 32-33; and Upler, An Apache
Life-Way, p. 328,
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nanner as other rodents.1d However, rodents and ducks were usually hunted
oy small boys who were too ycung to hunt larger game.16

Large communal surrounds were undertaken to secure antelope,
peccaries, and rabbits. Antelope surrounds were led by hunt masters,
whose offices were not fixed but apparently held only for the duration of
the hunt. Only the /ndecﬁndé{/ band of the Chiricahua hunted peccaries.
The other Chiricahua bands and the Warm Spring wculd not eat these ani-

17 The Warm Spring and Bedonkche hunted

18

bison from horseback in large communal drives.

mals because they ate snakes.

Snakes, coyotes, wolves, wildcats, and turtles were among the
animals not eaten by the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, or Bedonkohe. Bear
meat was strictly taboo among the Chiricshua and Jarm Spring, but was

19 ; : ot :
eaten by the Bedonkche. ~ Britton Davis, who was military supervisor

P Yo Y od

for these tribes from 1334 through 1285, gave the following as the rea-

on for the taboo on beat mest:

w0

after killing
ts of men and

The Apache would %ill a bear but would not tcuch
it. They claimed that bears were the embodied s

women who had committed crimes while in this worl
ing punishment for them. They could be put cut o
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“See Opler, An Apache Life-Way, pp. 325-326; and Gifford, op.

cit., pp. 7-8.

165¢e Upler, An Apache Life-Way, p. 326; and John C. Cremony,
Life Among the Apaches (first trade edition; Tucson: Arizona Silhcuettes,
1954), pp. 27-2%. This bock was first published in 1868 by A. Reman and
Company, Publishers, San Francisco,

See Gifford, op. cit., p. 7; and Opler, An Apache Life-Way,
Ppe 326-327.

193¢e Betzines with Nye, op. cits, ps 34.

198arrett (ed.), op. eit., p. 33; and Gifford, op._cit., p. 106.



62

must not be touched for fear that the departing spirit might enter
the body of the person toushing them.?C

Tevis reported that the Chiricahua would not eat bear meat
because they believed that the spirits of dead warriors sometimes turned
into bears, and argued that this was the reason why bears are so brave.
They seldom attacked bears unless the latter were the aggressors.21 Davis
and Tevis are probably both right in the reasons they give for the tabco
cn bear meat, as the author's informants reported that the Warm Spring
and Chiricahua both believed that the spirits of the departed might be
embodied in bears, owls, coyotes, or wolves. It is odd that the Bedonkohe
ate bears when their neighbors had a morbid fear of these animals. For
this reason, the author takes some reservation in accepting Geronimo!'s
statement that the flesh and hides of bears were used by the Bedonkohe.

Fish were eaten only by the /ndé'indé{/ band of the Chiricahua
and by the Warm Spring, and were taken with either fish spears or arrows.

~

37
River mussels and frog legs were not eaten in aboriginal times.<<

Agricul ture
Opler's 4nformants reported that none of the Chiricshua except

do

U
VL2 Dr g : " .
the /cok?anen/ band did any farming, and these did so on a very limited

2OBritton Davis, The Truth About Geronimo, ed. M. M. Quaife,
foreword by Robert M. Utley (2nd printing; New Haven: Yale University
Press, 1963), p. 110.

21TeviS, ep. cit., p. 130,

See (pler, An Apache Life-lWay, pp. 330-332; Barrett (ed.),
. cit., p. 33; and Gifford, op. eit., pp. 10 and 90,
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scale.*? The Warm Spring and Bedonkche, on the cther hand, were farming
as early as 1750, as was seen in the first chapter. One of the author's
informants reported that agriculture was well entrenched among the Warm
Spring before Spanish contact.

The way old man G. told it, they had been growing corn long before
that., The first one that started it, he said, was this medicine man.
He went away from the band he was living with for about two years;
he was just a hermit. He had this place way up cn a mountain near a
spring with clear water. He grew corn and tobacco up there in a big
field, and stored the corn he didn't eat in some caves. After he
had a2 lot saved up and was ready to plant again, he came back and
told all those people to follow him up there-~he had something he
wanted to show them. They all went up there, and he showed them his
corn. Then he told them he was going to show them how to get that
much corn too, He showed them how to dig those canals, how to use

a digging stick, and plant those seed. Then, when those ears were
ready to pick, he showed them how to harvest that corn and cut the
stalks; and teold them how to dig up the rocts each year when they
were going to plant again. His name was /DédnY-gidé/. G. said that
he was the greatest medicine man who ever lived in the Warm Spring
tribe.

One of Opler's informants reported that only six or seven families
cut of one hundred in a big Warm Spring encampment might clear and plant
fields; that the fields were located on separate tracts of land, and were
sometimes as large as thirty acres. Opler says that it is doubtful that
encampments of one hundred families existed before 1872, and thinks that
e |
this informant must have exaggerated the size of the f'ields."4

Among the Bedonkohe, "It was common for many families to cul-
tivate land in the same valley and share the burden of protecting the

growing crops from destruction by the ponies of the tribe, or by deer

and other animals." The fields were usually no larger than two acres,

23Cpler, An Apache Life-Way, n. 372.

Ch1bid., pe 374
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and were apparently owned by the families who cultivated them,<?

The entire family participated in the planting, cultivaticn,
and harvest among the Warm Spring and Bedonkohe. The men were responsi-
ble for clearing the fields and digging the irrigation canals. When they
were away on hunts or raids, the work in the fields was left tc their
wives and children. The women were excused from agricultural labors if
they were pregnant, sick, or had young children to lock after.

The fields were located near springs, streams, or rivers, and
were irrigated by digging a diteh from the source of water to the edge
of the field. Water was allowed to flow through the diteh until the
field was soaked, then the ditch was dammed with dirt.

The planting began in May ". . . when the ground was soft and
easy to work.," With the harvest coming in the fall, it is obvious that
the growing seascn coincided with the gathering activities of the Warm
Spring and Bedonkohe. It is improbable that any people would take the
trouble to plant crops they have to abandon for long pericds of time.
The authcor assumes, therefore, that extended gathering expeditions were
either made by non-agricultural families, or that they were nct of as
long duration as the evidence seems to suggest. If these expeditions
were made by non-agricultural families, it is obvious that the Warnm
Spring and Bedonkche had achieved some degree of specialization in their
subsistence patterns before these were radically changed through American

contact.

25Barrett (ed.), op« cite, pe 33. The rights of tenure to
agricultural land are discussed in the next section of this chapter.



65
There is one other indication of specialization in the subsisten:
activities of the Warm Spring. One of Opler's informants reported that
the non-agricultural families among these Apache obtained domestic plant
staples by either sharecropping or trading game for surplus crOps.46 The
acquisition of these staples through trade may be an indication that
farmers spent less time hunting than did non-farmers. In this event, both
hunter and farmer benefited from this trade. Betzinez claims that one of
the Bedonkohe chiefs stored dried beef, venison, and maize in caves, then
issued these supplies to needy families during the winter.27 This cer-
tainly eliminated the need for trade in surplus crops among the Bedonkohe.
Unfortunately, there is no way of knowing whether sharecropping was prac-
ticed by this tribe.
Maize was the mest important crop and one of the most important
staples. One of the author's informants reported that the Warm Spring--
« « « raised as much corn as they could, and dried and stored it for
winter., Corn was the most important crop in winter; it was the main
thing they lived on then. . . . There was a good reason why they
grew more corn than anything else. Now we have the refrigerator and
deep freeze, but then they didn't. In that hot climate they lived
in, on a desert--and stuff wouldn't ksep very long in the mountains
in that country either--corn is the only crop that would keep.
Pumpkins and chili they raised too, but they don't keep. Vegetables
like that you have to eat right away, but you can keep corn for a
long time.
Presumably, this statement could apply tc the Bedonkohe as well.
It is obvious that both they and the Warm Spring grew far more maize than

they needed for their subsistence, for it was used in the manufacture

. \ | gl - s . s
of a native corn beer called /tiZwin{/. The recipes given by Tevis

26bpler, An Apache Life-Way, p. 374.

“TBetzines with Nye, op. cite, p. 14.
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and Opler cannot be improved on by the author, except that his informants
G T
reported that the unstrained mash was called /tulpae'/ and was used as
5 T e ) . 28 AV N g
a food substitute and a medicine for kidney trouble.<® As /tizwinil
appears in the literature as tiswin, the latter spelling will be used
throughout the remainder of this study. Cpler claims that the Chirica-
hua obtained the maize they used in the manufacture of tiswin by trade or
¢
theft from the Mexicans, Pueblo, or American settlers.2)
It is important that the reader see the apparent connection
betwsen the consumption of tiswin and what Ernest Beaglehole calls "cul-
tural compensation'", for there is frequent allusion to it in the follow-
ing chapters. This term, as used by Beaglechole--
« « « refers to the emphasizing of cne emotion by a culture, to the
extent that compensation must be offered, either to insure greater
satisfaction from patterned behavior or the satisfaction cf emotional-
impulse drives that receive no overt expressicn in the general pat-
terns of culture,3C
The Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkohe did nct emphasize any
emotion to such a degree., Rather, every individual in these societies
was expected to display a stoic personality.j1 There were, consequently,
many emotional-impulse drives of these Apache that received no overt ex-

pressicn except through some patterned form of cultural compensation.

OCne might expect the conditicns of cultural stress to intensify the

Lsee Tevis, cop. cit., p. 124; and Opler, An Apache Life-Vay,

pp 0 369'—370 .

29Opler, An Apache Life-Way, p. 369.

30Ernest Beaglehole, "A Note on Cultural Compensabticn," Journsl
of Abnormal and Social Psychology, XXXIIT (1933), p. 121.

3This is based on the statements of the author's informants.
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anxieties and tensions of these Apache, thus increasing the need for
cultural compensation.
Beaglehcle says that, "if a culture does not have patterned forms
of cultural compensation, it must contain a semi-institutionalized scope

which allows the deviant some place in social 1ife."?? Social and sexual

()
W

deviants were rare in Chiricahua, Warm Spring, or Bedonkohe sceciety.
It seems certain, then, that tiswin parties provided a patterned form of
cultural compensation.

Before passing on tc the next section, it should be said that
maize, frijole beans, pumpkins, and squash appear tc have been the only
crops raised by the Warm Spring and Bedonkohe before Spanish contact.
Gifford's and the authcr's informents agree that watermelons, cantelope,
chili, potatoes, peas, domestic onions, and tomatoes were introduced by

the Spanisrds, Mexicans, or Americans.34

Subsistence from Raiding

Cne of Opler's informants reported that the Chiricahua hunted
and ate wild cabttle before American contact (1356). Domestic cattle,
horses, mules, and burrcs, acquired through raiding into Mexico, were
also eaten. The stolen cattle were herded beside the rivers in Chirica-
hua territory, where they were allowed to increase and were killed as

they were needed for food.?? Tevis reported that the Chiricahua

3“Beaglehole, op. cite., p. 123.

333ee Opler, An Apache Life-Way, pp. 79-80, 247, 249-251, 415,
and 416; and Barrett (ed.), op. cit., p. 30.

Jhgifford, op. cit., pp. 17-20 and 57.

35bplor, An Apache Life-Way, p. 327.
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preferred the flesh of mules and horses to that of deer or antelcpe.zc

The author's informants indicated that beef and mutton ranked
second and third to venison as meat staples among the VWarm Spring, and
declared that every edible part of the cattle was used except the milk.
Two cof the informants stated that the Warm Spring did not eat the flesh
of horses, mules, or burros except when game was scarce.

Geronimo reported that the Bedonkche dried the beef of the cattle
they stole anc stored it in the hLides of these animals until it was needed
during the winter. Mules were not eaten by this tribe, but were killed
if they could not be disposed of through trade. It is improbable that
horses were eaten either, for the Bedonkohe are reputed to have raised
these animals during the 1820's and 1830's for trade to the Mexicans.>'

Opler's informants reported that, though raiding was a completely
voluntary activity, those Chiricahua men who failed to participate were
considered lazy. C(ne of Ghem stated that non-participation could be ac-
counted for by the fact that success in raiding was believed to spoil
one's‘1UCk in hunting deer. This may be a further indication of special-
ization in subsistence activities, for Chiricahua raiding parties usually
consisted of from five to ten men. As Upler identified the Warm Spring

as a Chiricahua band, these diagnostics may apply bto them as well.””
) J ar

The Cwnership and Exchange of Property

Land was apparently the only property among the Chiricahua, Warn

-
S

FBarrett (ed.), op. eit., p. 76; and USAAMCM, op. cit., p. 10

ac
““Opler, An Apache Life-lay, pp. 332-334.
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Spring, and Bedonkohe that could not be disposed of by gift or sale.
Geronimo suggested the reason for this as follows:
Thus it was in the beginning: the Apaches and their homes each
created for the other by Ussen h%mself. When they are taken from
their homes they sicken and die.”

"Usen," or "Yusn," was the Creator in Chiricahua, Varm Spring,
and Bedonkohe mythology.AO In this sense, Geronimo seems t¢ have implied
that these three tribes conceived of a supernatural bond between them—
selves and the land over which they rcamed. They could nct part with
the land in any way, except by inheritance, without offending "Usen" and
thus inviting their own doom through sickness and death.

It is necessary to discuss landed property among these three
tribes in terms of (1) hunting and gathering areas, (2) agricultural land,
and (3) family campsites, for a different rule of ownership applied to

each.

Hunting and Gathering Areas. Each Chiricahua band possessed its

own hunting and gathering areas. These were mutually exploited by the
four bands of the tribe except when any two or more of them were engaged
in a feud.41 Gifford's Warm Spring informant reported that hunting and
gathering areas within the territory of this tribe were communally owned.

However, one of the author's informants, when asked about property rights

39 i i a 2 4
3’B&I’I‘Cuu (&Bd-), 9_20 Cltl., p. 15-

AOCplar, in _Apache Life-lay, pp. 220 and 194; and Barrett (ed.),
ope eite, pe 14, M"Usen" is derived from the Spanish "Dios",

4Gifford, op. cit., pp. 70 and 167,

421bid., p. 70.
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to piflon and ocak groves among the Warm Spring, replied:
When the pifions got ripe, the bands would go out to pick them. The
first fanily who got there would pick out the pateh they wanted and
set up their camp there. The other families would pick ocut cther
patches. . . . They each had their own pateches; they didn't pick
pifions on another person's area. They respected each other's rights,
but they didn't pick the same place every year. They kept it [the
private pifion grove] for just one season.

It will be recalled that the /%d¢ Y841/ band of the Chiricahua
apparently gathered pifion nuts in the territory of the Warm Springs band
of the Warm Spring tribe., The author assumes that the former band fell
within the provisions of the Warm Spring rule of tenure in pifion groves.
The piflon groves in the Almagre Mountains were in the territory of the
Bedonkche and were apparently exploited by the three northern bands of
the Chiricahua and the Mimbreno band of the Warm Spring in addition to
the Bedonkohe., There is, unfortunately, no information of any type on
property rights among the Bedonkohe except with respect to agricultural

land and horses.

Agricultural Land. It will be recalled that agricultural land

among the Warm Spring and Bedonkohe was owned individually by the fami-
lies who cleared, planted, and cultivated the fields. Gifford's Warm
Spring informant reported that the fields of these Apache were inherited
after the death of the owners, but was confused as to the prevailing rule
of inheritance. Apparently, the children of the deceased had first rights
to the agricultural land outstanding. Second priority went to the other
consanguineal and affinal relatives of the deceased. If the fields were

left fallow during any season, anyone else in the tribe might claim them.4”

43Gifford, op. cite, pp. 70 and 167-163,
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One of the author's informants stated that the Warm Spring did
not fence their fields. Among the Bedonkche, where several families
farmed together in the same valley, there were no boundary markers to
separate one family's field from another's. The boundaries between their
fields were apparently agreed upon by these families.44

Family Campsites. One cof the author's informants, when asked

whether a family had the right to return to a campsite once they had
left it, replied:

They always have the right to come back but, if they move away,

they might letv cthers know their intention. Other Apaches don't

want to live where they know somecne else has lived. They stay

away from it, because there may be scme danger lurking there (i.e.,
the spirits of the.dead were thought to haunt the old homestead;
dreams or apparitions of the dead were thought to cause sickness

or death). When a family leaves, they try to take everything that's
of any valuve at all. If they have a cloth or canvas on that house,
they take it, but the brush and poles are left. If someone else

died there in that camp, . . . they would never come back to it. But
if no one died there that they can remember, they would probably go
back if it was a good place to camp and there is still plenty of food
arcund, water, and good firewood. They have the right to de that if
they want. Other Apaches will be suspicious and stay away while
theyt!re not there.

This informant was apparently referring to the rights of tenure
in campsites among the Warm Spring and Chiricahua.%’ There is no coi-
parable information with regard to family campsites among the Bedonkohe,

The Ownership of Stock. Opler's informants reported that the

majority of the horses possessed by the Chiricahua were the individual
property of the men. The women obtained horses by gift or in payment for

ceremonlal services. The cattle taken on raids were divided amcng the

4gee Barrett (ed.), op. eit., p. 33.

4)See Opler, An Apache Life-Way, p. 475.
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raiders and became their personal property. The author assumes that the
mules, burros, and sheep acquired through raiding or trade were alsc
individually owned among the Chiricahua.46

One of the author's informants reported that stock were the
property of the entire family among the Warm Spring, not of individuals.
It is difficult to tell how stock was owned among the Bedonkche, though
Mahko, the chief of this tribe during the 18330's, is reported to have
raised hundreds of horses for trade with the Mexicans, and to have em-
ployed twelve herders at all times., Betzinez stated that these herders
received horses, saddles, bridles, and firearms in payment for their
services. 47

The Ownership of Domestic Articles. The wickiup and all domestic

articles among the Chiricahua were made by the women and were their prop-
erty. Likewise, all of the articles manufactured by the men or obtained
by them through any means were their own pTOperty.45 The author's in-
formants reported that, among the Warm Spring, the dwelling and all do-
mestic articles were the property of the nuclear family as a whole. How-
ever, each Warm Spring man possessed his own weapons, which he held full
title to.

Borrowing. Among the Chiricahua and Warm Spring, individuals
might obtain those articles they could not otherwise acquire by borrowing

from their kinsmen. Cne of the author's informants reported that anything

&
45500 Opler, An Apache Life-Way, pp. 327 and 395.

4TUSAAMCM, op. cit., p. 100; and Betzinez with Nye, op. ¢it.,
pe 14

433e¢e Opler, An Apache Life-iay, pp. 397-398.
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borrowed had to be returned in as good condition as it was when received.
If an animal were borrowed and was returned in worse conditiocn than it
was when received, the debtor had to pay the creditor for the full value
of the animal when it was received. If an individual were about to die
without having paid his debts, he might tell his family to lay aside some
of his property with which to pay them., Otherwise, all of his personal
property was destroyed after his death and the debts were forgotten. His
kinsmen might donate some of their property to help pay the debts, though
they were not cbligated to do so.

Gift-giving. Opler's informants reported that gift-giving took
the place of trade within the Chiricahue tribe, However, therec was the
feeling that the exchange of property by gift obligated the recipient by
an implicit reciproecity to be worked out in individual relations.49 Cne
of the author's informants reported that blankets or beaded articles
were exchanged by gift among the Warm Spring, but horses were not. The
Warm Spring rarely gave gifts to their kinsmen, who were obligated to
assist each other in time of need by the mere fact of their kinship.
Gifts were more often given to the members of other tribes who came to

visit rather than to trade, thus extending the reciprocal cbligations of

material and moral assistance beyond the tribe.

Trade
Britton Davis has given the best statement on Chiricahua and

Warm Spring trade to be found in any source:

493ee Cpler, An Apache Life-Way, p. 399.
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+ « « Frequently large bands of the Indians, or even the entire
Chiricahua and Warm Springs tribes, would patch up a peace with the
authorities of the small Mexican towns and camp near them for
wecks or months at a stretch, trading to the citizens of Chihushua
ponies and other loot collected in Sonora; or reversing the process
if the town was in Scnora.

The principal articles of barter which the Indians craved and
could not obtain in their mountain homes were tobaccc and mescal,
both products of the hot lowlands of Scnora and Sinalca and mediums
of exchange with the neighboring states of Chihuahua and Durango.
Bartering for mescal was not entirely devoid cof risk for the Indian.
Cn more than one occasion a mescal drunk in a friendly town had
afforded opportunity to the citizens of the town to add a few good
Indians to their score. Such a breach of hospitality would, of
course, be resented by the Indians and war with that fown would
follow until the matter was forgotten, or an eguivalent number of
Mexicans had been cut off in their prime. These affiliations with
the Mexicans usually took place in the winter months, when the

~

Indians were driven from the mountains by snow.20

Cpler says that, among the Chiricahua, trsde was more likely to
be intertribal than intratribal. Though some Chiricahua women made coiled
pottery, those who did nct acquired it through trade with the pottery
makers of the tribe or with the Puebloan tribes and the Navaho. Trade
within the tribe, when it did occur, was achieved by approaching the owner
of the desired article and offering whatever was required to induce him
to part with it.2]

One of the author's informants reported that the Warm Spring
obtained pottery from the Puebloan tribes in exchange for baskets. The
wares thus obtained were undecorated, the Warm Spring preferring to put
their own designs on them. This tribe also did considerable trade with
the Mexicans in the settlements along the Rio Grande, exchanging baskets,

beaded goods, and dolls for cloth, canvas, or other desired articles.

£, § A
50Britton Davis, ops ¢it., p. 182,

51fmler, An Apache Life-Way, pp. 383-334 and 398,
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One of the author's informants stated positively that the Warm Spring did
not trade hides,

Geronimo reported that the Bedonkohe did a sizeable trade with
the Navaho and Mexicans. Trade with the latter was conducted at Ramos
and Casas Grandes, Chihuahua. Geronimo did not indicate what was given
or received by the Bedonkche in trade except that blankets were obtained

-
from the Navaho in exchange for mules.2®

Political COrganization

A1l peclitical leaders among the Chiricahua were called nént?é,
: S g 7 A BF
while those among the Warm Spring were called nantua. The leaders
among both tribes and the Bedonkohe were ranked according to the size of
the social group over which their authority extended. For this reascn,
the author has discussed the leadership of these groups from the smallest
to the largest.

Extended Family Headmen. Married men were the heads of their

households and spoke for their wives and children, married or single.
When the children married and brought their husbands or wives to live in
their father's village, depending upon the rule of marital residence,
the father became the leader of an extended family and gained in pres-
tige. In the event that a serious matter, such as a witcheraft trial,
brought all of the members of the local group together, the heads of the
extended families monopolized the discussion and forced the decision.

The /ké{'hhéhé/ band of the Chiricahua were governed by extended family

72Barrett (ed.), op. cib., pp. 13, 43, 64 and 76.

[)BSQC' GiffC»I‘d, LR. Cito’ T‘- 175-
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headmen alone, but the tribal chief of the Chiricahua discussed any
54

proposed move with them.

Local Group Leaders. The most forceful of the extended family

headmen was the recognized leader of his loeal group. It was their
loyalty to this local group leader and their trust in his wisdom that
held the extended families comprising a loecal group together. Among the
other extended family headmen, there were those who were distinguished
for their wealth, bravery, or exceptional ceremonial knowledge and whose
status was nearly equal to that of the loecal group leader., These men
served as advisers to the leader and could be considered the inner circle
of the local group council. Among the Warm Spring and Chiricahua, the ex-
tended family headmen on the local group council held their positions for
1ife 92

Band Chiefs. The most dominating cf the local group leaders
within a band became the band chief, Occasionally, the members of two
different local groups would consider their respective leaders to have
equal ability. Then, when these two local groups joined forces, author-
ity was fairly evenly divided between their respective leaaders.56 This
may explain why Vietorio and Loco shared the leadership of the Warm
Springs band of the Warm Spring tribe after the death of Delgaditoc in

155,97

Shgee Cpler, An Apache Life-lWay, pp. 463-404; Matson and
Schroeder, op. ¢it., ps 341; and Gifford, op. ¢it., p. 174.

550p1&r, An Apache Life-Wlay, p. 164; and Gifford, op. cit.,

D 1740
56Gp1€r, An Apache Life-Way, p. 464,

7T3ee USAAMCM, op. cibe, D+ 164
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As stated earlier in this study, the Bedonkohe were nct divided
intc bands before the 1830's. The most respected local group leader of
this tribe apparently became the tribal chief. After the death of Mahko,
their last chief, during the 1830's, the Bedonkohe affiliated with the
Mimbreno band of the Warm Spring and accepted the authority of Mangas
Coloradas. The majority of the Bedonkohe left the Mimbrefic band in 1861
and affiliated with the Chiricahua., They apparently accepted the Chiri-
cahua leaders as their own then.53

Tribal Chiefs. The evidence of tribal leadership among the

Chiricahua 1s rather confusing. Tevis stated that Cochise succeedcd his
father as tribal chief of the Chiricahua, but indicated that the former

9 ‘ . "
55 This may mean that Cochise was the most re-

was also a band chief,
spected band chief among the Chiricahua and held a higher pcsiticn than
the cther band chiefs. However, it is evident that the /ndécindé{/
band orf the Chiricahua accepted nc leader of a higher positicn than
their band c:hiee:i‘.{)O This may explain why twe of the author's infcrmants
identified this band as a ssparate tribe. The author will assume, on a
tentative basis, that Cochise was accepted as the tribal chief of the

Chiricahua by the /géﬁ?énén/, /kdf-ahéné/, and /3137ydnd/ bands alone,

o
5“Ibid., po. 44 and 101,
2ITevis, op. cib., pp. 95-96 and 115.

P,
OOSQ" Thomas T. Jeffords, United States Special Indian Agent,
Chiricahua Apaches, Chiricahua Indian Agency, Sulphur Springs, Arizona,
August 31, 1873, to the Honorable Edward P. Smith, Commissioner of In-
dian Affairs, Washington, D. C., Annual Report of the Commissicner of
Indian Affairs to the Secretary of the Interior for the Year 1873
(Washington: U, S. Government Printing Office, 1374), p. 291.
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out remained the chief of his own band, which Gifford said was the
/ké{'éhénéy.é1
As will be seen in the next chapter, the Warm Spring had no
tribal chief before 1858, when Mangas Coloradas became the chief of beth
the Warm Spring and Bedonkohe tribes., He was succeeded, after his death
in 1863, by Loco and Victorio as dual tribal chiefs.
War Chiefs. Chiricahua war chiefs were called nagatyoyen
?

£ &
nant ‘a

» meaning "war chief" or "war leader," and were always shamans.
The Warm Spring war party selected a leader aporoved by the band or
tribal chief. His office lasted only for the duration of the war, and
he was called nantin while he cccupied his offiee. Warm Spring war
chiefs were not shamans, but simply men distinguished by their prowess,
Sometimes, the civil chief on the warpath would try to deter Chiricahua
warriors if the war chief had a dream of impending doom., It is prcbable
that war chiefs among the Bedonkche were also shamans, for Geronimo was
both a war leader and a shaman.62

The Qualifications for Leadership. Opler's informants indicated
£ -

that those men who became local group leaders and chiefs came from fami-
lies of great wealth and influence. However, they had to possess con-
giderable wisdom, political awareness, prowess, and a willingness to

. PP -
assume their responsibilities. The question of a man's birth and status

seems to have had little effect upon the qualifications for leadership

61gifrord, ope Cite, Do 4e

R ]

’ZOpLer, An Apache Life-Way, p. 200.

63101d., pp. 465-467.
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among the Warm Spring, as is indicated by the following statements by
one of the author's infoermants:

You know, a chief has to be a very smart man. He has to be able to
see everything in its right perspective. He must be able to see
into the future and understand it's relationship to the present and
the past, and he must be able to contrcl his people and lead them

in the right way of living. You see, he must show his character to
the pecple--his merits and abilitics--that makes him fit to be their
chief.

There is something else he must dc to show himself before he
beccmes a chief. (f course he must be a good warrior and show that
he can protect his people when they are in danger, but this is an
everyday thing. . . . Young Apache men who wanted to show their
qualifications for being chief would get up early in the morning
before anyone else and go through the camp talking to the pecple and
advising them. That way a young man lets himself be heard. He tells
them how they should raise their children, how to teach them so they
will become gocd Apaches. He tells the men to be good husbands to
their wives, kind, gentle, and faithful, and the wives to do the same
by their husbands. He teaches them about medicines and how to cure
diseases; the men and the women not to drink, and advises those that
do to stop it and live like decent folks; and the women not to fight
with each other over the men. He tells the parenbts to treat their
kids with respect and the kids to obey their parents.

There may be several different men doing that at the same time.
The people listen to all of them and judge for themselves which man
1g best suited to lead them., Then, when the chief gets old, he calls
his council of the old timers, and representatives from the camps go
to them and tell them their choice. They talk over the young man's
qualifications. Then, if they can all agree on one certain man, he
becomes a sub-chief until the old cne dies.

There is one other way a man can become chief. The chief of our
people might choose one of his sons, or a nephew, or some other rela-
tive to follow him as leader of the tribe. He would start teaching
that boy earefully, talking to him and teaching him by example.

They would discuss things and the old man would ask this boy's ad-

vice. That way he finds out if that boy is fit tc take cver. May-
be he doesn't want the responsibility or has too little confidence

in himself. Then they must let the people pick their own leader to
follow that chief.

\s these statements indicate, succession to the position of band
or tribal chief amcng the Warm Spring was either hereditary or decided
by the votes of the members of the band or tribal councils. Cpler's

informants gave the same information with respect to the succession of
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leaders among the Chiricahua.64 However, there is clear evidence that
succession to the position of tribal chief among the Chiricshus was
hereditary after the death of Cochise's father sometime in the 1350's.
Cochise succeeded his father as chief of the tribe and was succeeded
after his death in 1874 by his eldest son, Taza. Taza died two years
later and was succeeded by his younger brother, Naiche.65
No leader among the Chiricahua and Warm Spring possessed

absolute authority, for not everyone would heed their advice., If a
leader lost favor with his followers, he might either abdiecate in favor

of a successor or be deposed by another leader appointed by the council.>”

Intertribal Alliances

Tevis led a raiding party of Chiricahus and Coyoterc Apache
into Sonora in 1359 and reported that another joint raid of the Chiri-
cahua, Warm Spring, Coyotero, and Mescalero into the territory of the
Navaho had cccurred the same year. However, he gave no other indicaticn
of how these alliances were formed other than that these tribes hoped
to have more success on these raids by combining their fcrces.67

There is little doubt as to how intertribal alliances were

formed by the Warm Spring. Cremony reported that:

64Gifford, op. cite, ps 75; and Opler, An Apache Life-Way,

4.
O55ee Tevis, op. eib., ps 115; and USAAMCM, op. cit., p. 25
—— el .._.El ———t }

1/ ‘ = . 2
9gee Opler, An Apache Life<lWay, pp. 469-470.

OTevis, op. cite, pp. 156-167.
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« + « Mangas (Coloradas], in one of his raids intc Scnora, carried
off a handsome and intelligent Mexican girl, whom he made his wife,
to the exclusion of his Apache squaws. This singular favoritism
bred some trouble in the tribe for a short time, but was suddenly
ended by Mangas challenging any of the offended brothers or rela-
tives of his discarded wives. Two accepted the wager, and both were
killed in fair ducl., By his Mexican wife Mangas had three really
beautiful daughters, and through his diplomatic ability, he managed
to wive cne with the chief of the llavajoes; another with the leading
man of the Mescalerc Apaches; and the third with the war chief of
the Coyoteros. By doing so, he acquired a very great influence in
these tribes, and whenever he desired, could obtain their assistance
in his raids.>”

Une of Cochise's wives was the daughter of Mengas Coloredas by
another wife.ég The Bedonkohe appear to have formed a political alliance
with the /%d¢-1%44f/ band of the Chiricahua through the marriage of
Juh, who was a chief of the latter, with a daughter of Mahko, the last
chief of the Bedonkohe,’C Intermarriage obviously extended the recip-
rocal obligations between affines beyond the structural limits of a
single tribe. Thus, the greater the extent of intermarriage between any

two tribes, the strongsr was the alliance between them.

Gt
““Cremony, op. eit., ppe 47-48.

50USAAMCM, op. cit., p. 25,

O1pid., p. 77,



CHAPTER IV
THE SEPARATE RESERVATION POLICY: 1370-1375

Although this study of the impact of American culture cn the
social structures of the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkche Apache
begins with the year 1870, it is necessary to give an account of the full
range of American contact with these tribes. This will provide a basis
by which the author may analyze the reactions of these tribes to Ameri-
can culture since the earliest contact with each tribe. The guthor has
divided the discussion cof American conbact with these tribes befcre 1870
into two sections. The first deals with contact between Americans and
the YWarm Spring and Bedonkche; the second with that between Americans
and the Chiricahua, It will be recalled that both bands cf the War
Spring and the "Mogollon," or Bedonkche, were referred to as the "Gila
Apache" before 1372, This designation, as used in the following pages,
refers to these three groups.

American Contact with the "Gila Apache!
before 12870

There is no evidence of American contact with the "Gila Apache"
before 1525, During the summer of that year, Sylvester Pattie and his
narty of American fur trappers had been working their way down the San

Pedro River when their horsee were stolen by Apache raiders. They cached

4y
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their furs and went on foot to Santa Rita del Cobre, a mining settlement
established by the Spaniards in 1304, where the present Santa Rita, liew
Mexico, stands.! When the trappers returned to their cache several weeks
later, they found that it had been looted. The substance of their labors
lost, they returned to Santa Rita, where the alcalde proposed that Fattie
lease the copper mine at the cost of one thousand dollars a year. Pattie
readily accepted the offer., As the Apache in the vieinity cof Santa Rita
—--probably the Mimbrefic band of the Warm Spring--had effectively halted
the mining operations through their intermittent raids, Pattie began
formulating a plan to draw them into a treaty.

This treaty was effected on August 5, 1525, It is significant
that the Apache chief told Pattie that his tribe were eager to form
friendly relations with the Americans, whom they believed showed no dis-
position to kill except in battle and no desire to disturb the tribe's
occupation of the territory they held. In the weeks that followed, the
\pache rounded up all stray stock in the country about Santa Rita and
drove them intc the settlement. Hunters came every day to hunt with the
trappers, receiving lessons in marksmanship with the rifle in return for
their friendship. They even offered in sale to the inhabitants of Santa
Rita turkey and venison, their two most important game resources. The
alcalde bought the meat even when it was not needed out of fear of of-

fending the Apache.

1see John M. Sully, "The Story of the Santa Rita Copper Mine,"
01ld Santa Fe, A Magazine of History, Archaeology, Genealogy and Biog-
raphy, ed. Ralph Emerson Twitchell, III, No. 10 (April, 1916), pp.
133-135. Tevis, op. cit., pp. 33 and 109-110, indicates that the
Chiricahua and Warm Spring did some mining on their own.
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It appears that Pattie's party were also the first Americans to
contact the Bedonkohe Apache, though Betzinez says that the first Ameri-
cans seen in Bedonkohe territory were Mormon settlers. Pattie met an
Apache chief at Santa Rita named Mocho Mano, whose first name bears a
marked resemblance to that of the Bedonkohe chief at this time, Makho.2

During the 1830's and 1840's, the Apache of southwestern New
Mexico were engaged in a lucrative trade with the Americans at Santa Fe,
who exchanged arms, ammunition, and whiskey for stock and plunder taken
by the Apache on raids into Sonora and Chihuahua. This trade came to an
abrupt end in 1848, following the close of the war between the United
States and the Republic of Mexico.3

The United States signed the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo with
the Republic of Mexico on February 2, 1848. The latter government ceded
to the former sovereignty over a vast amount of land known as the Mexican
Cession Territory, which included the territories of the Warm Spring and
Chiricahua Apache.4 Under Article 11 of this treaty, the United States
bound itself to: (1) restrain the Indians of the southwestern United
States from raiding into Mexico, or, in case of failure to do so, to give
full satisfaction for these breaches of the agreement; (2) to forbid any

American to acquire either property or captives taken on these raids; (3)

2Timothy Flint (ed.), The Personal Narrative of James O. [Ohio]
Pattie of Kentucky. Historical introduction and footnotes by Milo
Milton Quaife (Chicago: The Lakeside Press for R. R. Donnelly and Sons,
Co., Christmas, 1930), pp. 104-107, 111-118, and 120-121.

2
“See Smith, op. cit., p. 20; and Josiah Gregg, Commerce of the
Prairies, ed. Max L. Moorehead (Norman: The University of Oklahoma Press,
1954), p. 202. The latter source is a revised edition of the first two

editions, published in 1844 and 1845, respectively.

4

AJﬂzhv, ops gites ps 427,
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to rescue all captives brought into the United States from Mexico; and
(4) to return these captives to agents designated by the Mexican Govern-
ment.5 American relations with the WVarm Spring became strained as a
result of attempts to live up tc these agreements.

John Russell Bartlett, the American Commissioner on the United
States and Mexican Boundary Commission, made his headquarters at Santa
Rita, lNew Mexico, from January, 1350, until late August, 1851. Mangas
Coloradas, Delgadito, and a dozen more Apache met with him on June 23,
1851. Bartlett informed them of the terms of Article 11 of the treaty.
Mangas Coloradas promised that his people would not harm.the Americans
and Mexicans and would return all sbtolen or stray stock belonging to the
Commission.

The friendly relations between the Warm Spring and the American
Boundary Commission were extremely tenuous. A few weeks after the meet-
ing between these Apache and Bartlett, it was discovered that four hun-
dred Navaho were encamped on the Gila River thirty miles ncrthwest of
Santa Rita. James C. Cremony, the interpreter for the American Boundary
Commissicn, learned in later years that these Havahco had come to help
Mangas Coloradas drive the Americans out of Santa Rita and seize all of
their property. In the event of success, onc half of the plunder was to
be given to the Navaho.

Several incidents occurred at this time which threatened tc end

the uneasy peace between the Americans and the Warm Spring. The first

involved the rescue of several Mexican captives by the Commission; the

%See Loeckwood, op. cit., p. 32.
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second, the murder of a Warm Spring warrior by a Mexican enployee of the
Commission. The Warw Spring chiefs made vigorous protests, but Bartlett
refused to concede to their demands, and the Apache were forced Lo accept
gifts or money to redress their wrongs.6

Gold was discovered a few miles from Santa Rita during the early
summer of 1851, and several mines were opened in the area. The Varm
Spring resented this intrusion of their territory and began raiding both
the American Boundary Commission and the miners.7 Friendly relations
between the Americans and the Warm Spring Apache were not restored until
four years later. David Merriwether, Governor of New Mexicc and Super-
intendent of Indian Affairs in the Territory, negotiated a treaty with
the Mimbres band then and appéinted Michael Steck as their agent.'i

While the fimbres settled down to farming con the river of the
same name, the Mogollon--presumably the Mimbreno band of the Warm Spring
and the Bedonkohe--continued raiding in Soccrro and Valencia Counties,
New Mexico., The Mimbres kept Steck informed as to who had been on the
raids and where they were camped with the stclen stock. They even offered
to go as guides for punitive expeditions against the Mogollon. In April,

1857, Colonel R. C. Bonneville, military commander of the Department of

68@@ Lockwood, op. cit., pp. 87-88; and Cremony, op. cit., pp.
23, 33, 1;’3-51, and 59‘-710

7Cremony, op. cit., pp. 30-82,

“David Merriwether, Governor and Superintendent of Indian
Affairs in New Mexico, Office of the Superintendent of Indian Affairs,
Santa Fe, September, 1855, to G. W. Manypenny, Commissioner of Indian
Affairs, Washington, D. C., Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian
AMffairs, Transmitted with the Message of the President at the Crnening of
the Twenty-fourth Congress, 1355 (Printed for the Office of the Commis-
sioner of Indian Affairs; Washington: A. O. P. Nicholsen, 1856), p. 137.
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New Mexico, led a campaign against the Mogollon., The Mimbres feared
that the troops would not be able to distinguish between hostile and

pacific Apache and moved southward into the Florida Mountains until the

e

campaign was over.’
Apparently, both bands suffered as a result of this campaign,
for Steck reported in 1859 that--

The Gila Apaches embrace what were formerly called the Mimbres and
Mogellon bands. These Indians have decressed in numbers very
rapidly during the last two years. They never have recovered from
the effects of the campaign made into their country, twe years ago,
by Colonel Bonneville, They were then compelled to scatter in
every direction for safety. Most of them ran into the republic of
Mexico, and there, exposed to the heat and malaria of the low
country, many of them died., Before the war, they numbered cover
four hundred warriors, and now the bands are united, number less
than one hundred and fifty.10

Steck had urged the two bands to effesct this union in 1358. After
iﬁs occurrence, Mangas Coloradas had become the echief of both bands. They
had farmed together on the Mimbres and Palcmas Rivers, and had given every
indication that the uniocn would be a lasting one. The next year, Steck
induced them te plant along Santa Lucia Creek, a tributary of the Gila
River scuth of the Pinos Alteos Mountains. Approximately two hundred and
twenty-five square miles within this area were set aside as a reservation

for these Apache in 1860, 11

IMichael Steck, Indian Agent, Santa Fe, New Mexico, August 7,
1257, to J. V. Denver, Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Washington, D.C.,
Beport of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Accompanying the Annual
Report of the Secretary of the Interior for the Year 1257 (Washington:
William A. Harris, Printer, 1858), p. 229,

'OMichael Steck, Indian Agent, Santa Fe, New Mexico, August 12,
1359, to James L. Collins, Superintendent of Indian Affairs, New Mexico,
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Accompanying the Annual
Report of bthe Secretary of the Interior for the Year 1350 (Washington:
George W. Bowman, Printer, 1860), p. 345.

M gee Michael Steck, Indian Agent, rugust 10, 1358, to Colone]

—
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Unfortunately, the friendly relations that had been established
with the Mimbres and Mogollon went astray in the spring of 1361, Con-
federate troops from Texas seized the southern portions of the present
states of New Mexico and Arizona below the thirty-fourth parallel of
latitude then and preoclaimed this territory the Confederate State of
Arizona. Fearing the presence c¢f so many troops, and encouraged by the
hostile attitude of the miners at Pinos Altos, Hew Mexico, the Mimbres
and Mogollon began raiding Pinos Altos and the agrieulitural settlements
in the valley of the Mimbres River, <

In January, 1863, Mangas Ccloradas was lured into Pinos Altcs for
a conference by a detachment of California Volunteers under Captain E. D.
Shirland and some miners and prospectors. The chief was ordered at gua-
peint to surrender and to tell his followers that he would be released
in ten days if the Mimbres and Mogollon would allow the Americans to pass
through their territory ummolested during this peried. Mangas Coloradas
was subsequently taken to Fort McLean, New Mexico, and turnsd over to

General Josepn R. West, commander of the Department of Arizona. Vest

’D

informed the chief that he was to be held a prisoner for the remaindsr
b

James L. Ccllins, Superintendeat of Indiaa Affairs, New Mexico, Report
of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Accompanying the Annual Report cf
the Secretary of the Interior for the Year 1353 (Washingtcn: William A.
Harris, Printer, 1353), p. 197; and Frank D. Reeve, "The Federal Indian
Policy in Wew Mexico, 1353-1820, IV, Chapter X, The Gila Apache," New

1

Mexico Historical Review, XIII, No. 3 (July, 1933), p. 232.

123¢e J, L. Collins, Superintendent of Indian Affairs, New
Mexico, Office of the Superintendent of Indian Affairs, Santa Fe, New
Mexico, Oetober 10, 1862, to William P. Dole, Commissioner of Iquvqa
Affairs, 'Jashington City, Re vt _of the Commissioner of Indian Affair
for the Year 1862 (Washington: U. S. Government Printing Cffice, 1363),

& |

p. 238; and Reeve, op. cit., pp. 233-234.
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of his life and that he would be killed if he attempted to escape. The
sentinels who were guarding Mangas Coloradas two nights later supposedly
prodded him with heated bayonets. When he arose from his bed to complain
to them about this treatment, the sentinels shot him to death. West then
ordered the troops to attack the camps of the Mimbres and Mogollon for
the rest of the month. >

Although these actions by the Federal troops were intended to
deliver a decisive defeat to the Mimbres and Mogollon, these ipache con-
tinued raiding American settlements in southwestern New Mexicc until the
fall of 1369, Mangas Coloradas was succeeded by Loco and Vietoric as
dual chiefs of the Warm Spring tribe. These two men had previously shared
the leadership of the Mimbres band. The Bedonkohe apparently divided into
several bands after 1863, each under a separate band chief. However,
many of them had disassociated with the Warm Spring in 1861 and affili-
ated with the Chiricahua tribe.l4

In September, 1369, First Lieutenant Charles E. Drew, who had
been appointed agent for the Mimbres and Mogollon, induced Loco to come
into Fort McRae, New Mexico, for a conference. The chief expressed the
desire of these Apache to live at peace with the Americans and toc receive
a reservation west of the Rio Grande, north from the Cooks Range to the
San Mateo Mountains. Drew had a second meeting with Loeco, Vietorioc, and

three band chiefs of the Mogollon on Cetober 10, 1369. Loco said that

gee Lockwood, op. eit., pp. 143-145; and Daniel Ellis Conner,
Joseph Reddeford Walker and the Arizons Adventure, ed. Donald J.
Berthrong and Odessa Davenport (Norman: The University of Oklahoma
Press, 1956), pp. 34-~38.

VAysaaMoM, op. cit., pp. 26 and 44.

C———
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the Mimbres and Mogollon would cease their hostilities if the Government
would issue them food and eclothing, but that they would wait only two
months for an issue.15 Although they received insufficient rations and
were forced to occasionally steal cattle to subsist themselves, the major-
1ty of the Mimbres and Mogollon remained encamped near Cafiada Alamosa—-
the present Monticelic, New Mexico--for the next two and one-half ye,-ars.‘]'O

American Contact with the Chiricahuas ipache
before 1870

The Chiricahua had little contact with Americans before 1856.
Then, the Butterfield Overland Mail Stage Company received permission from
Cochise, the tribal chief of the three northern Chiricahua bands, to estab-
lish a station in Apache Pass. The station was built the next year and
was staffed with ten Americans under Anthony Elder. He was replaced the
next year by James H, Tevis as the station keaper.17

The Chiricahua apparently did not fear the Americans, for the
three northern bands of the tribe established their camps in Apache Pass
near the station. They began rounding up all stock that had strayed from
the station and returned them. In 1859, Cochise became disturbed by the
increasing number of American settlements in southeastern Arizona and
proposed a war of extermination against the Americans at two councils

attended by the Chiricahua and Varm Spring. The Warm Spring chiefs

15Reeve, op. eit., pp. 289-290,

D

290-2%

Q
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0

161p1d., op.
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175ee Tevis, op. eit., pp. 91 and 97-100. This is the best
source on American contact with the Chiricahua befere 1860 and ccntains
good ethnographic data on this tribe,
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slightly favored this proposal, but the other Chiricahua chiefs were
strongly opposed to it. Tevis was ferced to resign his position as sta-
tion keeper at Apache Pass during this year because he had killed one of
Cochise's relatives in self-defense., When he left, over two thousand
Chiricahua were on hand to beg him to stay, saying that, if he left,
", . . they were much afraid they would be listening to Cochise and would
kill the Americans of:f’.”13

Two years later, the Chiricahua did go tc war against the Ameri-
cans. Cochise, his family, a brother, and two nephews were arrested Dy
Second Lieutenant George li. Bascom on false charges of having kidnapped
the adopted son of an American settler. Cochise managed to escape and
led his warriors in attacks on the mail station and a wegon train. They
tock three Americans prisoner and tried for a week to induce Bascom to
make an exchange, but without success. When the Chiricahua killed their
priscners, Lieutenant Isaiah N. Moore, who had relieved Bascom in command
of the broops in Apache Pass, retaliated by hanging Cochise's brother and

nephews. His wife and son were taken to Fort Buchanan, Arizona, and were

19

later released. The Chiricahua subsequently carried on a war with the

American setbttlers in southeastern Arizona for the next nine years.

The Tularosa and Hot Springs Reservations

In 1371, the Board of Indian Commissioners sent their secretary,

Vincent Colyer, to Arizona and New Mexico with full authority te settle

“See Tevis, op. cit., pp. 95-96, 108, 137-142, 165, and 172~

195¢ee Lockwood, cp. ¢it., pps 100-107.



the Apache upon reservaticns.“C As the valley of the Alamcsa River was
heavily populated with Mexicans, Colyer decided to find ancther leeation
for the Mimbres and Mogcllen. He chose the valley of the Tularosa River,
north of the Mogollon Mcuntains, and established it as a reservation for
these Apache on August 29, 1871. The boundaries of the reservation were
ten miles to each side of the river, from its headwaters tc s point
thirty miles down the river.21

Cochise had made a brief visit to Caflada Alamosa in 1870, and
had expressed a desire for peace. However, the inadequacy of the rations
induced him to leave. In September, 1871, he and a number of other
Chiricahua returned to Cafiada Alamosa and remained there until troops
werc sent to move all of the Mimbres, Mogollon, and Chiricahua to the
Tularosa Reservation in May, 1272. Only about four hundred under Loco,
Victorio, and Chica, a Chiricahua leader, were removed to this reserva-
tion. The others fled with Cochise back to Arizcona.<<

The Apache who were scttled on the Tularcsa Reservation began
making vigorous protests about the conditions on the reservation. When

General O. O. Howard, a special Indian Commissioner, visited them in

1372, they complained to him of sickness and death among their children,

-

““Vincent Colyer, "Third Annual Report of the Beard of Indian
Commissioners," Annual Report of the Commissicner of Indian Affairs to
the Secretary of the Interior for the Year 1871 (Washington: U. S.
Government Printing Office, 1872), p. 14.

41Vincent Colyer, "Report on the Lpache Indians of Arizona and
t g !
New Mexico," Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for 1371, pp.
4:7, Zp’:), and ;3.

R2%ee Reeve, cp. e¢it., pp. R93 and 297-299.
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the impurity of the water, the coldness of the climate, and crop failures
due to early frcsts.23

During the two and one-half yecars the Mimbres, Mogollon, and
Chiricahua occupied this reservation, the population fluctuated between
three hundred and thirty during the summer months and six hundred and
sixty-three during the winter. Raiding parties frequently left the reser-
vaticn, returning there with stolen stock which they traded to the Navaho
for blankets. Those who remained on the reservation frequently indulged
in the consumption of tiswin.24

Four hundred of these Apache were removed to the Hot Springs

Reservation in September, 1874. This reservetion included the San Mateo

and Luera Mountaing, the northern reaches of the Black Range, and the

DY

headwaters of the Alamosa River.’5 The Mimbres and Mcgollon were here-
after known as the "Ojo Caliente," or "Warm Spring, " Apache.

Although one hundred families were farming on one hundred acres
of land by the spring of 1875, their agent, John M. Shaw, was of the
opinion that the Warm Spring were better qualified to become stockmen
than farmers. They had apparently completely abandcned raiding, and

26

seened to be ceontented with their new location.

22

““?0, O+ Howard, "Report of Brigadier General (. (. Howard,
United States Army, of his Second Visit as Commissioner to the Apaches of
Arizona and New Mexico, with Papers Accompanying," Annual Report of the
Commigsioner of Indian Affairs to the Secretary of the Interior for the
Year 1372 (Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1372), p. 176.

“43ee Reeve, op. git., pp. 302-303.
25Ibid., p. 303.

2 . " - . =
6See J. M. Shaw, United States Indian Agent, Southern Apache
Indian Agency, Cjo Caliente, New Mexico, September 1, 1875, to Edward P.
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The Chiricahua Reservation

President Grant commissioned General Howard in 1872 to attempt
to make peace with the Chiricahua, and gave him full authority to estab-
lish a reservation for them. Howard went to the Tularosa Reservation
first, where he met Thomas J. Jeffords, an American prospector whe had
established an intimate friendship with Cochise. Jeffords promised to
take Howard to Cochise, and induced Chee, a nephew of Cochise living on
the Tularosa Reservation, to go with them as their guide and a witness to
their friendly intentions. Later, they added Ponce, a Warm Spring rene-
gade, to their party.

They held a conference with Cochise and the Chiricahua band
chiefs on Cetober 11, 1872, Howard says that Cochise was in favor of
settling at Caflada Alamosa—-

« o« o but notwithstanding the ascendancy he had gained over the
Indians, he was not able to take them all there, and confessed that
it would bresk up his band, a part being left to do mischief in
Arizona; but he declared that he could gather in all of his people,
protect the roads and preserve the peace, if the Government would
allow him the Chiricahua country, where his people have always
lived. He plead that it was not right to restrain him from going
and coming like the Mexicans, but ylelded to my reasons for the
necessity of limiting his reservation.

A second conference was held the next day at Dragoon Springs,
Arizona, and was attended by Ccchise, ten other Chiricahua headmen,
Howard's narty, and several officers from Fort Bowie. Howard set the

boundaries of the reservation, and the Chiricahua entered into a treaty

with the Americans. The reservation included a portion cf the Chirieahua,

Smith, Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Washington, D. C., Annual Report
of the Commigsioner of Indian Affairs to the Secretary of the Interior
for the Year 1375 (Washington: U. S. Govermment Printing Office, 1875),
‘ 2
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Northern Peloneille, Dragoon, and Dos Cabezas Mountains and the Sulphur
Springs Valley. Jeffords was appointed agent for the Chiricahua tribe,
subjeect to the approval of the Indian Bureau, and provision was made for
rations for the next sixty days.27

Cochise immediately collected his band--probably the /géﬁ?énén/
and /k4{-%héné/ combined--numbering four hundred and fifty perscns, on
the reservation. The Steins Peak band--the /313°y4nd/ --numbering cne
hundred and fifty persons, came cnto the reservation on October 24. Jef-
fords located the Scuthern Chiricahua band--the /Md€*1%daf/ --numbering
four hundred persons under their chief, Natiza, on November 1. He con-
cluded a treaty with them two days later and brought them onto the reser-
vation. After this, only small parties of Chiricahua remained off the
reservation, in the Sierras Madre CUccidental of Sonora. The band chiefs
promised to prevail upon these small groups to join them on the reserva-
tion as soon as possible.23

It appears that the Chiricshua maintained much of their traditional
economic and social patterns for the next two and one-half years. To avoid
confusion in the presentation of this evidence, the author has divided it
into three sections: (1) economic patterns, (2) political organizaticn,

and (3) social relaticns.

<THoward, op. cit., p. 176; and Major General O. O. Howard, My
Life and Experiences Among our Hostile Indians: A Record of Personal
Cbservations, Adventures, and Campaigns Among the Indians of the Great
West with some Account of their Life, Habits, Traits, Religion, Cere-
monies, Dress, Savage Instincts, and Customs in Peace and War (Hartford:
A, D. Worthington and Company, 1907), pp. 137-1338 and 219-220.,

25Themas J. Jeffords, Report of the Commissioner of Indian
Affairs for 1873, p. 291,
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Economic Patbterns. Cochise agreed with Jeffords that it would

be a good idea for the Chiricahua to learn farming, but doubted that any
of the older cnes would do so. Even had they wanted to farm, it is
deubtful that the Chiricahua could have done so with much satisfaction.
Jeffords reported that there were only two locations on the reservation
that were suitable for farming: the San Simon Cienega and Apache Pass.
During 1374, there had been almost universal sickness among the Chirica-
hua who had camped at the former location, and five of the echildren had
died. Jeffords did not move the agency to Apache Pass until the late
sumner of 1875, too late in the year to start planting.29

As the southern boundary of the Chiricahua Reservation was on
the international boundary between Arizona and Scnora, it was impossible
to prevent the Chiricahua from raiding into Mexico. L. Edwin Dudley,
Superintendent of Indian Affairs for New Mexieo, visited these Apache in
1374. They complained to him that it was impossible for thé chiefs to
curb raiding. The Scnorans would enccurage them to steal horses from
the Americans, then bring them intc Sonora for trade. There were also

Americans in Arizona who offered to buy stock stolen in Sonora.BO

29Thomas J. Jeffords, United States Special Indian Agent for
the Chiricahua Apaches, Chiricahua Indian Agency, Pinery Canycn, Arizona,
September 1, 1374, to E. P. Smith, Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
Washington, D. C., Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs
to the Secretary of the Interior for the Year 1374 (Nashingtcn: i S T
Government Printing Office, 1874), p. 237; and Thomas J. Jeffords, United
States Indian Agent, Chiricahua Apaches, Chiricahua Indian Agency, Apache
Pass, Arizona, August 21, 1375, to E. P. Smith, Commissioner of Indian
\ffairs, Washington, D. C., Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs
for 1375, p«. 210,

XL, Edwin Dudley, Superintendent of Indian Affairs, Office of
the Superintendent of Indian Affairs, Santa F-, New Mexico, June 30,
1874, to E. P. Smith, Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Washington, D. Ces
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for 1374, p. 301,
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Jeffords reported that White Mountain Apache frequently came
onto the Chiricahua Reservation and used it as a refuge after raiding
into Sonora. He and the Chiricahua chiefs attempted to put a step to
this practice, but met with little success. As the White Mountain and a
nunber of Warm Spring and Bedonkohe were living with the /ndécindéf/ on
the reservation, the author assumes that the latter three groups were
involved with the White Mountain on these raids.31

The Apache on the reservation had to limit their gathering and
hunting activities to the boundaries of the reservation, since they ran
the risk of being declared hostiles if found off of it. As they did no
farming, they must have depended heavily upon the raticns issued to them.

Political Crganization. Cochise died in the Dragoon Mountains

on June 3, 1874, of natural causes. He was succeeded by his eldest son,
Taza, as chief of the "Northern Chiricahua"--the /ééﬁ?éhéh/, /k&1{ 4héné/,
and /313’y4nd/ bands. Although Cochise appointed Taza as his succesor,
this appointment was subject to the approval of these bands. Jeffords
held a conference with the Chirieahua headmen after Cochisel!s death, and
was promised that they would honor the terms of the treaty a2s long as hs

b ]
remained their agent.J

Natiza apparently died about the same time as Cochise, for

Jeffords reported that Whe was the chief of the /Pd€-1Pdd{/ in 1375.

Who was alsc known as Juh, and supposedly succeeded his father as chief

AJeffords, Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for
1275, pp. 209-210; and Dudley, op. c¢it., p. 301.

32
“~Jeffords, Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for

1874, pe 238,




98
of this band.”? Tt will be remembered that the /Paé Andgal/ did not
recognize the authority of the Chiricahua tribal chief.

Social Relations. The conditions of reservation life seem to

have had no effect upon Chiricahua social relations except to force the
bands into closer association with each other. As stated above, there
were Varm Spring, Bedonkohe, and White Mountain Apache living on the res-
ervation with the Chiricahua. General Howard reported that Chiricahua
intermarriage appeared to be primarily with members of these tribes.34
This may be an indication that those Mimbres, Mogollon, and White Moun-
tain who were living with the /2d¢-1%d4{/ were either married to members
of this band or the relatives of those who were.

The locations of the separate reservations established for the

Varm Spring, Bedonkche, and Chiricahua Apache from 1360 until 1377 are

depicted on Map 3.

Summary

Although American contact with the Warm Spring and Bedonkohe
began thirty-one years before that with the Chiricahua, the contact ex-
perience of these three tribes with the Americans appears to have been
identical in many respects until 1369, The Americans were received as
friends, and even profited from trade in stock and plunder taken by the

\pache on their raids into Mexico.

33Jeffords, Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for
12375, p. 209; and USAAMCM, op. cit., p. 77,

b YA . o . [ X o Y ~
JAHoward, Report of the Commigsioner of Indian Affairs for
1372, p. 177,
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These friendly relations were broken with the Warm Spring in
1351, The Americans began demanding that the Apache abandon raiding and
surrender all captives taken in Mexico., Gold was found in the Pinos
\ltos Mountains this year, and mines were opened in the area without the
Warm Spring having been consulted. Consequently, they began making raids
on the mining camps and American settlements in their tribal territory.

)\ treaty was negotiated with the Mimbres, or Warm Springs, band in 1855.
They were given an agent, abandoned rasiding, and began farming on the
Mimbres and Palomas Rivers.

The Overland Mail Stage Company established a staticn in Apache
Pass the next year and maintained it until 1261. During this time, the
Chiricahua had frequent and friendly relations with the American person-
nel at the station. Although Cochise tried to induce his tribe to wage
a war of extermination against the Americans, who were encroaching on
Chiricahua territory, he was opposed by the other band chiefs.

In 1858, following the defeat of the Mimbreno band and the
Bedonkohe by a military expedition under Colenel R. C. Bonneville, the
two bands of the Warm Spring and the Bedonkohe were united under the lead-
ership of Mangas Coloradas. They began farming together in the same lo-
cations and gave no indication of hostile feelings towards the Americans.
Two years later, they were given a reservation near the present Silver
City, lew Mexico, but did not have a chance to live on it but one year.
The invasion of southern New Mexico by Confederate forces from Texas in
1361 removed them from Gpvernment control and supervision. Consequently,
they began making raids on American mining and agricultural settlements

in southwestern New Mexico.
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Cochise, his family, and three consanguineal relatives were
arrested the same year on false charges of having kidnapped the son of
an American settler. Cochise managed to escape, and led his warriors in
attacks on the mail station in Apache Pass and a wagon train in the viein-
ity of the pass. They tock three prisoners and attempted te induce the
troocps who were holding the other hostages to exchange their priscners
for those held by the Chiricahua. Vhen they were refused, they killed
their three prisoners and the troops retaliated by hanging a brother and
two nephews of Cochise. The Chiricashua then began a war of extermination
against the Americans in southeastern Arizona.

The majority of the Warm Spring and Bedonkche made peace with
the Americans in 1869 and remained on the Alamosa River for the next two
and one-half years, in hopes that the Govermment would give them a reser-
vation in the area. They were given a reservation on the Tularosa River,
north of the Mogollon Mountains, in 1272, but only four hundred of them
could be induced to go there. The others joined the Chirieahua in Avri-
zona., Those whe remained on the Tularcsa Reservation made frequent raids
into Mexico or spent their time in consumption of tiswin. These were
clearly reactions against their inveluntary removal from their tribal
lands. In 1874, they were returned to the Alamosa River and were given
a reservation in the area, known as the Hot Springs Reservation. They
were apparently satisfied with the location, abandoned raiding, and began
farming again.

The Chiricahua were given a reservation on their own tribal lands
in southeastern Arizona in 1872. As no attempts were made to introduce

agriculture or stock raising, these Apache had no economie activity with
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which to occupy themselves on the reservation. Their confinement to the
boundaries of the reservation severely limited their hunting and gather-
ing activities. These conditions, and the fact that the southern boundary
of the reservation was on the border between Arizona and the Mexican
State of Sonora, made it impossible to curb raiding, though the chiefs
made henest attempts to do sc.

Although there were several changes in the leadership of the
Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkche tribes, and of the composite bands
of the first two tribes, they followed the traditional modes of succes-
sion. In conclusion, it appears that there were only two major social
changes among these tribes after American contact until 1276: (1) the
affiliation of the Bedonkohe with the Warm Spring and Chiricahua; and
(2) the abandonment of raiding by the Warm Spring and Bedonkohe whc were

located on the Hot Springs Reservation.



CHAPTER V

FACTIONALISM: 1376-1336

The Feud Between Skinya and Taza

The Commissioner of Indian Affairs informed Agent Jeffords in
February, 1376, that no more beef could be supplled to the Chiriecahua
during the fiscal year. Accordingly, Jeffords directed the tribe to seek
their subsistence by hunting on the reservation during the next four
months, and a portion of them moved westward into the Dragcon Mountains
to do so. A quarrel broke cut among this group a menth later, and twe
men and a grandson of Cochise were killed. This resulted in a formal
division of the Chiricahua tribe into two factions. The majority re-
mained with Taza and moved eastward to establish themselves at Apache
Pass, while twelve men and their families remained in the Dragoon Moun-
tains under Skinya, a former war leader.

Skinya's faction began raiding into Scnora and along the San
Pedro River soon afterwards. On April 9, Jeffords ordered Taza's group
to neither hunt nor camp west of the Chiricahua Mountains, then informed
all military commanders in Arizona to consider any Indians found on the
Chiricahua Reservation west of these mountains as hostiles.

A month later, John P. Clum, the Indian Agent at San Carlos,
\rizona, received orders from the Commissioner to go to Apache Pass,
replace Jeffords as the agent, and attempt to remove the Chiriecahua to

103
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San Carlos. Clum arrived at Sulphur Springs, Arizona, with a company of
San Carlos and White Mountain Apache Police on June 4. Several companies
of cavalry moved down the Sulphur Springs and San Simon Valleys at the
same time and took up positions where they would be ready to give chase
if the Chiricahua made a general outbreak.

Having observed the approcach of these troops and Apache Pclice,
Skinya and Pionsenay, his brother, went to Taza's camp in an effort to
ineite all cof the Chiricahua to take the warpath with them. They suc-
ceeded only in arousing the anger of Taza and his followers. Skinya and
seven of his followers were killed, and Pionsenay fled the reservation
with the remaining mewmbers of his faction.

Clum arrived at Apache Pass the next day and conferred with Taza
and his brother, Naiche. After he had explained to them the full purpcse
of his visit, they readily consented to the removal of their faction.t
The meeting had just ended when Clum was informed that there was another
pand on the reservation known as the "Southern Chiricahuast--the /2a -
Y1341/, Their leaders, Juh, Geronimo, and Nolge, had requested an inter-
view with Clum. He met with them on June 8, and was told that the /ﬂdé-—
%9341/ desired to be removed ‘to San Carlos with the rest of the Chirica-
hua, but that thelr camp was located twenby miles south of the agency.
Geronimo asked for permission to return to this camp for the purpecse of

bringing his people in, and Clum granted it.

IThonas J. Jeffords, Apache Indian Agent, Apache Pass, Arizona,
October 3, 1876, to J. Q. Smith, Commissicner of Indian Affairs, Annual
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs to the Secretary of the
Interior for the Year 1876 (Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office,
1376), pp. 3~4; and John P. Clum, "Geronimo," New Mexico Hisborical
Review, III, No. 1 (January, 1923), pp. 9 and 14-17.
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This band were, in fact, encamped only ten miles south of Apache
Pass., On the return of their leaders, they made hasty preparations and
fled across the border into Scnora. Ancther party of about forty Chiri-
cahua, under Gordo, left about the same time for the Hot Springs Reser-
vation. A member of Pionsenay's faction came in then to ask on what terus
his group might surrender. Clum disarmed him immediately and sent him as
a guide for a detachment of Apache Police to arrest Picnsenay and any
others they found in his camp. They returned late the next afterncon with
Pionsenay and thirty-eight other prisonel-s.2

Three hundred and twenty-five Chiricahua began the movement to
San Carlos on June 12 under an escort of the Apache Police. Clum left
for Tucson the same day to deliver Pionsenay to the civil authorities
there, He was met the next afternocn by two deputy sheriffs from Tuecson,
and surrendered his priscner tc them. Seven hours later, Pionsenay made
good his escape. Taza's faction arrived at San Carlos on June 16, and
were located on the Gila River near the present Fert Thomas, Arizona.3

Taza was a member of a party of twenty Indians from the White
Mountain Reservation who made a trip to the East threec months later under
Clum's sponsorship and supervision. Taza died of pneumonia in Washington,

L. G on September 26, and was buried with military honors in the

ey

“See John P. Clum, op. git., pp. 18-20; and John P. Clum, United
States Indian Agent, San Carles, Arizona, October, 1876, to J. Q. Smith,
Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Report of the Commissioner of Indian
Affairs for 1876, p. 11.

3Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, J. Q. Smith,
Department of the Interior, Office of Indian Affairs, Washington, D. C.,
Cetober 30, 1876, to the Secretary of the Interior, Report of the Com-
migsioner of Indian Affairs for 1876, p. xviii.
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Congressional Cemetery. He was succeeded as head chief of the Chiricahua

by his younger brother, laiche.*

Stress and Conflict on the
Hot Springs Reservation

By 1876, the Apache on the Hot Springs Reservation appeared to
be secure in the belief that they finally had a permanent home and, with
the exception of a few restless ones, content with their 1life there,
Political stability seemed to be maintained by the fact that all of the
bands on the reservation--the "Mimbres,” "Mogollon" (the Mimbreno band
of the Warm Spring and the Bedonkohe), and Mescalero--were under separ-
ate chief's who assumed no authority over any other bands than their own.”

This apparent peace and tranquillity was overladen with discon-
tent on the part of the young warriors. Several raiding parties left
the reservation in April about the same time that Skinya's faction left
the Chiricahua Reservation. On one of these forays, they stole a lot of
mules and horses and brought them baek onto the reservation. Some of
the steclen stock were eaten by the Apache, some were scld by them to
white traders, and the rest were turned over to Agent Shaw, who returned
them to the rightful owners. The chicfs agreed in council to pay for

those that had been eaten or sold from their annuity appropriation.”

AUSAAMCM, op. cit., p. 152.

5J. M. Shaw, United States Indian Agent, Southern Apache Indian
Agency, Ojo Caliente, New Mexico, September 1, 1276, to J. Q. Smith, Com-
missioner of Indian Affaire, Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs
for 1876, p. 112,

6Ibid, This decision on the part of the chiefs is taken as an
Lrndlcation that they heartily disapproved of the recent raids, The
aulhorts informants declared that the Bedonkohe were far more involved

in these raids than were the Warm Spring.
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The arrival of the Chiricahua under Gordo in June must have had
a profound effect upon the Apache on the iHob Springs Reservation. Vhen
James Davis replaced Shaw as their agent on Cetober 16, 1376, he found
his charges idle, demoralized, and rebellious of all control and res-
traint. In hopes of putting an end Lo their frequent tiswin parties,
Davis cut the corn rations to a minimum and began issuing beef on the
block instead of on the hoof, The latter was done because the Apache
would drive the cattle issued them off the reservation and sell them to
white traders for corn or whiskey. These measures proved to be totally
ineffective, for the Apache sold their rations in place of the cattle.ﬁ

The Chiricahua Reservation was abolished by executive order on
Cetober 30, 1376, and restored to the public d;;.rLain.‘j While it was no
longer convenient for Picnsenay or the /ndé'indél/ to take refuge from
their pursuers in the mountains of this reservation, this handicap had
no appreciable effect upcon their reiding., They established their head-
quarters either in the Sierra de la Medera of Sonora or on the Hot Springs
Reservation.

There were reports early in 1377 that these hostiles were trading

stolen stock to white traders in bhe settlements along the Rio Grande.

7 James Davis, United States Indian Agent, Southern Apache
Tndian Agency, Cjo Caliente, New Mexico, August 10, 1877, to E. A. Hayt,
Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Annual Report of the Commissioner of
Tndian Affairs to the Secretary of the Interior for the Year 1877
(Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1877), p. 162.

‘See "Execubive orders establishing, enlarging, or reducing
Indian reservations, also restoring certain Indian reservaticns to the
nablic domain, from May 14, 1855, to October 29, 1378," Annual Report of
the Commissioner of Indian Affairs to the Secretary of the Interior lor
the Year 1272 (Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1873), p.
230, This action probably convinced the Warm Spring that their reserva-
i

-

ton would be abolished soon with their removal to the White Mountain
gervation,

+
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No report had been made of their presence on the Hot Springs Reservaticn,
and Agent Davis had been issuing blankets and rations to them. Commis-
sioner Hayt telegraphed to Jchn P. Clum on March 20, 1277, instructing
him to take his Apache Police to Ujo Caliente, lew Mexico; arrest the
hostiles; seize all stolen property in their possession and return it to
the rightful owners; and remove the hostiles to San Carlos, where he was
to confine their leaders in the agency guardhose on charges of murder
and theft.”

The Removal of the Apache on the
Hot Springs Reservation

When Clum arrived at Cjo Caliente a month later, a scout he had
sent there a few days in advance informed him that Geronimc was then en-
camped about three miles from the agency with between eighty and one
hundred followers. He alsc learned that the troops he had expected to
arrive the next day would not be able tc join hia until April 22. Clum
decided that he would have to act without the treoeops if he was going to
accomplish his mission. The details of this, the only capture of Geron-
imo, are not germane to the purposes of this study, as this capture did
not put an end tc Geronimo's raction. ©

Clum had all of the Chiricahua on the reservation brought into
the agency at Ojo Caliente and kept there under close surveilance, but
took no immediate action against the Warm Spring. On April 23, he re-

ceived orders from Commissioner Hayt to take all of the Apache on the

93ee John P. Clum, "Geronimo," pp. 23 and 26; and Woocdworth
Clum, op. cit. pp. 204 and 210,

0s¢e gohn P. Clum, "Geronimo," pp. 206-32.
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Hot Springs Reservation to San Carlos if he had the approval of the
military authorities in New Mexico, They heartily favored the proposed
removal, and Clum began making arrangements to effect it. He must have
had the Mescalero living on the reservation returned to their own reser-
vation at Fort Stanton, New Mexicec, as they were not included in his
head counts of the Chiricahua and Varm Spring.11
The three hundred and fifty-three Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and
affiliated Bedonkohe on the Hot Springs Reservation were assembled at the
agency on May 1, and were started on the four hundred mile journey to San
Carlos. Unfortunately, a smallpox epidemic broke ocut during the march
and eight of the Apache died of it before their companions reached San
Carlos on May 20. Nineteen priscners, including Geronimc, were confined
in the agency guardhouse, while the rest of the exiles were located near
the present Geronimo, Arizona. Their leaders were instructed to bring
all of their people to the sub-agency at Fort Thomas cnce a week to be
counted and receive rations. Four of the men were appointed to the
native police force, and Victoerio was added to the couneil of Apache
judges.12
The smallpox began to take a greater toll of these Apache after

their location on the White Mountain Reservation. Betzinez says that:

Qur people were terrified, for that affliction had always proved

deadly to the Indians. Many Apaches were seriously sick, some

died., Those who did not at once contract the disease moved thei.

camps into the [Gila] mountains to the north hoping that the high-
er altitude would be more healthy. Those who remained along the

Msee Wooduroth Clum, op. cits, ppe 229-243; and John P. Clum,
"Geronimo," ps 35,

12 codworth Clum, op. cive, ps 249; and Betzinez with Nye, op.
cite, Do 4b

—————
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river took care of themselves as best they could without any help
from the agency.1?

To make matters worse, the San Carlos Apache, on whose tribal
lands they were located, regarded the newcomers as intruders, OUpler
says that this animosity was reciprocated by the latter, who ". . .
failed to make a satisfactory adjustment to the Western Apache, from
whom they considered themselves separated by a sharp difference of di-

14

alect and customs."

Further Cutbreaks and Factionalism

While dissatisfaction with their physical and social conditions
was certainly a contributing factor in impelling the Warm Spring to leave

the reservation four months later, the prineipal cause was their [eeling

that they had been unjustly removed from the Hot Springs Reservaticn.
(ver three hundred of them, including a few Chiricahua, left Fort Thcmas
on September 2 and headed for the Hot Springs Reservation. Three of the
chiefs with one hundred and eighty-seven followers surrendered at Fort
Wingate, New Mexico, on October 13. Seventy others surrendered later,
and all two hundred and sixty were taken to the Hot Springs Reservation,
where they were held under the charge of the Var Department.15 Geronimo

and his family joined the /ndé'indé{/ under Juh in another outbreak in

13Betzines with Nye, op. cit., p. 47.

14Morris Edward Opler, "A Chiricahua Apache's Account of the
Geronimo Campaign of 1336," lew Mexico Historical Review, XIII, No. 4
(Cetober, 1933), p. 361.

158¢e Lockwood, op. eit., p. 226; and Report(s) of the Com-
missioner of Indian Affairs for 1277 (and) 1879, ppe 20-21, and xxxix,
respectively.




111
April, 1373.16

The Warm Spring and Chiricahua on the Hot Springs Reservation
had remained at peace since their relocation there, but in Cctcber, 1873,
orders came for them to be rebturned to San Carlos. They were then assem-
bled at the agency for a conference at which these orders were announced .
Loco and the majority of the other Apache, wishing to aveid further blood-
shed, consented to the removal under strong protest. Victorio and Nana,
however, refused to leave the Hot Springs Reservation, preferring the
warpath to 1ife at San Carles. During the preparations for the removal,
eighty Warm Spring under Vietoric and Nana fled to the Black Range south
of the reservation. Loco's faetion were removed to San Carles without
further difficulty.!’

In December, 1373, lana and sixty-two other hostiles came onto
the Mescalero Reservation at Fort Stanton, New Mexico, seeking asylum.
They remained there for the next seven months until they were joined by
Vietorio and the remaining hostiles. All of the Warm Spring and two
hundred snd fifty Mescalero left this reservation in April, 1879, and
began raiding in southern New Mexico, ncorthern Chihuahua, and western
Texas. The majority of them, including Vietorio, were either dead or
captured after CUctober 9, 13880, Nana, whc had escaped either fate, led

the remaining Warm Spring, Mescalerc, and a few Navaho hostiles in a

4
4 Ay o

continuation of the raiding until August, 1552,

16gee Voodworth Clum, op. cit., p. 263; and Betzinez with Nye,
9_’2_. C?,bo, Pe 47.

17Report of the Commissiocner of Indian Affairs for 1879, p.
xxxix; and Betzinez with Nye, op. git., pp. 50 and 54. Bebzinez says
that these Apache were returned to San Carlos in 1879, while the docu-
mentary sources make it clear that this was in 1873,

>w r o 1 - f 2 12 :
18366 C, L. Sonnichsen, The Mescalerc Apaches ("The Civilization
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Many of the Warm Spring, Chiricahua, and Bedonkohe men on the
White Mountain Reservation enlisted as scouts in the United States Army

to help hunt down the hostiles.19

They had learned from past experience
that their entire tribes were blamed when hostile factions brcke the
peace with the Americans. It is probable that they sought enlistment as
a means of destroying this threat to the safety of their tribes.

The rest of these Apache remained at peace on the White Mountain
Reservation until 1882, They were not allowed to leave their camps near
San Carlos except when they went to the agency once a week to draw their
rations. Few of them showed any inclination to begin farming at this
location. As a result, they became totally dependent upon the rations
for their subsistence. The agent often cheated them at the issue, and
they frequently had to cross the San Carlos River while it was in floocd
to get their rations. However, they had decided to live with these hard-
ships rather than attempt another cutbreak as an expression of their
grievances.zo

(ne hundred and eight /ndé(indéi/ under Juh and Geronimo returned
to the White Mountain Reservation in January, 1380. They had been per-
suaded to do so by a Captain Haskell on the staff of General C. B. Will-

it

cox, commander of the Department of Arizona.“1 It would appear that they

of the American Indian Series,” Vol. 51; Norman: The University of
Oklahoma Press, 1958), pp. 161-194.

19Betzines with liye, op. cit., pp. 54=55.

Ibid.
‘?13(‘;6: Jo. Co Tiffany, United States Indian Agent, San Carlos
\gency, Arizona, August 15, 1880, to the Commissicner of Indian Affairs,
Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs to the Secretary of
the Interior for the Year 1330 (Washington: U. S. Government Printing
Office, 1330), p. 6.
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had grown tired of constant warfare and were prepared to live in peace
on the reservation.

None of the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, or Bedonkche participated
in the religious insurrection of the White Mountain, Cibecue, and San
Carlos Apache during the summer of 1381, However, when troops were sent
on September 30 to bring two of the White Mountain chiefs, George and
Benito, and their bands to Fort Thomas for trial, both chiefs fled to the
Chiricahua camp. They so alarmed these Apache, that seventy-four of them

left the reservation during the night, accompanied by Benito.%<

A Brief Confederation

As Naiche, titular chief of the Chiricshua, and the four band
chiefs of this tribe-~Juh, Chato, Chihuahua, and Zele--had taken part in
the outbreak, Loco assumed the leadership of the Chirieashua, Warm Spring,
and Bedonkche whe had remained on the reservation. Juh and Naiche sent
word in January, 1982, that they were planning to make a raid into Ari-
zona several months later and would expect the Apache under Loco to jein
them at that time. Those who refused to go would be killed. The hostiles,
led by Naiche and Chatc, came onto the reservation on April 19, and forced
the pacific faction under Loco at gun point to take the warpath with then

back to Mexico.zﬁ

22Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, H. Price, De-
partment of the Interior, Office of Indian Affairs, Washington, Cctober
24, 1881, to the Secretary of the Interior, Annual Report of the Com-
missicner of Indian Affairs to the Secretary of the Interior for the
Year 1331 (Washington: U, S. Government Printing Office, 1331), pp.
viii-x.

D% a
““See Lockwood, op. cit., pp. 246-247.
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This hostility was totally without precedent, but is understand-
able. By forecing the pacific faction of the Chiricshua and Warm Spring
to take the warpath with them, the hostiles were able to unify both tribes
and effectively check the facticnalism that had divided them. Those hos-
tile leaders who were not chiefs in any sense, such as Geronimc and Man-
gus, a son of Mangas Ccloradas, had the opportunity to strengthen their
personal followings.

Betzinez says that a common subject of discussion among these
‘pache in the early 1880's was the fact that they were unable to form a
strong confederation, It appears that the hostiles had done so. Their
success can be measured by Betzinez's statement that this confederation
congisted of Chiricahua, Warm Spring, Mescalero, San Carles, White Moun-
tain, and other Apache (presumably Bedonkohe), as well as a few Navaho,
The accretion of Nana's group in August, 1882, explains the presence of
Mescalero and Navaho in the confederation. The San Carlos and White
Mountain Apache in it had joined at the time of the forced outbreak.
Juh and Geronimc were the prinecipal leaders of the confederation. <4

(n May 15, 1883, a detachment of Apache Scouts belonging to an
expedition under General George Crook surprised the camp of Chato snd
Benito in the Sierra Huachinera while most of the men were away. They
captured a number of the women and children and all of the camp supplies.
Communication was established with the other hostile camps through the
women, and the leaders were induced to come in for negotiations. The

hostiles were completely demoralized by the fact that their strongholds

24306 Betzinez with Nye, op. cit., pp. 54, 60, 77, and 83.
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were no longer impregnable, and begged Crook to accept their surrender
and return them to the White Mountain Reservation.

Three hundred and twenty-I{ive hostiles, most of then Varm Spring,
were returned to San Carlos. Among them were Chihuahua, Loceo, Benito,
Nana, and Kaahtenny, a Warm Spring war leader. About two hundred others
remained in Mexico under Juh, Geronimo, Naiche, Chato, Zele, and Mangus.
Crock had permitted them to stay there until they had gathered their
scattered followings, which these leaders were expected to bring into
San Garlos. They took advantage of the favor to inerease their herds of
stelen stock, which they hoped to trade to the reservation Indians cn
their return.25

Juh was drowned in the Casas Grandes River during the summer of
1883, Geronimo then claimed leadership of all of the hostiles remaining
in Mexico, but was accepted by only a small contingent of his and Juh's
perscnal follewings. Naiche and Zele surrendered with about thirty-six
followers in late October, and were followed several weeks later by fifty
to sixty hostiles under Chato and Mangus. Geronimo surrendered with the

remaining hostiles in April, 138426

Economic Changes on Turkey Creeck

The ex-hostiles were temporarily located on the bottom lands of
the San Carlos River until all five hundred and twelve of them were back

on the reservation. As the War Department had been given full authority

253¢e Lockwood, op. cit., pp. 266-271; and Britton Davis, op.
cit., pp. 56-59 and 67-71.

26366 Britton Davis, op. cit., pp. 77-31, 34=101, and 112,
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over them, Lieutenant Britton Davis was assigned as their immediate
superviscr., In May, 1884, the Chiricahua and Warm Spring were allowed
to select a site on the reservation for their permanent settlement and
i : 2
chose Turkey Creek, a northern tributary of the Black River. ¥
Plans had been made since the first group of hostiles returned
to the reservation in June, 1883, to establish them in some self-sup-
porting industry. As Davis wrote:
Turkey Creek had no water for agricultural purposes, nor was there
any vacant land near Fort Apache suitable to sustain any large num-
ber of them. Nomads for generations past, their natural bent was
the acquisition and care of animals. We proposed that they be given
sheep and a few cows to start with, hoping that in time they would
become independent, peaceful, and prosperous as the Navaho., I be-
lieve the General would have accepted ocur view, but the Indian
Bureau at Washington was again in the saddle and farmers they were
made to be.28
In accordance with the wishes of the Indian Bureau, the ex-
hostiles were given a dozen light wagons and a double set of harness for

each, a dozen plows, twc dozen or more picks and shovels, and a few bags

f seed. Even had they known how to use these implements, there were
o ‘. 3

]

hardly enocugh to get five hundred and twelve nomadic Apache and Navaho

29

started in subsistence farming.”
The ex-hostiles were located on Turkey Creek in June, 183/, and

o

were joined soon afterward by thirty-eight Cibecue and White Mountain

2TThe White Mountain and San Carlos Apache members of the con-
federation were apparently returned to their former camps on the reser-
vation. The Bedonkche, Mescalerc, and Navsho lived with the Chiricshus
and Warm Spring and were identified as Chiricahua or Warm Spring.

28pritton Davis, op. elt., pp. 72 and 102.

291bid., p. 103.
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Apache. Betzinez says that those who settled along the head of Turkey
Creek did very well with their crops, planting corn and potatces the
first year and corn and barley the next spring.30 The Chiricshua who
were now farming must have learned the agricultural methods they em-
ployed from the cther Indians on Turkey Creek.

It is obvious that the ex-hostiles never acquired the skills
needed to become subsistence farmers., Robert Frazer, a corresponding
secretary of the Indian Rights Association, visited the White Mountain
Reservation in 1834. He found that one hundred and seventy-six Apache
cn Turkey Creek were farming on seventy-five acres of land by rather
crude methods. Cld cans were used as rakes; the plows were pulled by
the Apache themselves; and the surplus crops were transported to market
on the backs of the Indians or those of their ponies, instead of in the
wagons that had been given to them. With so many of them farming on so
few acres of land, it is cbvious that their primary source of subsistence
was their rations. They alsc supplemented the rations with wild plant
foods and game found along Turkey Creek or in the vicinity of Fort
ipache.31

Although these Indians were certainly making an honest attempt
to become successful farmers, their efforts were doomed to failure. The
civil agent at San Carlos was replaced in January, 1835. The new agent

appointed an agency head farmer, who stopped the work on the irrigation

OBritton Davis, op. ¢it., p. 106; and Betzinez with Nye, op.
git., pe 125.

A Robert Frazer, The Apaches of the White Mountain Reservaticn,
Arizona, A report made for the Indian Rights Association in 1834 (Phil-
adelphia: The Indian Rights Association, 1385), pn. 7 and 11-12; and
Britton Davis, op. ¢cit., pp. 107-109.
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ditches being dug by the military. On January 17, the agent attempted
to seize the tools that had been issued to the Indians.””

Lieutenant Davis made an inventory of the property belonging to
the Indians on Tuckey Creek during the spring of this year. He found that
a number of their ponies had been traded to the White Mountain Apache or
to expeditions from the Navaho Reservation, and that a number of the tcols
and plows had been either traded or gambled off to the White Mountain and
Cibecue Apache. Most of the wagons had been damaged through misuse and
were beyond repair.33

Cne of COpler's informants declared that these Apache had feltl
that they were being forced to abandon their old cultural patterns with-

out being given a fair chance to adopt American ones.34 The above evi-

dence should show that their suspicions were well founded.

Resistance to Social Pressures

During the summer of 1384, General Crock issued several orders

which received strong opposition from the Chiricahua and Warm Sprin

o9

leaders. The first was a ban on the making and consumption of tiswin.

Lieutenant Davis was given orders to stop both, first by persuasion, then
by threats, and finally by arresting the offenders. The other twc orders
were bans on the rights of Apache men to beat their wives and to cut off

the noses of those caught in adultery.

323ee Lockwood, op. gite, pp. 275=276.

P

W

3Britton Davis, op. cit., pp. 123 and 136.

34Cp1@r, "7 Chiricahua Apache's Account of the Geronimo Cam-
paign of 1836," p. 364.
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Kaahtenny and Chihuahua began advising defiance of these orders
and resistence to any attempts to arrest the offenders. Kaahtenny was
arrested on June 22, 1984, after and his thirty-two followers openly
defied the ban on the making and consumption of tiswin. He was tried and
convicted by an Indian jury and sentenced by General Croock Lc three year's
imprisonment on Alcatraz Island, California. Afler scrving eighteen
months of his sentence, he was pardoned snd returned tc the White Moun-
2
tain Reservaticn to become one of the most tractable of the Warm Spring.J
Kaahtenny's imprisconment did much to quell the resistance &o
Crook's orders. However, Liswin parties and wife beating reappeared in
January, 1885, during the dispute between the civil and military author-
ities over the management of the Indians on the White Mcuntain Reserva-
tion. Mangus, whose wife was a skillful tiswin maker, joined Chihuahua
in making vigorous protests against the ban on the making and consumption
of this corn beer.
On May 15, all of the Indians on Turkey Creek exceplt the scouls
£
attended a tiswin party and came o report this to Davis the next day.Bo
All of them were armed and prepared to fight to the bitter end if Davis
attempted to make any arrests. Chihuahus acted as their spokesman. He
began by stating that none of these ex-hostiles had ever made en agree-

ment to abide by these restrictions on their social conduct. They felt

35Bpitton Davis, op. cit., pp. 115, 123-130, and 141; Lockwood,
op. Cibe, pe 275; and USAAMCM, op. gib., p. 79
36Ccmpany B of the Apache Scouts was recrganized in June, 1384,
and then consisted of one hundred and twenty-seven Chiricahua and Warm
Spring men and boys able to bear arms. Chato was made first sergeant,
and Perico, a second cousin of Geronimo, second sergeant (See Britten
Davis, op. cit., pp. 106 and 150; and USAAMCM, op. git., p. 136).
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that it was grossly unfair to forbid their use of alchoholic beverages
while white soldiers were permitted to do so. In econclusion, Chihuahua
informed Davis of the recent tiswin party and challenged him to arrest
the whole group.

Davis replied that this matter was too seriocus for him to act
upcn without corders from a higher authority. He wrote a report to his
immediate superior at San Carlos, Captain F. E. Pierce, in the presence
of the Indians, and told them that he would act in accordance with the
orders he received. Pierce did not notify General Crook when he received
this repcrt, but filed it for later reference. Three days later, Geron-
imo, Chihuahua, Naiche, Mangus, and Nana left the reservation with one
hundred and thirty-one followers. Betzinez says that these leaders were
highly suspicious and believed that General Crook was preparing to deal
with them as he had with Kaahtenny.>’

When Company B of the Apache Scouts was assembled to take pur-
suit of the hostiles, Perico and two other scouts left the reservation
and joined the hostiles. Davis learned later that they had been ordered
by Geronimo to kill him and Chato, and reports the following as the
results of their failure to do so:

Almost immediately after they left their camps dissension crepped
out among the hostiles. Nachite and Chihuahua charged Geronimo
and Mangus with having lied to them tc get them to leave by tell-
ing them that Chato and I had been killed and that troops were
coming to arrest all the Chiricahua and Warm Springs and send them
away. Nachite and Chihuahua threatened to kill Geronimo. This

caused a split in the camps. Mangus and his small band left at
once for Mexico and never rejoined the others. Chihuahua and

373ee Britton Davis, op. c¢it., pp. 139-149 and 151-152; and
Betzinez with Nye, op. cit., p. 129,
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his band stopped in the Mogollon Mountans northeast of Morenci,

Arizona, uncertain whether to go on to Mexico or return tc the
Reservation.”°

Chihuahua's faction later joined Geronimo's, but both men re-
tained the leadership of their own followings. The details of the mili-
tary campaigns against these hostiles by General Crook and General Nelson
A. Miles have been adeguately described in several deocumentary sources.
The interested reader is advised to follow the accounts given by Davis
and Lockwood.39 Tt should be observed, however, that the members of
Geronimo's and Chihushua's factions were primarily their consanguineal
and affinal relatives, as both leaders had lost much of their influence
over any other Apache on Turkey Creek, 40

The Indians who remained on Turkey Creek under Loco, Chato,
Zele, and Benito remained loyal in their promises Go keep the peace.
Nearly one hundred of the men served faithfully as scouts under General
Crook and General Miles in tracking down the hostiles and forcing their

41

final surrenders.

Summary

The Chiricahua tribe became divided between two factions in
1876--a small hostile one led by Skinya, and a pacific one led by Co-

chise's two sons, Taza and lNaiche. When Skinya's faction began raiding

38Britton Davis, op. eit., pp. 150-152.

.

91bid., pp. 152-232; and Lockwood, op. cit., pp. 281-306.

———— ——

4Og6e Opler, "A Chiricahua Apache's Account of the Gercnimo
Campaign of 1886," pp. 367 and 386,
59

418(5 Britton Davis, op. cit., p. 152,

e
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the American settlements along the San Pedro River, John P, Clum, Ghe
Indian Agent at San Carlos, Arizona, was instructed by the Commissioner
of Indian iffairs to collect all of the Chiricahua bands and relocate
them on the White Mountain Reservation, Arizona, OUnly Taza's band could
be induced to accept the removal., Skinya and seven of his followers
were killed in a battle with Taza's band. Pionsenay, Skinya's brother,
fled the Chiricahua Reservation with the rest of this faction. The
/nd53indéi/ band under Juh, Nolge, and Geronimo fled into Mexico, and a
smaller group, under Gordo, fled to the Hot Springs Reservation in New
Mexico.

In Pebruary, 1377, it was discovered that the /ndécindéf/ were
using the Hot Springs Reservation as a base from which to launch their
intermittent raids into Mexico. They were selling the stock they had
stolen in Mexico to white traders in the settlements along the Rio Grande.
The Warm Spring were apparently taking part in the raids and shielding
the Chiricshua hostiles. Clum was given instructions to arrest the hos-
tiles and remove all of the Chiricahua and Warm Spring to the White Moun-
tain Reservation. He accomplished both tasks, but the Warm Spring left
the latter reservation in September, 1877, in an attempt to force the
Govermment into allowing them to recccupy the Hot Springs Reservation.

This attempt met with much success. When they surrendered at
Fort Wingate, New Mexico, in October, 1877, the Government had the Warm
Spring removed to their old reservation under the supervision and care
of the War Department. The Commissioner of Indian Affairs ordered their
return to the White Mountain Reservation two years later, when the /Paé: -

*ndéf/ were again on the warpath. The majority of the Warm Spring, under
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Loco, consented to the removal under strong protest, but eighty others
left the reservation under Victorio and Nana and carried on a war of ex-
termination against the Mexicans and Americans for the next three years.
Both the Chiricahua and Warm Spring tribes were now divided by hostile
and pacific factions. Many of the men from the latter factions enlisted
as scoubs in the United States Army to help hunt down the hostiles.

llaiche and the Chiricahua band chiefs joined the /“d€-1"ag{/
in another ocutbreak in September, 1821, and returned the next spring to
force all of their tribesmen, the Warm Spring, Bedonkche, and a number
of White Mountain and San Carlos Apache to take the warpath with them.
By April, 1884, all of these Apache had returned to the White Mountain
Reservation and were located on Turkey Creek, a ncrthern tributary of
the Black River. The attempts of the military to establish them as
farmers met with 1ittle success, and the bans on the making and consump-
tion of tiswin, the beating of wives, and the punishment of adultery by
cutting off the noses of unfaithful wives led to ancther outbreak in
May, 1355. Three-fourths of the Apache on Turkey Creek remained there
during the campaign against the hostiles, Nearly one hundred of the men
served as enlisted scouts in the Army to help hunt down the hostiles and
force their final surrender.

The principal changes in the social structures of the Chiricahua
and Warm Spring during the ten year periocd from 1876 through 1366 were:
(1) the loss of political solidarity among the Chiricahua, (2) the adop-
tion of agriculture by the Chiricahua, and (3) the enlistment of men and
boys among both tribes as scouts in the Army. As the reader shall dis-

cover in the next chapter, factionalism was resolved during the next
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eight years, but recurred again after 1899, Agriculture eventually
became a major economic activity among the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and

Bedonkohe, and enlistment in the Army replaced the raiding complex after

May, 1391,
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CHAPTER VI

EXILE AND CONFINEMENT: 1£886-1913

Removal to Florida

On December 15, 1835, Captain Emmett Crawford and Lieutenant
Marion P. Maus led a company of Apache Scouts, many of them Chiricahua
and Warm Spring, into the Sierra Madre Occidental. They surprised the
camp of the hostlles under Geronimo, Naiche, and Chihuahua on January 11,
1386, while most of the men were absent, and captured all of their ponies,
camp equipage, and supplies. The hostile leaders were so demoralized
that they immediately opened nepotiations for a surrender. They met with
General Crook at Cafion de los Imbudos, Sonora, on March 25, and surren-
dered tec him two days later on the terms that they and their families would
be imprisoned in Florida for a period not exceeding twe years, after which
they would be allowed to return to the White Mountain Reservation in
Arizona.

Crook had them started for Fort Bowie, Arizona, the same day.
That night a dozen or more of the hostiles got drunk on whiskey sold to
them by an American trader named Tribolet, and thirty-nine of them under
Geronimo and Naiche fled to the Sierra Madres, |

Chihushus and seventy-seven other hostiles were sent to Fort

Marion, St. Augustine, Florida, on April 7, 1386. General Croock was

1

See Britton Davis, op. ci pp. 193-213.

T
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relieved of his command five days later and was replaced by General lNelscn
A. Miles., The War Department began urging the removal of the Apache on
Turkey Creek to scme permanent location in the East at this time. The
principal reason lay in an unfounded suspicion that they had been aiding
the hostiles in Mexico and that the Chiricahua and Warm Spring scoubs were
not completely trustworthy. The truth was that they had remained loyal
during the hostilities, cultivating their fields; tending their herds of
cattle, sheep, horses, and mules; or cutting hay and firewood which they
sold to the Army at Fort Apache.

General Miles met with their leading men in July, and induced a
delegation of ten or twelve of them, headed by Chato, to gc to Washington
to inquire what the Govermment might do for them if they moved. They met
with the Secretaries of War and the Interiocr and had an interview with
President Cleveland, but no decision was reached concerning their relo-
cation.

While they were still in Washington, it was decided %o remove all
of the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkche to Fort Marion. The dele-
gation was allowed to begin the return trip to Arizona, but was detained
at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas. These Apache were confined in the federal
penitentary at Fort Leavenworth until September 12, when they were trans-
ferred to Fort Maricn.?

While the Apache on Turkey Creek were assembled at Fort Apache
to receive their rations, they were surrounded by the troors and put under

arrest. The scouts were disarmed and confined with the cother men in a

“See Lockwood, op. glte, pp. 325 and 313-316.
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horse barn at the fort, while the women and children were allowed to
return to their camps on Turkey Creek. Four hundred and twenty-eight of
these Apache were sent to Fort Maricn on September 7. They and the dele-
gation under Chato arrived at Fort Marion on September 20. The twelve
Chiricahua and Warm Spring who were left on the White Mountain Reserva-
tion were apparently either married to Apache of other tribes, the off-
spring of these unions, or simply living with these tribes. There are
said to be a few Warm Spring living in Magdalena, New Mexico, who are the
descendents of others who escaped exile.3

Geronime and his thirty-one followers surrendered to General
Miles at Skeleton Canycn in the Chiricahua Mountains on September 4, under
the condition that they would be sent to their families in Florida. Ge-
ronimo and the other fourteen men in his faction were confined at Fort
Pickens, Pensacola, Florida, while the women and children were sent to
Fort Marion. Mangus and his faction of twelve hostiles were captured on

October 9. He and one other man were confined at Fort Pickens, while the

others of his faction were sent to Fort Marion.4

Confinement in Florida

Herbert Welsh, who visited Fort Marion in 1837, described it as

follows:

Fort Marion, formerly named Fort San Marco, is a fine example of the
old~time stone fortress of the Vaubon pattern; with bastions, moat

3See Britton Davis, op. ¢it., pp. 236-237; Cpler, "A Chiricahua
Apache's Account of the Gercnimo Campaign of 1836," pp. 331-384; and
USAAMCM, op. cit., Appendix V, pp. 1-2.

e L b

4'Sec Britton Davis, op. cit., pp. 222-223,
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and watch towers. It is not built of ordinary stone, but cf coquina,
a natural composition of tiny shells and sand. This fact suggests a
point touching the sanitary condition of the priscners. . . . Its
walls enclose an open square, the sides of which measure about 180
feet., The exterior side of the fort is about 90 yards long. From
the center of this square one looks intc the firm~-set rectangular
windows and doors of the casemates and barracks. The ramparts and
watch towers command a view of the town, the harbor, to which the
outer walls of the fort extend, and the sea beyond.5

Welsh found that sanitation within the fort was provided for by
directing a stream of water through a casemate ", . . by which drainage
was secured directly to the sea.® There was alsc free and constant use
of carbolic acid as a disinfectant. But all of this was not enough to
prevent £ilth from being absorbed in the sandy soil of the square and the
highly porous ccquina stone of which the fort was composed. It is no
wonder that twenty-two of the Apache--six women, one man, and fifteen
children-~had died within six months after their arrival at Fort Maricn.6

It was nct the sanitary condition alone that caused an unhealthy
atmosphere in the fort, ‘for Welsh reported that--

The Indians have been wisely required to camp upon the ramparts of
the fort, where they have plenty of fresh air and sunshine, rather
than to cccupy the dark, damp and forbidding barracks and casemates.
Had not this precaution been taken, it is likely that a much greater
loss of life would have occurred than the Apache prisoners have yet
suffered. Fort Marion is entirely inadequate to contain with safetly
the 447 prisoners now within its walls. The ramparts are closely
crowded with tents, so that but a narrow space is left for passage
way. Most of the tents are crowded with occupants. I walked fre-
gquently among them and observed their general condition as to clean-
liness and order. Some were scrupulously clean and well kept; others
indifferently so. As the women prepare all the food used by the
prisoners, and it must be made ready in their tents, I noticed scraps

SHerbert Welsh, The Apache Prisoners in Fort Marion, St. Augus-
tine, Florida (Philadelphia: Office of the Indian Rights Association,
1377), Pe 50

[4
“Ibid., ps 14
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of bread and meat lying about. . . « The women make small fires of
sticks and logs in spare corners of the ramparts, over which cne sees
coffee boiling or meat frying in the saucepan. Saddles, blankets,
personal belongings of various kinds might be seen in or ncar the
tents. It was, in fine, an Indian camp lifted from the mountains and
plains of Arizona and transported intac’ to the narrow confines of
Fort Marion.'

One of the author's informants reported that the avoidance
patterns between affines were abandoned while the Chiricahua, Warm Spring,
and Bedonkohe were st Fort liarion, bubt were resumed after they were relo-
cated at Mount Vernon Barracks, Mobile, Alabama. It was shown in a for-
mer chapter that marriage was conceived by all of these tribes as an
economic contract between two families. The success or failure of this
contract fell upon the husband, who was responsible for the welfare of
his wife's family as well as his own. In this respect, avoidance func-
tioned as a regulative devise to prevent friction between the man and his
wife's family.

The author's informants stated that the wife's parents would
avoid their son-in-law only as long as he commanded their respeet by ful-
filling his economic and social obligations to them. There was no outlet
for the fulfillment of the aboriginal male roles as hunters, warriors, or
farmers at Fort Marion. With the loss of the socio-economie conditions
under which avoidance was maintained, this form of affinal kinship behav-
ior was sbandoned until these conditions were restored.

The changes wrought by the formal educaticn of the children and

adolescents were of far greater proportions. In November, 1836, forty-

four of bthe Apache youths were taken to Carlisle Indian Industrial Schocl,

Melsh, op. cit., ps 13+

—— e
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Carlisle, Pennsylvania, and placed under the care and supervision of
Captain Richard H. Pratt. General Crock had supposedly sent five boys--
three Warm Spring, one Chiricahua, and one Navaho, who was the adopted scn
of a Warm Spring family--to Carlisle in 1883, When Welsh visited the
school in February, 1837, he found that these forty-nine children and
adolescents had made remarkable progress in their studies and were rapid
learners.

The sisters of St. Joseph's Roman Cathclic School in St. Augus-
tine had contracted with the Indian Bureau to instruct sixty boys and
girls from Fort Marion. The children were picked up at the fort every
morning and taken to the parochial school for instruction. Under the
terms of the contract, the Govermment paid the children's tuition.8

There were two educational programs for the adults at Fort Marion.
Several of the women of St. Auvgustine voluntarily instructed twenty-five
male prisoners in the English language, arithmetic, spelling, and writ-
ing. Although only two hours were spent in class each day, Welsh was
amazed at the speed with which the men acquired the new knowledge. The
other program was initiated by the War Department. They prcvided the lum-
ber and tools and appointed instructors tec teach carpentry to the male
prisoners who wanted to learn it. Those adults who were not involved in
these educational programs spent their time gambling or making handcrafts

for sale to the citizens of St. Augustinc-.9

™™

3
“See Welsh, op. cit., pp. 4 and 12-13; and USAAMCM, op. cit.,
Appendix III.

V.
‘Welsh, op. e¢it., pp. 12-13; and Betzinez with Nye, op. cit.,
ope 146=147.
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The author's informants reported that, though the girl's puberty
rite was observed on several occasions during the 1290's and early 1900's.
no attempt was made after 1886 to train young men for warfare, raiding,
and hunting. In this respect, formal education served as a replacement
for this training.

The seventeen male prisoners at Fort Pickens were confined in
its dungeons, and put to work sawing up large logs. Two of them were in-
structed in the English language by George Wrattan, their interpreter and
work supervisor who voluntarily went into exile with them.1O In April,
1837, the families of these prisoners were sent to them from Fort Marion,
while the other prisoners at Fort Marion were relocated at Mcunt Verncn
Barracks, Mobile, Alabama. The prisoners at Fort Pickens remained there

until May, 1333, when they joined their tribesmen in Alabama.

Changes at Carlisle

Upon the decision to transfer the Apache prisoners of war at
Fort Marion to Mount Vernon Barracks, Captain Pratt was detailed to go
to St. Augustine for the purpose of taking all of the Apache youths cf
"educatable age™" to Carlisle. Sixty-three of them were taken to the
school to join the other forty-nine Apache already there. They were ex-
posed to the stern discipline of the school from their first moments
there. For those who could already speak English, there was a taboo

against speaking their native tongue. The students were expected Lo make

1OBritbon Davis, op. cit., p. 233; Barrett(ed.), epe cite, Do

177; and USAAMCM, op. cit., ppe 2 and 137.

11LOCkw<‘,(~d, ODe Cito’ e 320.
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a voluntary confession of any individuval infractions of the rules every
Saturday night. The men and boys were given haircuts, and all of the
students were dressed in uniforms.

Betzinez indicated that the sccialization process and identities
of these students changed while they were at Carlisle. The younger gen-
erations could no longer learn by the example of the older cnes, for the
younger students grasped their lessons more rapidly than did the older
cnes, One of the teachers bestowed first names upon the students and
tauvght them to appreximate their Apache names in writing.12 One of the
author's informants stated that the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedon-
kohe did not use surnames in their aboriginal cultures. Conseguently,
the students had to use their Apache names or those of their fathers as
surnames,

The above changes were minor in comparison with the new skills
and trades the students acquired. During the summers, they were sent to
the homes of white families in Pennsylvania and New Jersey, where they
had more opportunity to practice these trades and skills and acquire mcre
of the latter. These experiences did much towards alienating them from
their tribal cultures and hastening their assimilation of American mores
and norms.13 The author's informants reported that many of these stu-
dents remained in the North to work for several years after their dis-

charge from Carlisle before returning to their families.,

TRyIs : ' ‘ x .
See Betzinez with Nye, op. cit., pp. 151-154. Betzinez was

one of the Apache students at Carlisle, and was, therefore, writing from
first-hand knowledge of the experience of the students there.

B11d., pp. 154-159.
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There is one respect in which the experiences of the Apache at
Carlisle had tragic results. They were apparently not prepared for the
climate in Pennsylvania. Lieutenant Guy Howard reported to the Adjutant-
General of the Army on December 23, 1339, that thirty of the cone hundred
and twelve Apache students at Carlisle had died there; twelve had been
returned to their parents because of sickness; and the other seventy were
still at Carlisle.'®

Nine Apache youths were sent to Hampton Institute, Hampton,

5

Virginia, in 1837.1 Unfortunately, there is no way of knowing whether
their experience there was comparable to that of their contemporaries at

Carlisle,

Confinement in Alabama

As there were nc facilities for housing the Apache prisoners of
war at Mount Vernon Barracks, they had to live in brush wickiups {or the
next five years. Then the War Department provided tocls and building
materials, hired a white carpenter as foreman, and set the prisoners to
work constructing their own houses. The Apache did not forsake the wicki-
ups entirely, for they moved cutside the houses during the summers and
lived in the wickiups or under brush arbors. With the coming of winter,

16

they moved back into the houses.

Vigee Lockwood, op. cit., pp. 320-321.
153¢e USAAMCM, op. cit., Appendix II.

16This information is based on the statements of the author's
informants.
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John P. Clum, the Indian Agent who removed the Chiricahua, Warm
Spring, and Bedonkohe to the White Mountain Reservation in 1876 and 1377,
visited them at Mount Vernon Barracks in 1294 and reported that--

The Indians have been located in a permanent camp or settlement on

a ridge about a mile west of the military post. Seventy-five frame
houses have been constructed, and each Indian family is now provided
with a comfortable home, Each house is divided into two rooms, in
one of which is a large cooking range, and in the other a comforfable
fireplace. The furniture is plain, but suitable and sufficient.

These houses were a much needed improvement. Lietuenant Howard
had reported in 1839 that one hundred and nineteen of the Apache prisoners
had died since they began their captivity in Florida.1b If the twenty-
two deaths at Fort Marion and the thirty at Carlisle are subtracted from
these one hundred and nineteen, then sixty-seven of the Apache prisocners
had died at Mount Vernon Barracks by the end of 1339, The cause of these
deaths was suggested by C. C. Painter, a corresponding secretary of the
Indian Rights Associaticn. He reported that the prisoners had been living
in their wickiups on malarial lowlands under poor sanitary conditions.
Since they had moved into these new houses on higher ground, their death
rate had decreased at least seventy-five per cent.19

After the prisoners who had been at Fort Pickens joined those

already at Mount Verncn Barracks, George Wrattan was appointed work

175000 P. Clum, "Geronimo," p. 247. This quote was published
in the Washington Evening Star on January 29, 1894. The newspaper arti-
cle is reproduced here by Clum.

185¢e Lockwood, op. cite, p. 321.

190. C. Painter, "Washington Agency: Apache Prisoners,"
Eleventh Annval Report of the Executive Committee of the Indian Rights
Asgsoclation for the Year Ending December 15th, 1393 (Philadelphia:
Office of the Indian Rights Association, 1894), pp. 37-38.
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supervisor for all of them, His first task was to find some significant
employment for the men, whose aboriginal rcles as warriors and hunters
were no longer meaningful. In May, 1891, he helped organize Company "I",
Twelfth Infantry, consisting of fifty-two male prisoners. The men who
were not in the company were allowed to seek work off the reservation by
day, while the women sold beadwork and baskets in Mobile or did laundry
for the white troops. Geronimo was appointed justice of the peace and
tried all cases of minor offense committed by the Apache prisoners. The
children attended a school in the Indian village.zO

During the eight years the Chiricahua, Warm Spring, and Bedonkche
were at Mount Vernon Barracks, there were two cases of suicide and two of
murder. In both cases of suicide, the victims were jealous husbands who
had wives much younger than themselves. Their wives left them for younger
men, and the cuckolds shot them out of anger, then tock their own lives.
One of these men also shot and killed his wife's lover. The other case
of murder was comnitted by a Chiricahuva who shot two white men who had
beaten him severely after he challenged them with having mcolested his
sister.21

There was a heavy dependence upon tiswin at Mount Vernon Bar-
racks. One of the author's informants gave the reasons for this as follows:

The Apaches had no way to control the alchoholic content, and when
they made it in Alabama, they didn't want to. People got drunk down

20USAAMGM, op. eit., Appendix VII; John P. Clum, "Geronimo,™
p. 243; and Painter, op. cib., p. 38,

21This information is based on the statements of the author's

informants. See USAAMCM, op. cit., pp. 42 and 142-143, for more com-
plete details.
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there just for something to do, but most of them got drunk to lcse
their fears and uncertainties about the future.

The Indian Rights Association began as early as 1333 to put
pressure on the War Department and Congress to find a permanent location
for the Apache prisoners of war. Congress finally authorized their re-
moval to the Fort Sill Military Reservation, Indian Territory, on August
6, 1894. The Apache prisoners were settled on this reservation under the

control of the garrison two months later.22

The Village System at Fort Sill

There were no facilities at Fort 5ill for housing the two hundred
and ninety-six Apache priscners who arrived there from Mount Vernon Bar-
racks. Captain Hugh L. Scott, their immediate supervisor, arranged for
them to erect camps of wickiups along Cache Creek and north of the mili-
tary post.23 By the next spring he had been assured that the Apache
priscners were to make their permanent home at Fort Sill, and resolved to
provide them with houses. Francis E. Levpp, Washington Agent of the
Indian Righte Association, said that--

For this purpose he {[Captain Scott] had them divide into twelve

groups or villages, according to kindred and intimate friendship.

The head man in each group was ordered to select, within certain
boundaries, a site for his willage, having reference to both its
scenic and its sanitary attractions. The village system was adopted
for various reascns, chief among which was the fact that the country,
through lack of water, is not adapted tec agricuvlture, but only to
grazing, and stock flourish best when kept on a large common range;
the impracticability of separate and scattered farms was therefore
obvious. Other considerations were the greater content of the Indians

221 ockwood, ops Slbe, Pe 3224

““Betaines with lye, op. gib., p. 166.
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when in close social companionship with their relatives in their

leisure hours, and the greater ease of inspecting their condition
and controlling their movements,

Betzinez says that the original village headmen were: Geronimo,
Kayitah, Perico, Chihuahua, Noche, Kaahtenny, Mangus, Toclanny, Loco,
Naiche, Chato, and Chiricahua Tom. The villages were named after them,
such as "Geronimo's Village." Martine replaced Kayitah after 1900 as the
headman of his village. Chihuahva and Mangus died in 1901; Chief Loco in
1905; and Geronimo in 1909, COnly Chihuahua and Loco were succeeded, their
eldest sons becoming the headmen of their villages then. Unfortunately,
there is no way of knowing how Mangus' and Geronimo's villages were
governed following their deaths.25 The locations of the twelve villages
and the fields cultivated by the Apache prisoners of war during their
nineteen years at Fort Sill are shown on the map in the envelope at the
end of this study.26

One of the author's informants stated that the Warm Spring
prisoners at Fort Sill applied a patrileocal rule of residence. Matri-
local residence was apparently the prevailing rule of marital residence

~

in Naiche's Village, where Chiricahua were in the majority.d7 Since this

24Francis E. Leupp, Notes of a Summer Tour Among the Indians cof
the Southwest (Philadeiphia: Office of the Indian Rights Association,
1397)s pPpe 4=5.

253ee Betzinez with Nye, op. ¢it., pp. 166-167; and USAAMCM,
op. eit., pp. 19, 47, 97, 103, 105, and 131.

=
“6This map is a copy of the original drawn at Fort Sill in

Januvary and Februvary, 1397, under the direction of Captain Scott., The
original map is in the possession of the United States Army Artillery and
Missile Center Museum, Fort Sill, Cklahoma.

“Tgee TSAAMCM, op. cit., pp. 121-122., The parents of one of
Naiche's two wives were occupants of his village. Two of his half-
sisters were also living here with their husbands.
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was the prevailing rvle of marital residence amcng the Chiricshua before
1836, it is prcbable that matrilocal residence was cobserved in the other
villages at Fort Sill where the majority of the occupants were Chiricanua.

Much of the aboriginal kinship behavior of the Chiricahua, Warm
Spring, and Bedonkche persisted during the nineteen years they were con-
fined at Fort Sill. The author's informants reported that the avoidance
patterns between affines and the intimate relations between grandparents
and grandchildren were still observed. However, the position of the
mother's brother with respect to a male ego amcng the Warm Spring had de-
generated from that of a teacher to that of an advisor. Althouvgh those
prisoners who died at Fort 8111 were buried in graveyards set aside by
the military, their families continued to fire rifles and shotguns into
the air after the death of a warrior and to destroy the personal property
of the deceased.,

In view of the above evidence, it appears that the village
system provided the necessary conditions for the maintenance of extended
families. Each of the twelve villages was a separate extended family
vnder its own extended family headman. However, there is no evidence
that these villages constituted a local group, nor that there were any
other social units among the Apache priscners of war at Fort Sill than

the extended family.

Economic Organization at Fort Sill
Captain Scott began to establish the Apache prisoners as farmers
and stockmen soon after they were settled on the Fort Sill Military Res-
ervation. Each of the twelve villages possessed a ten acre field where

the occupants raised field corn, eweet corn, melons, sweet potatoes,
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peas, beans, pumpkins, and African millet--also known as Kaffir corn.
The latter had been raised first by the Southern Cheyenne and Arapaho on
an experimental basis and had proven to be well adapted to the soil and
climate of western Oklahoma. Captain Scott introduced it to the Apache
prisoners in 1895 and required each village to plant five of the ten
acres in its field in millet., The other five acres could be planted in
any other crop.28 Lieutenant F. H., Beach, who tock charge of the Apache
prisoners of war on June 30, 1897, reported that corn, melons, and millet
were the best crops, as the others were often killed by drou.ght.z9 It 10
more probable that the Apache prisoners had little time to devote to
their crops, since agriculture was intended to be a supplement to cattle
raising, their chief industry.

One of the auther's informants reported that, in addition tec the
ten acre village tracts, there were several large communal ones which
were the communal property of the twelve villages. The hay and millet
grown on the latter tracts were used as forage for the stock owned by
the Apache priscners.

The cattle were purchased by the War Department soon after the
Apache prisoners were settled on the Fort 5ill Military Reservation.

They were issued to each of the seventy families among the prisoners and

23868 F. H. Beach, First Lieutenant, Seventh Cavalry, In Charge
of the Apache Prisoners of War, Fort Sill, Oklahoma, August 22, 1898, to
the Adjutant-General, United States Army, War Depariment, Washington,
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for the I'iscal Year KEnded
June 30, 1892 (Washington: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1398), p.
328; Captain Hugh L. Scott, Fort $ill, August 1, 1896, to the Adjutant-
General, Department of the Misscuri, Chicage, Illinois, Scott Papers,
lational Archives, Washington; and Betzinez with Nye, op. gcit., p. 168,

“IBeach, op. clt., pp. 325, and 326,
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branded with each family's ration number. When twenty of the bulls and
five hundred and sixty two-year-old heifers were found to have Texas
Fever in July, 1895, the Apache prisoners of war were entered as a whcle
as a member of the Texas Cattle Association, This gave them the protec-
tion offered by the Association's inspection system against the further
introduction of diseased animals into their herds. o

As the cattle were allowed to rcam on open range within the limits
of the Fort Sill Military Reservation, and the Apache were not good herd-
ers, the men were put to work constructing a fence around the reservation
limits. The Government procured 26,987 acres of grazing land from the
Kiowa and Comanche tribes, which were added to the original 50,128 acre
reservation before the fence was completed in 1397. Each family was then
required to lock after its own cattle.31

There is little doubt that the Apache priscners of war made a

atisfactory adjustment to cattle raising. On the other hand, the at-

145

tempts to introduce hog and poultry raising were complete failures. Beach
blamed the failure of hog ralsing on an insufficient foocd supply and an
epidenmic of hog cholera in 1892, The failure cf poultry raising lay in
the fact that the Apache villages were located along creek bottoms which

were infested with small beasts of prey.Bz The reasons given by the

Dgee Scott, op. cit.; and Leupp, op. ¢it., p. 8.

313. M. Brosius, "Report of the Vashington Agency: Apache Pris-
oners," Twenty-eighth Annual Report of the Executive Committee of the
Tndian Rights Association for the Year Ending December 14, 1210 (Phila-
delphia: Cffice of the Indian Rights Assceiation, 1911), p. 29; and
Beach, op. cit., p. 325.

Fgee Wilbur Sturtevant Nye, Carbine and Lance, The Story of 0ld
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author's informants for the failure of these two industries are probably
far more accurate. They stated that the Apache priscners would not eat
pork "because hogs eat snakes," and had wanted nothing to do with hogs
because of this, Only the Warm Spring had ever eaten turkeys, and they
much preferred to hunt these fowl than to raise them.

Captain Scott made an earnest attempt to establish the Apache
prisoners of war in a cash economy and to teach them thrift. He appears
to have had considerable success, as is indicated by the fcllowing exam-
ples. First, he purchased a well-boring machine and taught the Apache
men to use it. They bore wells for all of their villages, then did so
on contract for the Kiowa, Comanche, and whites off the reservation.
Secondly, they sold one thousand tons of hay to the Army at Fort Sill in
1897, half of which they baled themselves. Six hundred and forty tons
of hay were sold the next year. The Apache prisoners used part of the
proceeds of the latter sale to purchase mowing machines, rakes, hay
balers, a hay loader, and a crane and tongs for stacking the hay. All
of this equipment was owned in common and was used to fulfill future
contracts with the Army. 1In later years, the proceeds from the sale of
hay and cattle were deposlted in the Apache Fund, which was managed by
the military supervisors for the Apache prisoners of war.33

Although the Var Department finally provided the Apache

prisoners with horses and mules, cattle raising remained the majcr

Fort Sill (2nd printing; HNorman: The University of (klahoma Press, 938),
ppe 381-382; and Beach, op. cit., pp. 325-326.
345 Leupp, _L° eit., p. 8; Beach, op. eit., p. 326; Lock-

ee
wood, op. cit., p. 323; and Betzinez with Nye, op. cit., p. 170.
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industry and the most profitable one.34 The nmen received an additional
income through their enlistments as soldiers and scouts. The enlist-
ments of those who had been in Company "I", Twelfth Infantry, expired in
April, 1895, Forty-seven male prisoners enlisted in Trocp "L", Seventh
Cavalry, for a two-year term then. In May, 1897, thirty-seven of the
men enlisted in the detachment of United States Indian Scouts at Fort
Sill, The twelve village headmen were among their number and were held
responsible for the subordination and cleanliness of their villages.
A1l of them fulfilled their obligations to the satisfaction of the mili-

=
tary.B)

Missionaries snd Shamans

Although thirty-nine of the Apache children were attending St.
Patrick's Roman Catholic School in Ansdarko, forty miles north of Fort
Sill, in 1893, there were still a number of the children who had no edu-
cational opportunities. Lieutenant Beach wrote to the War Department the
same year requesting permission to communicate with some missicnary so-
ciety to ask their aid in providing a schocl and church for the Apache
prisoners. He received permission to do so, and the Dutch Reformed
Church responded to his request. During the summer of 1899, Dr. Walter
C. Roe and Dr. Frank W. Wright came to Fort 5ill from Coleny, Cklahoma,
where they had a mission among the Scuthern Cheyenne and Arapaho. They

began their missionary appeal by holding 2 camp meeting for the Apache

3hpetginez with Nye, op. eit., p. 169.

35USAAMCM, op. ¢it., Appendix VII; and Leupp, op. gite, pps

1()‘11 .
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prisoners just south of Geronimo's Village, and were so encouraged by
the response that they began building a combined scheool and chapel with
the financial backing of the Women's Board of Domestic Missions of the
Duteh Reformed Church. The school and chapel were completed the same
year and were located a mile north of Medicine Bluff, in a location
central to all of the Apache villages.

The success of the mission was soon interrupted by an intensi-
fied renewal of the aboriginal curing rites. Harold Dick, a Chiricahua
of the /%dé-1%d4{/ band, began urging his fellow priscners to reject
Christianity and American culture and return to the aboriginal culture.
His appeal was made all the stronger by his claim that he could cure
tuberculosis, the prevalling disease among the Apache priscners of war.
The principal feature of the "cure" was the participation of his patients
in the Fire Dance. Beach had reported that the prevalence of tubercu-
losis had led to a great dissatisfaction among the Apache priscners and
requests that they be returned to Arizona, where they had never suffered
from this disease., This probably accounts for Dick's success in drawing
most of the Apache prisoners into his following.

During the winter of 1899-1900, many of the Apache prisoners
camped in tents at Four Mile Crossing, a poiant on Medicine Bluff Creek
between Loco's and Naiche's villages, where the dance was held. Betzines
was of the opinion that this dance conbributed to the death rate rather
than alleviated it. In the first place, the dance ". . . lasted all
night after which many of the dancers fell to the ground in a stupor in-
duced by prolonged exertion, self hypnosis, bad liguor, or a combination.™

Secondly, as there were few masks available for those who impersonated
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the Mountain Spirits, they were passed from one group of daacers tc
another, thus spreading tubercle bacillis among the participants.
Betzinez says that the death rate among the Apache priscners was higher
during 1900 and 1901, when the dance was at ites height, that it was
during the succeeding decade. The dance and the heavy drinking assoc-
iated with it were gradually controlled after 1902.36

The author's informants indicated that the missionaries had
considerable influence over the Apache priscners of war, in spite of the
opposition of the shamans. A4s one informant put it:

. . « We were well pleased with those missicnaries. That's when a
lot of Apaches started believing in the Lord. . . . Those mission-
aries, employees of that schocl, went out hunting and fishing with
Apaches all of the time. Those teachers would camp out on Medicine
Creek in the summer, or during a vacation, or take Apache men off
the reservation for a whole week on a fishing trip; and the mission-
ary women would go out a1l night hunting racoons. They loved racoon
huating, and they would take the Apache men along because Apaches
had good 'coon dogs. . . . bthese teachers started associating with
Apache men so much that they began falling in love with them, That's
where J. met his wife. She was the superintendent of that school.

However, bhe missionaries did not exert a total influence on
the Apache prisoners. The children continued &to receive much of their

socialization from their kinsmen and friends, as is indicated by the

following statement:

These boys went around tegether down there and would learn things
together--how to swim, fish, hunt, ride a horse, and other things.
They played together all of the time, and most of what they learned
the older boys would teach the younger ones. The old men couldn't
do anything any more but just sit around. So some of them would
teach those boys by telling them stories and talk to them every
chance they got. That's all they could do.

Hgee Beach, op. ¢it., p. 328; and Betzinez with iye, op. cit.,
pp. 170-172 and 175-177. The author's informants declared that the
alcoholie beverages consumed at Fort Sill did not include tiswin.



145

The Controversy over Allotment

As stated above, the Kiowa and Comanche ceded 26,787 acres of
tribal land to the United States in February, 1397. This land was to be
used for no other purpose than the allotment of one hundred and sixty
acre btracts to each Apache family. A bill authorizing this allotment was
introduced in the Senate during the winter of 1910, but failed to pass
legislation in the House of Representatives. Several pressure groups had
countered this bill with a proposal that the ceded land be included as a
part of the military establishment at Fort 8i11.,37

The fcllowing year, the War Department crdered a full investiga-
tion into the advantages of allotment at Fort Sill or on the Mescaleroc
Apache Reservation or the old Hob Springs Reservation, New Mexico. This
investigation was conducted by Hugh L. Scott. He left with a delegation
of six Apache men to inspect the reservations in New Mexico in Cctober,
1911, The Mescalerc Reservation was found to contain good timber and
grazing land, but the Hot Springs Reservation was covered with a heavy
layer of gravel, apparently caused by extensive placer m;'ming.g"\'3

On December 1 and 2, 1912, the heads of families and the single
adult members of the Apache priscners of war were given an cpportunity
to decide between settlement in Cklahoma or on the Mescalerc Reservation.

One hundred and eighty-cne elected to be removed to the latter location,

-4

See Brosius, op. cit., pp. 28-30.

3'J)See 8, M, Brosius, "Report of the Washington Agency: The Case
of the Apache Prisoners of War," Iwenty-ninth Annual Report of the Ex-
ecutive Committee of the Indian Rights Association for the Year Ending
December 14, 1911 (Philadelphia: Office of the Indian Rights Associa-
tion, 1912), ps 49; and Betzinez with Nye, op. ¢it., pp. 193-195.
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having been promised by the Mescalero Apache that they would share
equally with the newcomers the benefits of their reservation., Eighty-
one others elected to remain in Oklahoma. In April, 1913, the Apache at
Fort 3ill were released from their status as prisoners of war. The group
who had elected to be removed to the Mescalero Reservation left Fort Sill
the same month, taking all of their personal belongings except their
cattle with them.39

It is significant that Samuel M. Brosius claimed that the group
who were removed tc the Mescalero Reservation felt that they would find
more favorable opportunities for the continuance of tribal 1life there
than they had at Fort 3ill. The group who remained in Cklahoma were the
better educated and more assimilated members of the former Apache prison-

ers of war.AO

STy
Between April and October, 1386, the majority of the Chiricahua,
Warm Spring, and Bedonkohe--five hundred and sixty in all--were removed
from Arizona and Mexico and confined at Fort Marion, St. Augustine, and
Fort Pickens, Pensacola, Florida. Those who remained in the Scuthwest

were living with other Apache tribes on the White Mountain Reservation,

39The Committee Sent to the Apache Priscners of War: Coclonel
H. L. Scott, Third Cavalry, U. S. Army; H. C. Phillips, Secretary of the
Board of Indian Commissioners; and C. L. Ellis, Special Indian Agent, to
the Secretaries of War and the Interior, "Securing the Vote of the Band
of Apache Prisoners of War as to the Place of Settlement After Release,"
Fort Sill, Oklahoma, December 2, 1912, Scott Papers, Wational Archives,
washington; USAAMCM, op. cit., Tables I and IT; and Betzinez with Nye,
op. ¢it., p. 193,

40g, M, Brosius, "The Case of the Apache Prisoners of Var,"
ppe 49=50 and 52,
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Arizona, and the Mescalero Reservation, New Mexico, or in the community
of Magdalena, New Mexico.

These Apache were confined in Florida during periods from ssven
months to two years, in Alabama for a period of six to seven years, and
on the Fort $ill Military Reservation, Oklahoma, for nineteen years.

The social changes that took place during these twenty-seven years are
summarized below, with a separate section deveted to the changes at each
location,

Changes at Fort Maricn and Fort Pickens. The Apache priscners

of war confined at Fort Marion were forced to live on the ramparts inside
the fort under crowded and very unsanitary conditions. 4s a result,
twenty~-two of them died during their confinement here. The absence of
any econcmic activity by which the men could fulfill their cbligaticas

to their wives! parents led to the temporary abandonment of the avoidance
patterns between affines. O(ne hundred and twe of the children and adol-
escents were subjected to the first attempts at their formal education.
Two educational programs were begun at Fort Marion for those male adulis
who wished to take advantage of them,

There seem to have been few changes among the prisoners whe were
confined at Fort Pickens. Two of these sevenleen prisoners were taught
the English language by George Wrattan, their Interpreter and work super-
visor. In April, 1877, the families of these prisoners joined them,
while the rest of those at Fort Marion were relocated at Mount Vernon

Barracks, Mobile, Alabama. Those at Fort Pickens joined them a year

later,
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Changes at Carlisle. One hundred and ten Chiricahua, Warm
Spring, and Bedonkohe children and adolescents were at the Carlisle In-
dian Industrial School, Carlisle, Pennsylvania, by May, 1387. They were
subjected to many changes here. Only the more significant ones need be
discussed here. OUne of their teachers bestowed English first names upon
the students and taught them tc approximate their Apache names in writ-
ing, the latter names being used as surnames. This change was minor in
comparison with the skills and trades the Apache students acquired at
Carlisle. They spent the summers in the homes of white families in Penn-
sylvania and New Jersey, where they had more opportunity to practice the
trades and to learn new skills. Nine other Apache youths were sent to
Hampton Iastitute, Hampton, Virginia, but there is nc way of knowing what
their experiences were thers,

Changes at Mount Vernon Barracks. For the first five years the

Apache prisoners of war were confined at Mcunt Vernon Barracks, they
lived in the traditional brush wickiups. Then the War Department pro-
vided them with the tools, lumber, and a white carpenter to teach them
to build their own frame houses.

These houses were a badly needed improvement. During the five
years they had been living in the wickiups, the Apache prisocners had been
located on malarial lowlands. Seventy-seven of them had died at Mount
Vernon Barracks by the end of 1889, After they had moved into the houses
on higher ground, the death rate decreased seventy-five per cent. The
frequency of these deaths and the uncertainty of their future produced a
considerable amount of stress among the Apache prisoners of war. They

sought to alleviate their tensions through the consumption of tiswin,
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thus perpetuating the traditional mcde of cultural compensation. They
must have relied heavily upon this corn beer, for they were cbviously
unprepared for the conditions of their confinement in Alabama.

The male prisoners, whose social roles as warriors and hunters
were no longer meaningful, due to the conditions of their confinement in
a completely alien environment, were given the opportunity to enlist as
soldiers in the United States Army in May, 1891. The men who did not
enlist were allowed tec work off the reservation by day, while the women
sold beadwork and baskets in Mobile or did laundry for the white troops
at the post. These were the only economic activities open to the Apache
prisoners of war during the six to seven years they were confinsd at
Mount Vernon Barracks,

Changes at Fort Sill. In 1395, a year after the Apache prison-

erg were relecated on the Fort Sill Military Reservation, (Uklahoma, they
were settled in twelve permanent villages according to kinship and inti-
mate friendship. This allowed them to maintain the traditional structur-
ing of kinsmen in extended families. Evidence was given in this chapter
that the Chiricahua at Fort Sill applied a matrilocal rule of marital
residence, while the Warm Spring apparently applied a patrilocal one.
Much of the traditional kinship behavior was cbserved by the Apache pris-
oners of war during the nineteen years they were at Fort Sill, and they
continued to fire rifles and shotguns into the air after the death of =
former warrior and to destroy all of the personal property of the deceased.
While their social relations persisted much as they had before
1336, the economic patterns of these Apache underwent a total transitionm.
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